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1. Chair’s statement  
 

Welcome to this year's annual report. 

The past year has been one of further change and challenge for Cambridge 

University Hospitals. In my statement last year, I talked of the significant financial 

and demand pressures facing the organisation, and these pressures have continued 

into 2015/16 and are likely to be a feature of the coming few years.  

Despite our excellent record on safety and outcomes we have seen new challenges 

materialise in 2015/16, which led to the Trust being subject to action by our 

regulators. Concerns both in relation to our financial position and the issues raised 

in the Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection report that was published in 

September, led to Monitor placing the Trust in special measures. An improvement 

plan was then swiftly developed by the Trust setting out our priorities and a copy of 

this can be found on our website. 

The plan was submitted to our regulators in October and brings together the 

multiple plans to address every concern, alongside additional areas of improvement 

we identified for ourselves.  

All staff have worked very hard to address many of the concerns raised by the CQC 

in their report and we have made significant progress. For example, the 

outpatients’ team has worked tirelessly to reduce waiting for appointments. 

The Trust has well-documented financial challenges, which the Board and 

organisation as a whole have been addressing. Initial actions have included 

introducing strict cost controls for non-pay and pay expenditure, developing a 

detailed financial recovery plan, and stretching our cost improvement programme 

(CIP) that resulted in our staff delivering £33m against an original target of £26m. 

For 2016/17 the target for the next financial year is even more challenging, as the 

Trust has budgeted a deficit of £74m based on the delivery of an ambitious savings 

target of £49m that the organisation has set itself. This equates to 6.7 per cent of 

our costs. 

It was with regret that the Trust’s innovative partnership with Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT), called UnitingCare Partnership (UCP), 

became financially unsustainable. We remain keen to work with partners to provide 

innovative models of care for older people and demand management. 

Demand for the services we provide continues to be high, which has led to on-going 

challenges with capacity. The Trust cannot address all the issues facing it alone, 

and we have been pleased to have the support of our partners throughout the year 

in ensuring that people are treated in the right setting and when patients are 

medically fit to leave hospital they do so.  

As a health system, the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area is recognised as 

being challenged and we are pleased to be an active participant in the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Programme, 

which was launched in March 2016 to identify where we can improve across the 

region. CUH will play a key part in its success. We also continue to collaborate 

closely with our partners here on the biomedical campus and as a member of 

Cambridge University Health Partners to attract talent, drive ground-breaking 

research and take a global lead on new treatments.   

It is important to recognise that the CQC’s inspection report also highlighted many 

positive points of the care and treatment at our hospitals. I was delighted that our 

staff rightly received the highest possible rating of ‘outstanding’ for the care they 
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provide to our patients, which was well-deserved recognition of their dedication and 

skill.  

The CQC returned to the Trust in February to re-inspect the areas that were rated 

as ‘inadequate’ in the September 2015 report: 

 outpatients and diagnostic imaging 

 maternity and gynaecology 

 responsiveness of surgery 

The inspectors carried out a thorough assessment of these areas and we await the 

inspection report. It is likely that a full re-inspection by the CQC will take place in 

the autumn. 

The Trust has also seen significant changes at Board level. Dr Keith McNeil resigned 

as Chief Executive in September 2015 after nearly three years in post. Fran 

Cousins, Chief Operating Officer and Paul James, former finance director, also left 

the Trust last year. In November 2015, the Trust welcomed Roland Sinker as new 

Chief Executive, joining us from King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, 

where he was Interim Chief Executive.  

I would like to thank our Non-Executive Directors, Lynne Berry and Professor Pat 

Troop, who have stepped down this year, for their considerable work on behalf of 

the Trust. I would like to record my particular thanks to Professor Troop who 

welcomed me into the Trust when I took up the post of chair in November 2012; as 

vice-chair, she was enormously helpful and supportive. I was also pleased to 

welcome a number of new Non-Executive Directors to the Board: in June we 

welcomed international healthcare expert Dallas Ariotti MBE as interim associate 

Non-Executive Director; in October, Professor Sharon Peacock CBE, currently 

Director of the Bloomsbury Institute and a member of the NIHR UCL Biomedical 

Research Centre, joined the Trust; and in December, we also welcomed Shirley 

Pointer, who comes with a wealth of experience in private and public sector human 

resources management, organisational capability and change. 

Following elections in June by our 20,000 strong Foundation Trust membership, we 

have welcomed six new Governors to help provide a vital link between patients, 

public, staff and the Board. I would like to thank the previous and existing 

Governors for their valuable contribution in further connecting us with the wider 

community.  

I talked last year of the impact of the abuse carried out by Myles Bradbury here at 

the Trust. An independent investigation into how the former doctor was able to 

carry out his abuse and any lessons to be learned was published in October 2015. I 

want to again reassure the families involved, and indeed all our patients that we 

agreed with the recommendations made in the report and have taken the necessary 

action. We have actively shared the lessons across the NHS to help prevent this 

type of abuse from happening in other hospitals. 

2016 marks 250 years since Addenbrooke’s Hospital opened its doors on 

Trumpington Street thanks to Dr John Addenbrooke who left £4,500 in his legacy 

‘to hire and fit up, purchase or erect a small, physical hospital in the town of 

Cambridge for poor people.’ Throughout 2016 we will be looking back on 250 years 

and looking forward to what the next 250 years could hold. We are grateful for the 

generous support of Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) for supporting 

Addenbrooke’s 250th Anniversary celebrations – they got off to a good start on 7 

January with a launch event and I am delighted to say that over 5,000 people 

joined us on the Addenbrooke’s Open Day on 20 March to celebrate 250 years of 

staff achievement, patient care, research and teaching.  
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In summary, this has been a very challenging twelve months for the Trust. Whilst 

patient safety is always our number one priority, we are relentlessly focusing on 

financial recovery and quality improvement. This is a test for the resilience of all 

our staff, as it comes on top of managing increased demand and also our desire to 

constantly improve services and drive the innovation that Cambridge is famous for.  

I would like to end by thanking everyone at Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie for their 

tireless efforts to provide the best possible care for our patients. We have fantastic 

staff in all areas of the hospitals. I would also like to thank our local MPs, Heidi 

Allen, Daniel Zeichner and Lucy Frazer for their unstinting support of our hospitals, 

our local councillors, colleagues across the health systems as well as Addenbrooke’s 

Charitable Trust, our campus partners, our local stakeholders and the local people 

in Cambridgeshire for their continued support. 

 

 
 

 

Jane Ramsey 

CUH Chair 
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2. Performance report 
 

2.1 Introduction from Chief Executive   
This year has required our organisation and its staff to rise to meet a number of 

significant challenges. 

Firstly, in September, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) published their 

inspection report rating the Trust as ‘inadequate’ overall. This was based on a 

number of rightly identified concerns such as safety, responsiveness and a 

perceived ‘disconnect’ between staff and senior management teams within 

divisions, as well as the executive team and Board.  

We were pleased however that the inspection team recognised the high quality of 

care provided to our patients by our excellent staff, and rated the caring domain as 

outstanding.  

The CQC rating, as well as concerns regarding the Trust’s financial position led NHS 

Improvement (formerly Monitor) to place the Trust into special measures.  

Determined to address the concerns raised by the CQC and the financial challenges 

facing the organisation, the Trust developed an improvement plan covering the 

following five areas: 

 leadership and accountability 

 strategy 

 quality improvement 

 operational capacity 

 financial recovery 

This plan, together with a plan to outline our continued commitment to improving 

our financial position, were both submitted to our regulators in October 2015 and 

February 2016 respectively.  

We have worked tirelessly to address many of the issues raised and I am pleased to 

report that we have made significant progress in many of the areas identified by 

the CQC. There are hundreds of examples of progress I could cite and particular 

highlights include embedded good practice with regard to systems and processes, 

completed installation of an Anaesthetic Gas Scavenging System (AGSS), and 

improved operational grip to maximise capacity and reduce waiting times for 

outpatients.  

Alongside these quality improvements, we have continued to address our financial 

challenges. Initial actions included introducing strict cost controls for non-pay and 

pay expenditure and stretching our cost improvement programme (CIP) to £26m. 

Staff worked extremely hard to deliver this programme and by the end of the year 

had exceeded the £26m target by £7m delivering £33m of savings.  

While the Trust’s financial results for 2015/16 were worse than planned, with a 

deficit for the financial year of £77.3m, the success in delivering such progress on 

cost improvement is to be celebrated. The target for the coming year is yet more 

challenging at 6.5 per cent over the next 12, which equates to £49m. This means 

that we are trying to spend around 6.5 per cent less to deliver the same services. 

As ever, I want to be clear that the safety of our patients will always come first, so 

the Trust must deliver services that are patient focussed, but also cost-effective 

and sustainable for the long-term. 

I am clear that the Trust’s recovery is a long-term challenge and while I and our 

regulators welcome the good progress made so far, we recognise that the Trust still 
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has a long way to go. In February, the CQC returned for a re-inspection that 

focused on the quality improvement progress we have made in the areas that were 

rated as ‘inadequate’. We expect the results to be published in May. 

A real focus for us moving forward, and key to the success of our improvement and 

financial recovery plans, is how the health system addresses the double challenge 

of capacity and demand. It is essential that the hospital is there for, and has the 

capacity to treat, those who need our services when they need it. To achieve this, 

we must work hard with the rest of the health service of Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough to ensure that only those who need the services of a hospital come 

through the emergency department and that when patients have finished their 

hospital treatment and no longer require the services of an expensive hospital, the 

right community support available for them to be safely discharged, freeing up beds 

for new patients.  

Three per cent more people attended the A&E department this year compared to 

last and despite this pressure on the service, over 6,800 more patients were seen 

within four hours during 2015/16 and the department met the A&E waiting target in 

December 2015. Increased demand in the last quarter of the year however meant 

that this could not be sustained. 

CUH has demonstrated in 2015/16 that it can rise to meet the challenges facing the 

organisation, and I am pleased with the progress delivered to date by our excellent 

staff. I am hugely grateful for their efforts over the last 12 months and the support 

we have received from our communities.  

Looking to the future, we must build on the progress that has been made this year, 

moving from the tactical delivery of improvements to developing a strategy and 

financial plan which take our hospitals forward over the next five years. This, 

supported by our plans to develop the organisation and its culture, better engage 

with our staff, patients and community, will see CUH continue on its journey of 

improvement for the benefit of our patients and the communities we are proud to 

serve. 

 

 
 

Roland Sinker 

CUH Chief Executive 

25 May 2016 

 

2.2 Purpose and history 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH), including both 

Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie hospitals, was one of the first foundation Trusts to be 

authorised under the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) 

Act 2003, and came into being in July 2004.  

Our constitution defines our principal purpose as ‘the provision of goods and 

services for the purposes of the health service in England’.  
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The Trust has its foundation in Addenbrooke’s Hospital which opened in 1766 in 

Trumpington Street, Cambridge, as one of the first provincial teaching hospitals in 

the country. By the 1950s, the hospital was experiencing difficulty accommodating 

the expansion generated by the introduction of the NHS, and moved to Hills Road 

and was officially opened by HM the Queen in 1962.  

Today, CUH has over 1,000 beds and 9,000 members of staff. We are one of the 

largest and best known Trusts in the country. The ‘local’ hospital for our 

community, delivering care through its hospitals, Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie, 

CUH is also a leading national centre for specialist treatment; a government-

designated comprehensive biomedical research centre; one of six academic health 

science centres in the UK – as Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP); and a 

university teaching hospital with a worldwide reputation.  

Building on these different elements, CUH’s vision is to be one of the best academic 

healthcare organisations in the world. 

Our priorities focus on a quality service which is all about people – patients, staff 

and partners. Our values – ‘Together – safe kind excellent’ – are at the heart of 

patient care, defining the way we work and behave. 

We are grateful to Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) for its financial support 

and the fundraising efforts of everyone within the Trust, and in the wider local 

community, who raise charitable funds which help us to provide improved services 

for our patients. 

 

2.3 Key risks 
Key risks are identified by the Board of Directors using the Board Assurance 

Framework (BAF). The two most significant risks identified by the BoardBoard of 

Directors are insufficient capacity and demand management and failure to achieve 

long-term financial sustainability. 

The BAF provides the BoardBoard of Directors with assurance that there is in place 

a sound system of internal control to safeguard public and private investment, the 

Trust’s assets, patient safety and service quality. 

The design, content and use of the BAF were reviewed during 2015/16 to ensure 

the Board’s attention was focused on its principal risks and on actions in hand to 

address gaps in control and assurance. 

Each Executive Director reviews the risks against their portfolio once per month or 

more often if required. Each risk on the BAF is assigned to a Board assurance 

committee. The review of the BAF risks is included in the terms of reference of the 

Board assurance committees. Each committee reviews the risks regularly in their 

meetings. The BAF is presented each month by the Chief Executive to the Board of 

Directors. 

On a rotational cycle the Audit Committee reviews two of the strategic risks 

identified in the BAF with the responsible risk owner to confirm the accuracy and 

consistency of the risk rating and to probe the risk owner about the controls and 

assurances over that risk. This ensures that the BAF is a living document, 

representing the issues of greatest concern to the Board of Directors. 

 

Table 01 

Board assurance framework (BAF) 

The top two risks identified in the 2015/16 BAF as reviewed by the Board of 
Directors on 13 April 2016 were: 
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Risk theme 1  

Insufficient capacity and demand management 

 
Key controls 

 
Board assurance 

1. Patient flow in place with fortnightly 

programme Board, approved at 

Board on 21 Oct 2015. 

 

2. Assistance from the emergency care 

intensive support team in 

developing plans and clinical 

engagement. 

 

3. SAFER bundle launched Trust-wide, 

and CEO challenge to get ‘1 out by 

9’ communicated using the 8.27 

weekly briefing. 

 

4. 24/7 active management of capacity 

and activity through the operations 

centre and on-call management 

team. 

 

5. Escalation calls with the Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) and 

local system as required. 

 

 

 

6. Hinchingbrooke capacity now being 

realised. 

 

7. Activity plans five years’ ahead 

developed by divisions and co-

ordinated through business 

planning. Capacity requirement 

forecasting in place.   

 

8. Weekly CCG-led group overseeing 

implementation of system-resilience 

plans to manage emergency 

pathways. 

 

9. Uniting Care Partnership 

commissioned services to remain 

with CPFT/CCG in order to maintain 

reduced admission and length of 

stay. 

 

10. Escalation policy agreed at quality 

committee Sept 2014 review of 

escalation policy underway building 

on good practice from other sites. 

 

1. Winter-readiness plan approved by 

the BoD in Oct 2015 monthly 

integrated Board report on relevant 

indicators and other targets affected 

by capacity pressures. Reviewed by 

F&PC and Quality Committee. 

 

2. On-going support from ECIP 

(emergency care improvement 

programme formerly known as 

ECIST). 

 

3. Work commissioned on increasing 

community rehabilitation capacity, 

re-ablement and continuing care. 

 

4. Returning 23 beds to clinical use 

complete. 

 

5. Patient flow programme Board in 

place and non-elective length of stay 

reducing month-on-month.  

 

 

6. Regular assessment of escalation 

triggers across the system. 

 

7. Sustainability and transformation 

Programme. 
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11. DTOC (delayed transfers of care) 

delays reported and monitored each 

week with attribution to specific 

councils and CCGs.  

 

12. Initiatives underway to increase 

sheltered housing, supply of 

residential and nursing places – eg 

‘Healthy New Towns’ vanguard. 

 

13. System resilience group Cambridge 

and Ely escalation policy. 

 

14. System transformation to right size  

the C&P system.  

 

Risk Theme 2  
Failure to achieve long-term financial sustainability 

 
Key controls 

 
Board assurance 

1. The Trust has a financial recovery 

plan (FRP1) including initial analysis 

to identify and deliver a challenging 

6% CIP (cost improvement plan) in 

2016/17. 

 

2. In year initiatives to reduce the 

deficit have contained and improved 

the position, this has in the main 

been through tight cost control (the 

‘T3’ process for pay and non-pay), 

and particular restrictions on certain 

categories of spend. 

 

3. Recovery director and external 

support are in place along with 

recovery governance arrangements. 

 

4. A bottom-up 13-week rolling cash 

flow is in operation, weekly cash 

committee meetings have been put 

in place to review the latest cash 

forecast, review key variance 

analysis and identify mitigating 

actions, including active working 

capital management. 

 

5. A strategic review of services, 

including financial analysis is 

underway and is due to report in 

October 2016. This will assess which 

clinical services the Trust would 

have to withdraw from if it was to 

become financially sustainable in the 

1. Fortnightly finance steering group 

chaired by the CEO. 

 

2. Monthly quality, finance and 

performance review to the F&PC and 

the Board of Directors. 

 

3. Programme management office and 

governance to deliver savings 

opportunities. 

 

4. Management executive weekly 

updates. 

 

5. Weekly cash forecast process with 

review through the weekly cash 

committee and external support. 

Work to secure funding for 2016/17 

underway. 

 

6. Weekly reporting to Monitor on 

progress.  

 

7. Monthly PRM monitor reviews. 
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medium-term. 

 

 

2.4 Going concern statement  
The Trust has considered the situation with regard to ‘going concern’ and after 

making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that CUH has 

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

This assessment is based on the fact that there remains the anticipation of the 

provision of services in the future. All of the Trust’s principal contracted 

commissioners have signed the NHS standard contract for the provision of services 

at CUH for 2016/17. The existence of these contracts and the contractual obligation 

of the commissioners to pay for the services provided means that the directors 

have a reasonable expectation that adequate financial resources are available.  

In relation to the forecast deficit position and its impact on the Trust’s cashflow , 

the Department of Health has been providing the Trust with ongoing cash support 

in the form of a working capital facility and the Directors expect that this support 

will continue throughout 2016/17. 

It is for these reasons that the Directors continue to adopt the ‘Going Concern’ 

basis in preparing the accounts. Further details are set out in Note 1.2 of the 

financial statements. 

 

2.5 Performance analysis 
Performance management approach 
The Trust’s approach to triangulation is based on our improvement plan with clear 

priorities, objectives and metrics. A process is in place to ensure staff are clear 

about the priorities, they can be used for reporting to our commissioners and 

regulators, and a subset  can be identified that provides a clear and simple quality 

message to our patients and the wider public (via our quality account). 

Our five priorities (well-led, safe, effective, caring and responsive) remain the key 

headings in our quality account. The improvement plan correlates with the 

integrated performance report prepared for the Board, our quality account and 

individual’s objectives.  

The key indicators used in this process cover leadership and accountability, 

strategy, quality improvement, well-led, safe, effective, caring, responsive, 

operational capability and financial recovery.  

The Board will use this information to improve the quality of care and enhance 

productivity through the regular monthly Divisional Board meetings which monitor 

performance and follow-up on action plans. 

 

2.6 Overview of performance for the year 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection and improvement plan 
Following a comprehensive inspection between 21 and 24 April 2015 as part of the 

CQC regular inspection programme, the Trust was placed in special measures. The 

CQC rated the Trust as inadequate overall due to significant concerns in safety, 

responsiveness and the disconnect between ward staff and the divisional leaders. 
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However, the CQC found that the staff were exceptionally caring and that they went 

the extra mile for patients. 

 

 

Key CQC findings 
 There was a significant shortfall of staff in a number of areas, including critical 

care services and those caring for unwell patients. This often resulted in staff 

being moved from one area of a service to another to make up staff numbers. 

Although gaps left by staff moving were back-filled with bank or agency staff, 

this meant that services often had staff with an inappropriate skills mix and 

patients were being cared for by staff without training relating to their health 

needs. Despite this patients received excellent care. 

 Pressure on surgical services meant routine operations were frequently 

cancelled and patients were waiting longer than the 18-week referral to 

treatment target for operations. Pressure on the outpatients’ department meant 

long delays for some specialties and not all patients being followed up 

appropriately, particularly in ophthalmology and dermatology. There were some 

outstanding maternity services, but significant pressures led to regular closures 

and a midwife-to-birth ratio worse than the recommended level. 

 Disconnected governance arrangements meant that important messages from 

the clinical divisions were not highlighted at Trust Board level. 

 Introducing the new EPIC IT system for clinical records had affected the Trust’s 

ability to report, highlight and take action on data collected on the system. 

Although it was beginning to be embedded into practice, it was still having an 

impact on patient care and relationships with external professionals. 

 Medicines were not always prescribed correctly due to the limitations of EPIC, 

although the CQC were assured this was being remedied. 

 

However, the CQC also found: 

 Caring staff who did everything they could for patients in their care. 

 Effective and robust multidisciplinary working across the Trust. 

 The emergency department and major trauma centre were efficient and 

effective. 

 

There were areas of poor practice where the Trust needs to make improvements. 

Importantly, the Trust was recommended to ensure that: 

 All patients awaiting an outpatient’s appointment are assessed for clinical risk 

and prioritised as to clinical need. 

 Effective governance and management arrangements are put in place in 

outpatients. 

 Systems or processes must be established and operated effectively to enable 

the outpatients department to assess, monitor and improve the quality and 

safety of services 

 Services around end of life are reviewed to allow for fast-track or rapid 

discharges to be undertaken in a timely way. 

 Patient dependency in the intensive care unit is reviewed and staffing monitored 

against this on a day-to-day basis to ensure compliance with the Faculty of 

Intensive Care Medicine / Intensive Care Society core standards for ICU (Ed1) 

2013. 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
17 

 

 There is adequate staffing to provide safe care for patients requiring non-

invasive ventilation. 

 Data collection for the ICNARC (Intensive Care and National Audit & Research 

Centre) case-mix programme is monitored and that data collected is reliable, 

accurate and representative of the functioning of both critical care units. 

 Patients are discharged from critical care units to the wards in a timely manner 

and minimises the number of patients being discharged after 22:00. 

 The unit encourages collaborative working and sharing of clinical governance 

data between the general critical care unit and the neuro critical care unit. 

 Medicines are managed in line with national guidance and the law. 

 All patients who may lack capacity have a mental capacity assessment and, if 

appropriate, a deprivation of liberty safeguards (DoLS) assessment and that 

patients’ consent is properly sought before treatment. 

 All emergency equipment is checked in line with policy. 

 Risk assessments are completed and correctly recorded. 

 All environments are safe and that high levels of nitrous oxide in delivery suites 

are addressed. 

 Consistent fetal heart rate monitoring is provided in maternity services. 

In addition, the Trust should: 

 Review the impact of high bed occupancy on the admission of emergency 

patients and the provision of emergency surgical services at CUH. 

 Review the provision of end of life care to consider providing cover over seven 

days a week. 

 Ensure that focus is given to drive improvement and delivery of the end of life 

care service, including community engagement and investment in the service. 

 Ensure the estates department is staffed with enough appropriately trained 

people to facilitate a more timely response to maintenance requests to help 

improve the environment, infection control and health and safety for patients 

and staff. 

 Improve the skill mix across critical care to ensure that 50% of staff complete 

their certificate in critical care in line with best practice standards. 

 Ensure staff on the wards are clear who has a DNACPR in place at all times to 

minimise the likelihood of incidents where patients may be resuscitated against 

their expressed wishes. 

 Ensure access to dedicated physiotherapy and clinical pharmacy services seven-

days-a-week. 

 Ensure that there are arrangements in place with clear management plans for 

the merging of two mortuaries in Cambridgeshire. 

 Review the arrangements for patients undergoing termination of pregnancy for 

fetal anomalies on the labour ward. 

 Ensure that medical and surgical patients are cared for in an appropriate ward. 

 Reduce the number of cancelled surgery admissions. 

 Consider the use of pain assessment tools for patients who require additional 

assistance in communicating their needs. 

 

The CQC saw areas of outstanding practice including: 
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 The allergy clinic had a one-stop allergy service that provided diagnosis and 

management of a wide range of allergic disorders. This clinic was dynamic and 

comprehensive. 

 Virtual clinics had been set up in a number of areas, each consisting of a 

multidisciplinary team of staff including nursing and consultant grade staff. The 

purpose of the clinic was to review patient diagnostic tests and notes to make 

treatment decisions without the need for the patient to attend an appointment. 

Patients were then called and treatment options explained over the phone. 

 The chaplaincy and bereavement service offered a one-stop appointment where 

bereaved relatives could see all Trust staff that they needed to see in one visit. 

Bereaved relatives were also invited back six weeks after the death to enable 

staff to provide emotional support and answer any questions. The six-week 

follow-up had been devised at CUH and rolled out nationally. 

 The specialist palliative care consultants had won national and international 

recognition as an area of excellence in palliative care for their work in 

developing the breathlessness intervention service. 

 The online educational resource – cambridgecriticalcare.net – developed by the 

neurological critical care team is a repository of educational resources aimed not 

only at local trainees, but trainees nationally and internationally. 

 Patients previously treated within critical care were invited to a twice-yearly 

focus group to help drive service improvement. Through this focus group, real 

change had been implemented, including improving the transition of care from 

the critical care area to the ward, establishment of a quiet/interview room for 

doctors to speak to relatives on the critical care unit, and the re-design of the 

relatives’ room. 

 On the general critical care unit, a junior doctor jointly with the IT department 

developed an application for a mobile tablet called ‘My ICU Voice’ to enable 

patients who had a tracheostomy to communicate with staff. 

 Team working in the critical care unit was outstanding. Given the limited 

resources, all members of the multidisciplinary team worked collaboratively to 

ensure patients received kind and compassionate care. Nursing staff were 

observed doing everything they could to ensure patients’ carers were well 

informed of their loved ones’ condition. 

 There was well-managed and coordinated medical handover and follow-up of 

patients following admission, with all specialties being represented for effective 

care management planning. 

 The ‘supervisor of midwives’ network at the Trust was outstanding and was an 

important contact for patients and staff. The purpose of supervision of midwives 

is to protect women and babies by actively promoting safe standards of 

midwifery practice. 

 The birthing unit in the Rosie Hospital had facilities that were outstanding and 

state-of-the-art. They included 10 birthing rooms, all with en-suite bathrooms, 

mood lighting and music systems, a fold-down double bed, birthing balls, slings, 

birthing stools, floor mats and comfortable seating and access to a sensory 

garden. 

 The neonatal intensive care unit is at the forefront for provision of care for 

babies. The neonatal transfer team (ANTS) was the first such team to formally 

and consistently enable parents to travel with their sick babies. 

 The ACTIVE Children and Young People’s Board enabled current and former 

young patients, and any other children who were interested, to meet and share 

ideas. The ACTIVE Children and Young People's Board was involved in producing 

child-friendly information and in projects such as ‘Teens in Hospital’, which was 
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looking at ways of improving the experience of young people, especially those 

on adult wards. 

 

 

 

 

 

Intervention CQC inspection 
The Trust was subject to a routine whole hospital inspection by the CQC in April and 

May 2015 with the final report and judgement presented to the Trust at a quality 

summit on 10 September 2015. The CQC found the Trust to be inadequate and 

following a recommendation to Monitor, the Trust was placed into special measures 

on 22 September with the requirement to put in place an improvement plan to 

address quality deficiencies.  

The Trust takes the content of the CQC report and the consequential regulatory 

action very seriously. The Improvement Plan was submitted to Monitor within 28 

days of being placed into special measures. A programme of work is in place to 

make the majority of changes, to the specific concerns identified, over the next six 

months. It will however take longer to address the issues that resulted in the 

problems being identified by a third party. This will require significant change in the 

management approach and Trust culture. The Board of Directors has put in place a 

detailed programme of staff engagement to ensure organisational ownership and 

action in relation to addressing failings. The key concerns raised by the CQC 

include: 

 A disconnect between senior leadership within the new divisional management 

structure, the Board and front line staff. 

 A lack of robust systems and processes to assure quality of care. 

 A failure to appropriately manage routine maintenance of equipment. 

 Insufficient arrangements for medicines management. 

 Significant disruption caused by the introduction of eHospital. 

 Significant backlogs in outpatients with no clear plan to address this. 

 A failure to adequately manage demand and capacity. 

 Insufficient nurse staffing in some areas to manage current demands. 

 

Table 02 

Summary of the CQC’s findings 
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Improvement plan 
On 13 October 2015, a comprehensive improvement plan, encompassing all of our 

CQC quality improvement actions along with monitor undertakings was submitted 

to Monitor. The plan sets out our five thematic priority areas for improvement over 

the next 12 months with executive leads: 

 Leadership and Governance – Director of Corporate Affairs  

 Strategy – Chief Executive  

 Quality Improvement – Chief Nurse 

 Operational Capacity – Interim Chief Operating Officer 

 Financial recovery – Interim Chief Finance Officer 

eHospital has been pulled out specifically as a key enabler in support of each of 

these themes. The improvement plan contains 27 quality improvement actions 

which cover technical aspects of our service as well as organisational and cultural 

themes. 

A series of monthly stakeholder meeting commenced in October 2015 which 

provide scrutiny of the plan and challenge against progress. 

To date two actions remain red, this is in relation to Length of Stay and DTOC’s, 

with capacity constraints restricting resourcing for progressing this work in recent 

months. Eight actions are amber and making good progress, 18 are green. We 

closed the work stream on Medicines management in May 2016 – the first quality 

project to be formally closed, with others expected to follow in the near future.  

A robust Project Management Office led by our Recovery Director is now established 

to oversee the execution of the plan.  

 

Recovery Project Management Office (PMO) 
To support the recovery approach the Trust has in place a single PMO to oversee 

recovery across all five domains. The key benefits of this are: 

 alignment across all domains of the Trust's recovery assuring that the 

interdependencies are accounted for 

 robust governance arrangements, including clear roles and responsibilities 
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 risk management and strategic alignment 

 plan development and detailed plans and rigorous standardised reporting 

 clear coordination and a good engagement process 

 providing challenge and support 
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Table 03 

Overview of the PMO governance process  

 

 

Financial performance  
The Trust’s financial results for 2015/16 were worse than planned, with a deficit for 

the financial year of £77.3m (excluding fixed asset impairments). Our financial 

sustainability risk rating was a score of 1 versus a planned score of 2. 

The Trust initially planned for a £28.7m deficit position, which included a very 

ambitious plan for £40.6m recurrent savings, and additional £26.7m non-

recurrently. This plan was subsequently revised to a £63.6m deficit in year, with a 

£26m Cost improvement plan. 

The Trust’s deficit for the year is as a result of a number of challenges, both local to 

the organisation and reflected nationally. One significant impact has been the Block 

contract under which the Trust receives income from the CCG’s and the NHS, 

meaning that revenues have not increased in line with the increased levels of 

activity in certain areas. However employee expenses and the cost of drugs used 

have both had to increase significantly. In addition, a number of risks have 

crystallised through the year which have increased the level of deficit, including the 

imposition of fines for performance breaches, and the closure of the Uniting Care 

Partnership. 

In response, the Trust has implemented a financial recovery programme, which has 

been concentrated on improving the short term financial position.  This has 

concentrated on the following areas: 

6

Overview of PMO governance process

1. Identify potential work stream and determine quality improvement and 

consider any additional buy-in from stakeholders.

2. Draft workbook (in line with guidance in right hand table) and complete 

QIA sheet whilst including any relevant financial phasing.

3. Obtain formal sign off of the workbook (detail to the right).

4. Provide workbook to the PMO (pmo@addenbrookes.nhs.uk) for review 

and formal feedback.

5. Address feedback received from the PMO, detailing the changes made to 

the documentation on the feedback form received from the PMO to facilitate 

more efficient secondary review upon return to PMO.

7. If approved by QIA Committee the scheme will progress to “signed-off” 

on the Quality Tracker. Workbooks not approved will be returned with 

comments to the Project Leads.

6. Once workbook has been approved by the PMO it will be presented to the 

QIA Committee for approval.

Level of detail of workbook to be dictated by level of quality 

improvement (governance cannot legislate for materiality but local 

judgement to be used).

Documentation 

required
Sign off required by

Full workbook

Project brief with full 

workbook including 

QIA and financial 

phasing (if 

applicable).

- Clinical Lead (if applicable)

- Executive Sponsor

Condensed

workbook

Project brief, QIA and 

financial risk.

- Clinical Lead (if applicable)

- Executive Sponsor

Action Log
- Clinical Lead (if applicable)

- Executive Sponsor

The commissioning team and divisional head of finance should be 

sighted on schemes if there is additional income.
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 Short-term cost control measures – these have been the centralisation and 

robust scrutiny of the majority of Trust expenditure, with inbuilt quality and 

safety safeguards 

 Enhanced cost improvement programme (CIP) governance and delivery, to 

ensure that in year savings are maximised 

 Cash management support – making sure that the Trust is using its cash most 

effectively 

These measures have been effective in significantly improving the financial position 

of the Trust; savings in year are projected to reach £33m against a plan of £26m 

(see table 1 for details); over £3.5m of savings were generated through short-term 

measures, and the cash position of the Trust improved by over £10m through the 

process and have increased our main stakeholders assurance over our financial 

performance. 

 

Operational performance  
Emergency department waiting time 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Emergency department waiting 

time <4 hours 
95% 83.7% 90.2% 

 
There were 108, 972 attendances to the major ED department on site in 2015/16 – 

3% growth on 14/15.  We have also treated 27,542 patients who attended the 

minor injuries units (MIU) since July 2015 when the Trust took over the 

management of the MIUs. There is a nationally mandated target to see 95% of 

patients within four hours. Over 6,800 more patients were seen within four hours 

during 2015/16. 

In April 2015 performance against the standard was at 84.0%. There was gradual 

improvement throughout the year. A-stepped improvement was seen from August 

2015 when the Trust opened a Medical Decisions Unit. The 95% standard was 

achieved in December 2015, but this was not sustained in quarter 4. The 

attendance demand in quarter 4 was 16% higher than the same period the 

previous year. Bed days lost to delayed transfers of care in quarter 4 were 6.5% 

higher than the previous year, but notably were 45% higher than they had been in 

quarter 3 having a significant impact on patient flow through the organisation.  

We continue to look to work closely with the national Emergency Care Improvement 

Programme team to support us in improving our performance so that we can meet 

the four-hour standard.   
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Table 04 

Emergency department four-hour standard  

 
 

Treatment within 18 weeks of referral 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Incomplete pathways waiting less 

than 18 weeks from  referral to 

treatment 
92% 91.7% 89.4% 

 
We recognise the importance for patients of being treated in a timely manner 

following referral, and the right within the NHS Constitution for patients to receive 

treatment within 18 weeks.  

The Trust had a background of consistent delivery of the referral to treatment (RTT) 

incomplete standard, averaging 97% against the 92% standard. The Trust has 

failed to achieve the RTT performance standard since December 2014.  

We engaged the elective care intensive support team to help us with recovery 

planning in March 2015. Specialty recovery plans were approved by the Trust Board 

in October 2015.  

The RTT improvement plan anticipated a Trust aggregate recovery to 92% in March 

2016. 

From January 2016, it became evident that the risks associated with key actions in 

the plans were going to delay the Trust recovery. Most significantly these risks 

related to:  

 A five-month delay in opening new theatre capacity that had been planned for 

January 2016. This was due to staffing shortages and essential maintenance in 

Neuro theatres.  

 Delays in being able to secure additional medical staff appointments (cardiology, 

ophthalmology, oral surgery, dermatology) 
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 Lower than anticipated available capacity at Hinchingbrooke NHS Trust (ENT 

and orthopaedics). 

 
The Trust Board has agreed a revised recovery plan with a trajectory of September 

2016.  

 
Table 05  

Referral to treatment incomplete standard 
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Rapid diagnosis and treatment for cancer 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

We recognise the importance for patients to have rapid access for diagnosis and 

treatment where cancer is suspected. 

Cancer waiting times require three broad standards to achieve: 

 patients referred with suspected cancer by their GP are to be seen within two 

weeks of referral. 

 patients referred with suspected cancer by their GP, or a national screening 

service, to receive treatment within 62 days of referral. 

 patients to receive treatment for cancer within 31 days of a decision to treat  

 

The Trust had seen deterioration in performance against the cancer standards from 

quarter 3 2014/15. A cancer improvement plan was agreed in August 2015 which 

outlined actions to support delivery against all standards by quarter 4 2015/16.  

The Trust achieved recovery of all standards ahead of trajectory in quarter 3.  

Sustaining these standards remains challenging. We continue to work with referring 

Trusts within our cancer network and to identify new actions that arise from root-

cause analyses of delays patients have experienced.  

 

 
 

What did we measure? Our target 

How did we do? 

2014/15 
2015/16 – 

To Feb 

Patient seen within 2 weeks of suspected 

cancer referral from their GP 
93% 92.5% 92.7% 

Patients with breast  symptoms to be seen 

within 2 weeks of referral  
93% 

92.7% 93.1% 

Patients to receive first definitive treatment 

within 31 days of decision to treat 
96% 96.5% 95.6% 

Patients requiring second or subsequent 

treatment to receive treatment within 31 

days of decision to treat where the 

treatment is: 
 

Surgery 94% 92.4% 93.2% 

Drug treatment 98% 100% 99.9% 

Radiotherapy 94% 96.8% 98% 

Patients treated within 62-days of urgent 

cancer referral from GP  (with agreed 

reallocations ) 

85% 83.6%     81.2%% 

Patients treated within 62 days of referral 

from NHS screening programme 
90% 89.2% 92.0% 
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Further information regarding operational performance during 2015/16 is included 

in the quality account (Chapter 4). 

 

2.6.1 New and revised services 

UnitingCare (UCP) 
UnitingCare was the partnership between CUH and Cambridge and Peterborough 

NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT) to deliver older people's healthcare and adult 

community services across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. The CCG awarded 

the £800m, five-year contract to UnitingCare which commenced on 1 April 2015. 

UnitingCare exited the contract with the CCG in December 2015 as it was no longer 

financially sustainable.  

Key services within UCP have been contracted with CPFT and CUH in order to 

ensure services to patients of UCP are effectively continued and that the benefits of 

UCP continue where possible. 

 

2.7 Significant events after the balance sheet date 
There have been no significant events after the balance sheet date. 

 

2.8 Statement regarding audit 
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 

the auditors are unaware and the directors have taken all of the steps that they 

ought to have taken as directors in order to be aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

  

2.9 Associate arrangements 
 

During the reporting the period the Trust was engaged in arrangements with 

associates. The Annual Report and Accounts reports the investment of the Trust 

with each associate.  
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3. Accountability report  
 

3.1 Board of Directors  
The Board of Directors comprises full-time Executive and part-time Non-Executive 

Directors, the latter chosen because of their knowledge, areas of relevant expertise, 

and experience. The role of the Board is to provide effective and proactive 

leadership of the NHS Foundation Trust; to set the strategic aims of the Trust, 

ensuring the quality, safety and effectiveness of the services provided and ensuring 

that the Trust is well-governed in every aspect of its activities. 

The description below of each of the current Director’s expertise and experience 

demonstrates the balance, completeness and relevance of the skills, knowledge and 

expertise that each of the directors bring to the foundation Trust. 

The Board of Directors met 18 (17 times 2014/15) times during the year under 

review. 

 

3.2 Board and Committee effectiveness 
The performance of the Board of Directors is reviewed collectively as part of an 

independent Board evaluation process; and individually, with each Board Director 

undertaking performance appraisal with either the Chief Executive (Executive 

Directors) or Chair (Chief Executive and Non-Executive Directors). The Chair is 

appraised by the Senior Independent Director and the Lead Governor. 

 

3.3 Trust Chair 
Jane Ramsey – CUH Chair  

Areas of special interest/responsibility: strategic planning and liaison with 

external bodies  

A lawyer by profession with experience at all levels of the NHS, Jane is a very 

experienced Non-Executive Director who joined the Trust from University College 

London Hospitals (UCLH) where she was Vice-Chair. 

Jane was Chair of Lambeth Primary Care Trust for five years and was also a Non-

Executive member of the Department of Health Audit and Risk Committee for six 

years and has undertaken a range of Non-Executive roles including lay member of 

the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain; chairing a local housing 

association; and Vice-Chair of Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Health Authority. 

During her time as an Associate Board member of the NHS in London, Jane was 

appointed to provide support and challenge to NHS Boards as they prepared to 

apply to become foundation Trusts. 

Jane was appointed Chair of CUH in November 2012. She was reappointed by 

Governors for a second term running to 2018.  

In her role as Chair, Jane leads the Board of Directors and is responsible for 

ensuring that patients receive the best care. With the Chief Executive she also 

oversees the strategic direction of the Trust looking at how services should develop 

for the future. Jane is Chair of the CUH Council of Governors, working closely with 

them so the views of the Trust’s membership – staff, public, patients and partners 

– are at the heart of our work at CUH. In addition Jane chairs the Remuneration 

Committee and the Constitution Committee and attends the Board sub-committees. 
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3.4 Trust Vice-Chair and Senior Independent Director (SID) 
Dr Michael More – Non-Executive Director, Vice-chair (from 1 October 2015) and 
Senior Independent Director (from 1 October 2015) 

Areas of special interest / responsibility: Chair of Audit Committee, member of 

Finance & Performance, Remuneration & Nomination, Workforce and Education, and 

Business Development Committees, member of Governor/Director Working Groups 

on Scrutiny and Performance 

A Cambridge resident, and an experienced Non-Executive Director, Michael was the 

Chief Executive of Westminster City Council from April 2008 to 31 December 2013, 

having previously been the Chief Executive and Director of Resource Management 

of Suffolk County Council. He has a strong background in public finance and audit, 

having started his career in the National Audit Office and undertaken roles in audit 

and finance at Cambridgeshire County Council. 

Michael’s non-executive roles have included Non-Executive Director on the Joint 

Venture Board for the University Campus Suffolk and Chair for the Prince’s Trust for 

Suffolk. Michael also held a representative role on the Olympic Games Transport 

Board, overseeing the overall transport consequences of hosting the Games in 

London. 

He is also a group Board member of the London and Quadrant Housing Association. 

He is Chair of Uniting Care Partnership LLP, and the Trust’s link Trustee with ACT 

(Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust). 

 

3.5 Non-Executive Directors 
Dallas Ariotti MBE – Interim Associate Non-executive Director (from 1 June 2015)  

Areas of special interest/responsibility: Chair of Workforce Committee (June 

2015 to March 2016) Chair of Quality Committee (September 2015 to March 2016); 

and member of Quality and Workforce committees 

International healthcare expert Dallas Ariotti MBE, was appointed to the CUH Board 

in June 2015 as an Interim Associate Non-Executive Director. 

Dallas began her career as a nurse and has worked around the globe to improve 

health systems. 

She has held senior leadership roles as Director on the Board at Guys and St 

Thomas' and University Hospital Birmingham foundation Trusts, and with other 

health service and government organisations here in the UK, and abroad, including 

Australia, Pakistan, Central Asia and Africa. 

She brings years of international experience in successfully building and improving 

health systems, with a focus on successful business strategies, operating models, 

governance, clinical performance and leadership. 

 

Professor Lynne Berry OBE – Non-Executive Director – Senior Independent 
Director (SID) – until 31 May 2015 

Lynne Berry resigned with effect from 31 May 2015. Further details of her expertise 

and experience can be found in our Annual Report 2014/15.  
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Dr Michael Knapton – Non-Executive Director 

Areas of special interest / responsibility: Chair of Business Development 

Committee, member of Quality, Remuneration & Nomination and Workforce and 

Education Committees and Governor/Director Working Group on Communications 

and Engagement, NED lead for sustainability 

Michael has in-depth knowledge of primary and community healthcare having spent 

30 years working as a GP in Cambridge. He has held many key roles in primary 

care including Chairman of Cambridge City Primary Care Group.  He is also 

Associate Medical Director of the British Heart Foundation. In the late 1990s 

Michael worked in the cardiology department at Addenbrooke’s and trained as a 

doctor at University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke's Hospital from 1977 to 1982. 

 

Professor Patrick Maxwell – Non-Executive Director 

Areas of special interest/responsibility: Director of Cambridge University 

Health Partners (CUHP); Chair of Quality Committee (until September 2015); 

member of Quality committee and Remuneration & Nomination committee 

Patrick undertook postgraduate clinical and research training in nephrology and 

general medicine at Guy's Hospital and in Oxford. He was appointed as university 

lecturer in 1996 and then reader at the University of Oxford. In 2002 he moved to 

the Professorship of Nephrology at Imperial College, followed by the Chair of 

Medicine at University College London in 2008. He was appointed Regius Professor 

of Physic and Head of the School of Clinical Medicine of the University of Cambridge 

in 2012. 

Patrick has served on a number of national grant committees and holds senior 

investigator awards from the Wellcome Trust and NIHR. 

Patrick was elected a fellow of the Academy of Medical Sciences in 2005. He is 

currently Chair of the Medical Research Council’s Molecular and Cellular Medicine 

Board. 

 

Professor Sharon Peacock CBE – Non-Executive Director (from 1 October 2015)  

Areas of special interest/responsibility: Chair of Quality Committee (from 

March 2016); member of Audit Committee and Remuneration & Nomination 

Committee 

On 1 October, Professor Sharon Peacock joined the Trust as a Non-Executive 

Director. 

Sharon trained as a physician and a clinical microbiologist, and has worked in the 

NHS for 35 years. She manages a research group based at the Cambridge 

Biomedical Campus where she holds an honorary appointment with the University 

of Cambridge, and the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute where she is an honorary 

faculty member. Her major research focus is on enhancing the detection and 

control of multidrug-resistant infections using cutting edge technologies such as 

genome sequencing.  

From 2003 to 2009 Sharon was head of bacterial diseases research at the Wellcome 

Trust-Mahidol University-Oxford Tropical Medicine Research Programme in Thailand, 

where she focused on infectious diseases affecting the rural poor of SE Asia. 

Sharon has held non-executive roles on a wide range of advisory and funding 

committees, and is a governor of the Stephen Perse Foundation School in 

Cambridge. She was awarded a CBE in 2015 for services to medical microbiology. 
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Shirley Pointer – Non-Executive Director (from 1 December 2015)  

Areas of special interest/responsibility: Chair of workforce committee (from 

March 2016); Member of Quality Committee and Remuneration & Nomination 

Committee 

Shirley Pointer joined the Trust as a Non-Executive Director on 1 December 2015.  

Shirley has worked in both the public and private sectors and is a highly respected, 

experienced leader and senior executive with extensive experience in the areas of 

people, organisational capability and change. 

Shirley joined CUH from the Department of Health where she was the HR director. 

She has also held senior leadership roles in the Department for Communities and 

Local Government, the Department for Innovation, Universities and Skills and the 

Department for Trade and Industry.  

Prior to joining the Civil Service Shirley spent 20 years in the private sector, 

primarily in financial services. Latterly she was the HR director for Abbey National 

Retail Bank (now Santander). She also has non-executive experience gained in the 

charity sector as a trustee of the Whitehall and Industry Group, an organisation 

whose primary purpose is to build understanding and co-operation between the 

public, private and voluntary sectors. 

Shirley brings extensive experience of working with senior leadership teams 

delivering transformational change. Her focus is to create successful organisations 

through authentic leadership underpinned by robust governance and management 

practices 

 

Dr Andrew Richards CBE – Non-Executive Director 

Areas of special interest / responsibility: Member of Finance and Performance 

Committee; Member of Audit and Remuneration & Nomination Committees, and 

Governor/Director Working Group on Communications and Engagement 

Dr Andy Richards CBE was appointed to the Board in May 2014. His experience in 

business and life sciences, coupled with his well-established links within Cambridge, 

is a significant support to the Trust in realising its ambition as a global healthcare 

leader. 

A Cambridge graduate with a PhD in chemistry, Andy is currently chairman of Ixico 

plc, Congenica, Novacta, Abcodia and Babraham Bioscience Technology. He is a 

director of Arecor, Ieso Digital Health, Cancer Research Technology (commercial 

arm of CR-UK) and Cambridge Temperature Concepts. He is also a trustee of the 

British Science Association. 

His early career spanned positions with ICI (now AstraZeneca) and PA Technology, 

and he was a founder and Executive Director of Chiroscience. Since 1999 he has 

founded and invested in new mainly Cambridge-based healthcare companies, with 

more than 20 innovative ventures over the last 14 years. These include companies 

such as Vectura, Arakis, Cambridge Biotechnology Ltd and Geneservice. Andy is 

also a founder member of the Cambridge Angels investors’ group. 

 

 

 

Dr Peter Southwick – Non-Executive Director 

Areas of special interest / responsibility: Chair of Finance and Performance 

committee; member of Audit, Quality and Remuneration and Nomination 
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committees, and Governor/Director Working Group on Scrutiny and Performance, 

NED lead for security 

Peter is former Corporate Director of Quality and Development at Mittal Steel. He 

holds a MA in natural sciences and a PhD in metallurgy from the University of 

Cambridge. Peter held various management positions with Inland Steel Company 

from 1980. When the company joined Ispat International in 1998 he became 

Executive Vice-President of Operations and was promoted to President and CEO in 

2000 of the US subsidiary, and joined the Board of Ispat International.  

Peter’s current non-executive roles include Chairman of Hills Road Sixth Form 

College and Board member of the Nanosteel Company. His former non-executive 

experience includes Non-Executive Director of NHS Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough, Board member of H2Gen Innovations and steel companies in 

Canada, USA and Germany. 

 

Dr Pat Troop – Non-Executive Director and Vice-chair (until 30 September 2015) 

Dr Pat Troop reached the end her term of office on 30 September 2015 and did not 

seek re-appointment. Further details of her expertise and experience can be found 

in our annual report 2014/15.  

 

3.6 Executive directors 
Dr Keith McNeil – Chief Executive (until 14 September 2015) 

Dr McNeil resigned as Chief Executive on 14 September 2015. Further details of his 

expertise and experience can be found in our annual report 2014/15. 

 

Roland Sinker – Chief Executive (from 16 November 2015) 

Areas of responsibility include: accounting officer, responsible for running the 

Trust’s business, ensuring its obligations and targets are met within a framework of 

prudent and effective systems of internal control 

Roland was previously the acting Chief Executive at King’s College Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust, and spent 2009 to 2015 as their Chief Operating Officer.  

Coming from a legal and management consultancy background, Roland served as 

Strategy Director at King’s between 2005 and 2008, and was the former 

Programme Director for King’s Health Partners, the academic health sciences centre 

created between King’s College London, King’s College Hospital, Guy’s & St Thomas’ 

and South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trusts. 

 

Dr Jag Ahluwalia – Executive Medical Director 

Areas of responsibility include: professional medical governance; medical 

revalidation clinical outcomes; infection control; research and development; 

information technology; pharmacy; clinical networks; GP liaison; undergraduate 

education; post- graduate education 

Jag has worked for the NHS since 1986. He was appointed as a Consultant 

Neonatologist in 1996. 

Jag was elected senior officer of the British Association of Perinatal Medicine, 2003 

to 2009, and was Associate Medical Director from 2004 until being appointed as 

Medical Director in April 2008. He is currently Chair of the East of England Medical 

Directors' Forum. 
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Iain Alexander – Interim Chief Finance Officer (CFO) (from 2 November 2015) 

Areas of responsibility include: financial strategy, financial planning, financial 

management, estates and facilities, commissioning and contracting and statutory 

accounts. Iain joined the Trust on 2 November 2015 on secondment from PwC 

where he is a partner specialising in advising and supporting organisations in 

financial crisis 

 

Iain has worked in finance for 18 years and is a qualified accountant by 

background. He has spent the last ten years largely advising and supporting NHS 

organisations who are facing significant financial, operational or clinical challenges. 

His primary focus is to ensure that the Trust rapidly improves its financial position 

and develops a strategy to become financially sustainable in the medium term.   

 

Evelyn Barker – Interim Chief Operating Officer (COO) (from 1 August 2015) 

Areas of responsibility include: clinical and operational services, performance 

management and emergency planning 

Evelyn is an experienced interim executive and in recent years has spent time with 

Colchester as their interim COO/deputy CEO and before that Basildon and Thurrock. 

She was the substantive COO with Gloucestershire NHSFT and Heatherwood and 

Wexham Park NHSFT  

 

Frances Cousins – Chief Operating Officer (Until 27 July 2015) 

Frances Cousins left the Trust on 27 July 2015. Further details of her expertise and 

experience can be found in our annual report 2014/15. 

 

Ann-Marie Ingle – Chief Nurse  

Areas of responsibility include: nursing and midwifery strategy and standards, 

executive lead for quality and safety and patient experience, safeguarding children 

and vulnerable adults, professional lead for allied health professionals, and 

executive lead for psychological medicine services 

Ann-Marie has over 25 years’ experience in the NHS and a background in critical 

care and nurse education. 

Ann-Marie spent five years as Director of Nursing at Papworth Hospital from 2008 

to 2013. She has spent many years in senior nursing and management roles, and 

nine years in nurse education. Since qualifying as a registered general nurse, her 

clinical practice focused on cardiothoracic medical and surgical nursing, with a 

special interest in intensive care. 

 

Paul James – Chief Finance Officer (until 14 September 2015) 

Paul James left the Trust on 14 September 2015. Further details of his expertise 

and experience can be found in our annual report 2014/15. 

 

Jonathan Rowell – Acting Chief Finance Officer (from 15 September 2015 until 2 
November 2015) 

Jonathan Rowell is the Deputy Chief Finance Officer and from 15 September 2015 

until 2 November 2015 was acting Chief Finance Officer. 

 

David Wherrett – Director of Workforce and Acting Chief Executive (from 15 
September 2015 to 15 November 2015) 
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Areas of responsibility as Director of Workforce include: human resources 

(including medical staffing); organisational development and design, health and 

safety, recruitment, employee relations, occupational health, pensions and 

voluntary services 

Areas of responsibility as Interim Chief Executive included: accounting 

officer, responsible for running the Trust’s business, ensuring its obligations and 

targets are met with a framework of prudent and effective systems of internal 

control 

David joined the Trust in April 2014 and leads on all aspects of the Trust’s 

workforce agenda including human resources, staff health and wellbeing, medical 

staffing, learning and development, temporary staffing and volunteering. 

David has worked in human resources for over 20 years in various organisations. 

He has spent the majority of his recent career in the NHS, working primarily in 

provider organisations. His primary focus is to ensure that CUH supports its staff to 

deliver excellent care for patients and carers. 

 

3.7 Board Advisors 
 Mark Friedman – Director of Recovery (from 20 August 2016) 

Mark has had a thirty year career in the international and UK based public and 

private sectors in the healthcare, trade and finance sectors. He has spent the past 

ten years working within the NHS leading on major transformation and turnaround 

programmes. 

 

Sir Ron Kerr CBE – Board Advisor (from 16 November 2015)  

Sir Ron Kerr has an extensive NHS background, having spent over 30 years in 

senior NHS leadership roles.  Ron undertakes the role at CUH part time alongside 

his existing commitments at Guy’s and St Thomas’ where he is currently Executive 

Vice Chairman and was previously Chief Executive for eight years. 

 

Kate Lancaster – Director of Corporate Affairs  

Kate Lancaster, Director of Corporate Affairs took up post in September 2014 to 

cover a wide portfolio including corporate governance, compliance, public 

engagement, legal services, and communications and also contributes to the 

formulation of strategy, policy and delivery of corporate and statutory objectives.  

Kate has experience in corporate governance, communication, stakeholder 

engagement and change management in highly complex environments having 

worked in the NHS in both Scotland and England for more than 20 years.  

Kate joined the Trust from the specialist Trust, Papworth Hospital where in addition 

to the corporate services portfolio she led the hospital’s charity and undertook two 

additional roles namely, Director of Communications for the Eastern Academic 

Health Science Network and director of corporate services for Cambridge University 

Health Partners. 
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3.8 Register of Interest 
At the time of their appointment, all directors are asked to declare any interests on 

the register of directors’ interests. 

This register is reviewed on a monthly basis and maintained by the Director of 

Corporate Affairs. The register is available for inspection by members of the public. 

Anyone who wishes to see the register of directors’ interests should make enquiries 

to the director of corporate affairs at the following address: 

Director of Corporate Affairs, Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ 

or telephone 01223 256256. 

 

3.9 Appointment of Chair and Non-Executive Directors 
The Council of Governors (CoG) has the responsibility for appointing the Chair and 

the other Non-Executive Directors in accordance with the constitution and in line 

with relevant legislation.  

Candidates are nominated by the Council of Governors’ Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, who (except in the case of the Regius Professor of 

Physic) select and approve Non-Executive Directors.  

This committee must comprise one public, one patient, one staff and one partner 

organisation governor. It is chaired by the Chair of the Trust for Non-Executive 

Director appointments only, and by a governor for all its other functions including 

the appointment of the Trust chair.  

Non-Executive Director appointments are for a term of three-years. Following this 

term and subject to satisfactory appraisal, a Non-Executive Director is eligible for 

consideration by the Council of Governors for a further uncontested term of office of 

three-years. Following that period, and as long as the individual’s term as a Non-

Executive Director has not exceeded nine years, they are able to apply for a further 

three year term of office through a process of open competition. 

When undertaking its nomination responsibilities, the committee reviews the 

structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) 

required of the Board of Directors compared to its current position and makes 

recommendations for change when appropriate.  

The removal of a Non-Executive Director requires the approval of three-quarters of 

members of the Council of Governors. Details of the criteria for disqualification from 

holding the office of a director can be found in paragraph 10.12 of the constitution. 

Disclosures of the remuneration paid to the Chair, Non-Executive Directors, 

Executive Directors and Senior Managers are given in the accounts.  

 

3.10 Non-Executive Directors’ expenses 
CUH is committed to reimbursing expenses incurred on Trust business to the chair 

and Non-Executive Directors at rates set by the Council of Governors. Travel by car, 

motor bicycle or bicycle is reimbursed at the HMRC approved amount for mileage 

payments. If travelling by public transport, the cost of travel will be met and chair 

and Non-Executive Directors are expected to take advantage of any reduced fares 

available. Subsistence allowances are payable if non-executives directors have been 

away from home on Trust business for more than five hours, except where meals 

and refreshments were provided.  

The full policy is available from the Director of Corporate Affairs.  
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3.11 Attendance at Board meetings 2015/16  
Meeting dates 
2015: 8 April, 13 May, 20 May,10 June, 8 July, 5 August , 17 August, 9 September, 

17 September, 7 October, 14 October , 21 October, 11 November, 9 December, 21 

December 

 

2016: 13 January, 10 February, 9 March 

 

Table 06 

Attendance at Board Meetings 2015/16 

 
Name Title Attendance* 

Dr Jag Ahluwalia Executive Medical Director 15/18 

Iain Alexander Acting Chief Finance Officer 6/6 

Dallas Ariotti Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

12/15 

Evelyn Barker Interim Chief Operating 
Officer e 

13/13 

Prof Lynne Berry Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

2/3 
 Frances Cousins Chief Operating Officer 5/5 

Ann-Marie Ingle Chief Nurse 17/18 

Paul James Chief Finance Officer  8/8 

Dr Michael Knapton Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

15/18 

Prof Patrick Maxwell Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

13/18 

Dr Keith McNeil Chief Executive 7/8 

Dr Michael More Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

16/18 

Prof Sharon Peacock Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

6/9 

Shirley Pointer Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

5/5 

Jane Ramsey Chair 16/18 

Dr Andrew Richards Non-Executive Director 14/18 

Jonathan Rowell Acting Chief Finance Officer 4/4 

Roland Sinker Chief Executive 5/5 

Dr Peter Southwick Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

14/18 

Dr Pat Troop Non-Executive Director 
fromfromfrom/to 

8/9 

David Wherrett Director of Workforce  16/18 

 

3.12 Audit committee 
Membership of this committee is made up of Non-Executive Directors and is chaired 

by Dr Michael More. 

The committee’s primary role is to oversee the governance and assurance process 

and the effectiveness of risk management systems and the control environment, 

including the Trust’s financial systems and annual financial statements. It considers 

any matters concerning the external auditors, and also the adequacy of our internal 

audit arrangements.  
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Table 07 

Attendance at Audit Committee meetings 2015/16  

Name Title Attendance* 

Dallas Ariotti Non-Executive Director 2/3 

Prof Lynne Berry Non-Executive Director 0/2 

Dr Mike Knapton Non-Executive Director 4/7 

Prof Patrick Maxwell Regius Professor of Physic  3/7  

 
Dr Michael More Non-Executive Director 7/7 

Dr Andy Richards  Non-Executive Director 6/7 

Professor Sharon Peacock Non-Executive Director 1/4 

Shirley Pointer Non-Executive Director 2/3 

Dr Peter Southwick Non-Executive Director 5/7 

 

Jane Ramsey attended three meetings in her capacity as Trust chair and Pat Troop 

one meeting in her capacity as vice-chair.   

 

Meeting dates 
15 April 2015, 20 May 2015, 15 July 2015, 21 October 2015 2 December 2015; and 

27 January and 23 March 2016. 

 

Significant issues 
The Audit Committee met on 23 and 25 May 2016 to consider financial statement 

for the period for the period 2015/16. The Audit Committee reviewed the financial 
statements and identified no significant issues with the statements.  

 

External auditors 
KPMG LLP, CUH’s external auditor, reports to the Council of Governors (CoG) 

through the Audit Committee. KPMG LLP's accompanying report on the financial 

statements is based on its examination conducted in accordance with the audit 

code for NHS Foundation Trusts as issued by Monitor, the independent regulator of 

Foundation Trusts. Their work includes a review of our internal control structure for 

the purposes of designing their audit procedures.  

The external audit process is subject to annual review by the Trust in terms of 

competency efficiency and the relationship between the Trust and its auditors. The 

audit committee meets with the external auditor without any Trust employees 

(including Executive Eirectors) present at every meeting, to improve its knowledge 

of their contribution.  

During 2012/13 following a tender process, the Council of Governors re-appointed 

KPMG for a further three years. The CoG agreed that at the end of that period there 

will be a competitive tender for a successor, to ensure that the auditors remain 

independent of the Trust. The CoG agreed to extend the contract for a further year 

covering the period up to 31 March 2016 in May 2015. The CoG in December 2015 

appointed Mazars Limited as the external auditors with effect from 1 April 2016. 

Non-audit work may be performed by the external auditors where the work is 

clearly audit-related and the external auditors are best placed to do that work. For 

such assignments the audit committee approved protocol is followed which ensures 
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all such work is properly considered. The processes in place ensure auditor 

objectivity and independence is safeguarded. 

 

Audit fees 
The statutory audit fee, including quality account and whole of government 

accounts and others is included in note 3.1 to the accounts. 

 

Internal auditors 
RSM, CUH’s internal auditors, are responsible for undertaking the internal audit 

functions on behalf of the Trust. During the reporting period the internal auditors 

were re-branded as RSM from Baker Tilley. The Head of Internal Audit reports to 

each meeting of the Audit Committee on the audit activity undertaken.  

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 

rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 

can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify 

and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 

those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 

them efficiently, effectively and economically.  

 

3.13 Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board of 
Directors 
The work of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is described under 

section 3.22. 

There is also a Governors’ Nomination and Remuneration Committee which 

identifies and nominates Non-Executive Directors. This committee is chaired by a 

governor, except when appointing Non-Executive Directors, when it is chaired by 

the Chair of the Trust.  

 

3.14 Cost statement 
CUH has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements as set out in 

HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector information guidance during 2015/16. 

 

3.15 Better payment practice code 
The performance of the Trust against the better payment practice code in 2015/16 
was   

 

Non-NHS 
Number of invoices paid in year     100704 

Number paid within 30 days          18346 

% paid within 30 days                  18.2% 

 

NHS 
Number of invoices paid in year     2761 

Number paid within 30 days          251 

% paid within 30 days                  9.1% 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
39 

 

3.16 Quality strategy 
With input from the Council of Governors, the Board of Directors agreed a five year 

quality strategy in 2013 which aims to ensure every patient receives the safest, 

highest quality care personalised to their needs.  

The focus is on ensuring that our patients have the best clinical outcomes, delivered 

with compassion in a safe environment, resulting in the best possible experience. 

The quality strategy outlines the approach everyone in our hospital will take to 

improve quality between now and 2018. It builds on our strengths and 

complements our governance, risk and safety infrastructure, but also addresses 

those areas where we know we could improve. It outlines our priorities, and sets 

out what success will look like in 2018, together with the framework for delivery 

and the methodology for measuring our progress. 

Details of our quality performance in 2015/16 and the aims which we have 

established for 2016/17 are given in our quality report at section 4. This also 

includes the detail of external reviews and audits of our services.  

 

3.17 Income statement  
CUH has met the requirement of Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 

by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) that the Trust’s income from the provision 

of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England must be 

greater than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other 

purposes. Other income which the Trust has received has had no impact on its 

provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England. 

 

3.18 Patient care  
Improvements in patient/carer information 
In 2015/16, we continued to manage the process of review and approval of patient 

information leaflets and procedure specific consent forms alongside related projects 

to focus on.  

 

The accessible information standard  
The Trust piloted this standard for NHS England in early 2015. Following the pilot 

work, the standard was confirmed, in June 2015, as mandatory for every 

organisation providing adult health and social care services to implement by 31 July 

2016. 

‘The accessible information standard directs and defines a specific, consistent 

approach to identifying, recording, flagging, sharing and meeting individuals 

information and communication support needs by NHS and adult social care service 

providers."’(Reference NHS England standard specification) 

A steering group, chaired by the Assistant Director of Nursing for Patient 

Experience, was set up in September 2015 to oversee the implementation of the 

standard within the Trust. Key stakeholders sit on the steering group along with 

patient governor representatives. Meetings have taken place with key specialist 

areas, for example the eye unit, audiology, learning disabilities, dementia and 

speech and language therapy.  

The pilot identified that our new electronic patient record system was going to be 

instrumental in recording and flagging patient's disabilities and communication 

support needs and also ensuring that this information is shared. Subsequent 

meetings have highlighted the technical changes that can be made to the system to 
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support the implementation of the standard and are being addressed. These 

changes are being further supported by good practice guides for staff to refer to. 

The requirements of the accessible information standard have wider implications 

across the Trust which are being investigated and will continue to be so after 31 

July 2016. For example, signage around the hospital, the provision of patient 

information leaflets and patient appointment letters in other formats suitable to 

patient's needs as identified and recorded on their electronic patient record. 

 

Information on complaints handling 
In 2015/2016 CUH received 519 formal complaints. The volume is not significantly 

different to the 523 complaints received in 2014/15 and hence the 12% increase on 

2013/14 has been maintained.  

The Trust aims to respond to complaints within 30 working days. This can be a 

challenging target given the complexity of some of the cases and resource 

constraints within the complaints team and the wider Trust. The team has therefore 

been working towards a target of 50% of cases responded to within 30 working 

days.  The percentage has shown an upward trend over the year, from 23% in 

quarter 1 to 40% in quarter 4. When cases are unlikely to meet the 30 day target, 

attempts are made to negotiate an agreed extension with the complainant.  The 

rate of complaints responded to within 30 days or with an agreed extension was 

92% over the year. 

The main themes in the subjects complained about are consistently medical care, 

nursing care and communication. No particular specialty or ward within the Trust 

shows a consistently high or increasing trend in complaint volumes, and overall the 

rate of complaints remains below the Trust target of 0.1% of activity – although it 

should be noted that the Trust welcomes feedback so areas showing higher rates of 

complaints may indicate that feedback is welcomed in these areas and that the 

complaints procedure is accessible.   

Emphasis is placed on identifying learning points as a result of complaints and 

information is supplied to specialties via CHEQS (Cambridge Hospitals Evaluation 

Quality System) and reports to clinical governance meetings to enable them to take 

forward actions appropriately.   

The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) is the second, 

independent stage in the complaints procedure and complainants may take their 

case to the PHSO if they consider that attempts at local resolution have failed. The 

PHSO will assess the complaint and action taken by the Trust and investigate if it is 

considered that there is evidence of injustice or hardship. Fifteen cases were 

investigated by the PHSO in 2014/15, compared with 12 in 2014/15. Over the year, 

two cases were upheld or partially upheld and the Trust implemented action plans 

to remedy the deficits identified by the PHSO.  

There has been a decrease in PALS activity over the year: 7544 cases were dealt 

with compared with 8,846 in 2014/15, a fall of 15%. PALS’ cases range from 

straightforward enquiries and requests for information, through to more complex 

concerns and dissatisfaction with care. The most frequent themes are failures in 

communication or lack of information and delays/cancellations. The PALS team aim 

to turn round cases within ten working days, and data on this target is being 

gathered on the QSIS data recording and analysis system, which was introduced to 

the department on 1 April 2016. 

A detailed report on complaints and PALS cases is presented to the quarterly 

Patient Experience Committee meeting. The reports provide information on trends 

and themes over the quarter, and this information is subsequently provided in 

summary form to the quality committee of the Board. 
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The complaints and PALS department has reorganised workstreams and staffing 

over 2015/16 and together with the introduction of QSIS, aims to increase 

efficiency and improve the quality of information available to the wider Trust over 

the coming year. 

 

3.19 Stakeholder engagement 
ACTIVE (Children and Young People’s Board at CUH) 
ACTIVE (Children and Young People’s Board at CUH) involvement in a range of 

projects involving improving patient experience:  

 leaflets for children review eg a children’s guide to a new research project for 

new glue ear intervention and a kids introduction to lipidystrophy 

 CYP created their own animation for the strategic clinical network to highlight 

their work with ACTIVE 

 individual and group consultations for new developments eg young person 

specialist nurse funded by Well Child and a review of young people’s views on 

mental health and well-being services in association with Healthwatch 

 collaboration with Anglia Ruskin University with their student nurses and sharing 

of perspectives about children in hospital and what is important in a children's 

nurse 

 fundraising stall in outpatients to raise funds for distraction boxes for older 

children undergoing painful procedures and an opportunity to raise the profile of 

the group by co-ordinator and seven members 

 

Communication with partners by group and ACTIVE co-ordinator: 

 worked with the experience of care lead – maternity, infants, children and 

Young People NHS England on planning and delivering a workshop in London 

entitled ‘Establishing a youth forum’ this was a great platform to share 

knowledge and insights of the ACTIVE journey and individual participation by 

long term ACTIVE member Ava Goode 

 participated in a range of conferences to share insights of CYP views and 

ACTIVE 

 patient experience network conference in the market place in Birmingham  

 ‘Hear me’ conference at Ely with local commissioners and Healthwatch 

 talked to hearing impaired teens at ‘Moving on’ event in the Trumpington 

Professional Development Centre using what is pants and tops about coming to 

hospital evaluations  

 partnership work with sustainability department at the 250th Anniversary Open 

Day in the hospital with an interactive stall for CYP there were eight members of 

the group to talk to the public about ACTIVE 

 involvement with the creation and launch of Mefirst.org – a national data base 

of communication tools to improve CYP patient experience 

 worked with Anglia Ruskin University for their revalidation for children’s nursing 

course and undertook an interactive session with student nurses at ARU and 10 

ACTIVE members 

 networked with local partners in the Cambridge Public Engagement Forum and 

Participation Guidance Group to share practice and ideas for engagement 

 created Activecuh.wordpress.com and Active Facebook page to communicate 

more of the work of ACTIVE to a larger audience of professionals and children 

and young people and their families 
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ACTIVE engagement: 

 young people engagement best yet, on average 16 young people per meeting, 

up two attendances per session from 2014/15. Seven meetings and eight 

planning meetings and participation on a wide range of work in young people’s 

own time and meetings for specific projects throughout the year. One social 

event 

 17 different staff from many disciplines came and took part in ACTIVE meetings 

with great support from ACTIVE volunteer Hilary Stokes at meetings 

 ACTIVE has now been running since 2007. In Oct 2015 Maria Wray a founding 

member sadly passed away. Maria had remained an ‘ACTIVE’ member 

throughout all her health problems over the years and her contributions to the 

group were significant 

 

Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) and Academic Health 
Science Centre 
Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) was re-designated for a three-year 

period as an Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC) by the Department of Health 

in April 2014, following a successful re-application process led by Regius Professor 

of Physic and CUHP Director, Professor Patrick Maxwell.  

CUHP is a partnership with Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, the University 

of Cambridge, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust, and 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. It is one of only six centres 

in England to be recognised as globally competitive due to the strength of its 

translational research, clinicians and academics.   

CUHP’s aim is to support world-class excellence in healthcare, research and clinical 

education; and to improve health for people locally, nationally and internationally.   

As part of the designation process for AHSC status, CUHP reviewed and refocused 

its strategic vision to focus on six main programmes to support our vision, namely: 

 supporting translational research 

 development of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus 

 medical informatics 

 educating and training tomorrow’s workforce 

 service innovation and improvement and 

 philanthropy 

Governance structures are in place to drive forward progress on these programmes 

and these report to the CUHP Board of Directors. The service innovation and 

improvement programme is in partnership with the Eastern Academic Health 

Science Network, and the medical informatics programme has focused on CUH’s 

eHospital programme. 

The Chair and the Chief executive of CUH are ex-officio directors of CUHP, as are 

the Chair and Chief Executive of Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, the Vice-

Chancellor of the University of Cambridge, the University Registrary and the Regius 

Professor of Physic. There are also three further directors with both clinical and 

academic responsibilities, one representing each of the NHS Trusts. The chairman 

of the Board is Baroness Helene Hayman, who took up her post in September 2014. 

The current Executive Director is Professor Patrick Maxwell, Regius Professor of 

Physic. CUHP is currently in the process of appointing a new Chief Executive, who 

will be entirely dedicated to the organisation and its strategic vision for the future.  

Over the last year, CUHP has invested in the expansion of its operations. In August 

2015, a new Chief Operating Officer was appointed, and the management office 
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(MO) has been strengthened by recruiting a number of full-time appointments. 

CUHP has increased its communications operation to develop a new CUHP website 

and e-newsletter, creating a central information hub for the wider research and 

care communities. One of the central functions of the MO is to catalyse and 

facilitate collaborations across the three sectors of industry, academia, and the 

NHS, to increase CUHP’s capacity to transform scientific advances into tangible 

benefits for patients and the wider economy. In addition, CUHP has started a new 

initiative to bring a diverse range of Patient & Public Involvement (PPI) and 

Engagement (PPE) across all partner organisations.  

In October 2015, CUHP has established a CBC strategy Board, chaired by Baroness 

Helene Hayman, which involves all major organisations co-located on the campus. 

This includes Astra Zeneca, GSK, MRC (notably the Laboratory of Molecular 

Medicine), CRUK CI, and NHS Blood & Transplant. The aim is to develop a joint 

vision for the campus in the wider context of Cambridge’s southern fringe, and to 

establish a framework for future collaborations between these organisations, once 

they are fully established on the campus.  

The development of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus (CBC) is one of the key 

opportunities for CUHP. We have contributed to attracting AstraZeneca’s new global 

research and development centre to the site, as well as to the relocation of 

Papworth Hospital. Further progress on Cambridge Biomedical Campus 

development has been made over the past year: the developers have applied for 

planning permission for Phase 2 of the campus development (an area of 14 acres) 

with a decision expected on 1 June 2016. Construction of the ‘Capella’ building, a 

18,000 m2 biomedical research facility, started in September 2015. Finally, the 

recent decision to proceed with ‘The Forum’ on the campus is a major step forward, 

and will offer a range of much-needed central services, including a state-of-the-art 

training and conference facilities. 

 

Consultation with local authorities covering the membership area 
Cambridgeshire County Council adopted alternative governance arrangements with 

effect from May 2015 and the health overview and scrutiny functions are now 

exercised by the Cambridgeshire Health Committee. The Trust has worked closely 

with the committee and attended a number of meetings during 2015/16. Issues 

considered include Uniting Care Partnership and the outcome of the Care Quality 

Commission Inspection.  

 

Education and training 
CUH is a teaching hospital for medical undergraduates and postgraduates, nurses 

and students in other clinical professions. Patient-centred teaching is one of our 

core activities and is central to our vision to be one of the best academic healthcare 

organisations in the world. We are the teaching hospital for the University of 

Cambridge through the School of Clinical Medicine and the Postgraduate Medical 

Centre which provide the infrastructure and support to facilitate the education, 

training and continuing development of postgraduate professionals in hospital 

medicine, general practice and dentistry. Further information on education and 

training of our staff is given in the Quality Account 

 

Patient experience 
A number of focus groups have been held throughout the year, where members 

and/or recent patients/carers are invited to attend and provide their opinions on 

key issues relating to either the organisation broadly, or specific departments.  
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The Patient Experience Committee, which monitors the activities relating to patient 

experience, has governor representation to ensure that the views of members and 

the public are heard. 

The Patient Experience Committee reviews the quarterly patient experience data. 

This includes complaints and concerns, local and national patients survey results, 

focus group activity, and other sources of feedback that have happened in the 

quarter.  

The aim is enable easy identification of themes, along with areas for improvement 

and put in place a plan to address these so we continue to improve our patients’ 

experience.  

The ‘Friends and Family’ recommender score has in the last year been rolled out to 

include outpatients and children’s services. 

 

Research and development  
CUH works strategically in partnership with other NHS organisations, universities, 

research councils, research charities and industry to provide an outstanding 

infrastructure that builds research capacity and supports excellence in clinical 

research that will benefit patients. Further information on research and 

development is given in the quality account.  

 

 

3.20 Trust membership  
The membership 

The membership of CUH is split into three constituencies: patient, public and staff.   

 

Public membership 

Any person who is sixteen years or over and who lives within our membership area 

is eligible for public membership.  

 

Table 08 

The membership areas  
 
Braintree District Council Bumpstead electoral wards 

Cambridge City Council All wards 

East Cambridgeshire District Council All Wards 

East Hertfordshire District Council Buntingford; Braughing and Mundens and Cottered 
electoral wards 

Forest Heath District Council All Saints; Exning; Severals and St Mary’s electoral 
wards 

North Hertfordshire District Council Ermine; Royston Palace; Royston Meridian and 
Royston Heath electoral wards 

South Cambridgeshire District Council All wards 

St Edmundsbury District Council Withersfield; Haverhill North; Haverhill South; 
Haverhill East; Haverhill West and Kedington 
electoral wards 

Uttlesford District Council Ashdon; Clavering; Debden and Wimbish; 
Littlebury, Chesterford and Wenden Lofts; 

Newport; Saffron Walden Audley; Saffron Walden 

Castle; Saffron Walden Shire; The Sampfords; 
Takely and Thaxted and the Eastons electoral 
wards. 
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The public membership area was amended with effect from May 2015 due to 

changes in local government arrangements in the Braintree District Council and 

Uttlesford District Council area.  

 

Patient membership 

Any individual who has been a patient at any of the Trust’s hospitals from 05 July 

1948, or who has been a carer of a patient who meets that criterion, is eligible for 

patient membership, regardless of where they live, as long as they are aged sixteen 

years or over. 

 

Staff membership 

All staff at CUH with contracts of at least twelve months, or contracts with no fixed 

term, are automatically members unless they choose to opt out. The Trust greatly 

values the contribution employees of other companies on campus make to the 

organisation and for this reason staff membership includes all employees of 

companies based on the campus who provide services to CUH, once the employees 

have worked on site for twelve months. 

 

Membership numbers 

At 31 March 2016 there were 20,530 members (2015: 21,193); patients 5,076 

(5,237); public 5,610 (5,777); staff members 9817 (10,179). The staff membership 

includes 8,971 and 846 volunteers. 

 

Membership strategy 

Our membership strategy was produced in support of our application for NHS 

Foundation Trust status in March 2004.  It set out our vision for a representative, 

active and engaged membership. 

The current membership focus is on encouraging active participation rather than on 

increasing membership numbers. As well as a code of conduct, all governors on 

appointment/election are expected to sign up to the fact that they have read and 

will abide by our policy for governor communication with members and the public.  

The emphasis is, as always, encouraging interaction, listening and capturing views, 

speaking on behalf of members and thereby being able to influence opinions and 

decisions before feeding-back to members and the public. Members are informed of 

opportunities to speak with governors via the annual newsletter, on the main 

website, through regular email communications with ‘active’ members and at all 

Trust events with which governors are directly involved, such as the annual 

members’ meeting and the 250th Anniversary open day. Here governors staffed a 

stall close to the main entrance of the hospital to talk to members and visitors, 

asking for comments, questions and suggestions and giving a higher profile to the 

role of governors and the importance of taking an active part in the annual 

governor elections. At least one of our governor candidates for 2016 was directly 

recruited at this event. 

Governor representatives attend the annual NHS providers’ conference in order to 

network with governors from other Trusts and to share good practice. A record of 

governor ‘activity’ is kept centrally and evaluative responses from any such 

attendances are noted for the communications and engagement governor/director 

working group.  Both governors and members have an opportunity to take part in 

Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE inspections), which is a 

good way of both experiencing and talking together about the patient perspective 

on Trust services. Focus groups are now the responsibility of the patient experience 

team but a governor is always asked to chair the meeting and to participate fully in 
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any discussions or group work which is a sound method for obtaining qualitative 

feedback as well as to raise the profile of Trust membership as a means of having a 

say in how the Trust develops. Our membership continues to receive regular 

updates, invitations to events and important Trust messages through our ‘active 

members list’.   

A ‘Meet the candidates’ event is held each year to enable members to come and 

meet the new governor candidates prior to casting their vote. These are tagged 

onto an existing lecture date to encourage further participation from members who 

might not otherwise be interested in elections in order to maximise election turn-

out. The lectures are always introduced and chaired by a governor, which is 

particularly useful when advertising the need for governor candidates.   

Members wishing to make contact with governors can do so by contacting the 

Foundation Trust membership office: 

 

Email: governors@addenbrookes.nhs.uk or foundation.trust@addenbrookes.nhs.uk  

 

Telephone: 01223 256 256 

 

Post: NHS Foundation Trust Membership Office 

Box 146 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

Cambridge Biomedical Campus 

Hills Road 

Cambridge 

CB2 0QQ 

 

3.21 Council of Governors (CoG) 
Council of Governors 
The Council of Governors is composed of 19 elected governors (eight patient, seven 

public and four staff), nine appointed governors and one advisor. The council is 

chaired by CUH chair, Jane Ramsey and Daryl Brown who has been Lead Governor 

since 01 July 2014. 

 

Patient governors  
Table 09  

Patient governors 

The table below shows patient governors, representing and elected by the patient 

members of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Mr Daryl Brown Re-elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Mr Tony Coad Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

Mrs Jane Coston Re-elected in 2012. Stood down in 2015 

Mrs  Elizabeth Howe Elected in 2013 for a three-year term 

Dr Fred Jacobsberg Re-elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

Dr Julia Loudon Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Mr Tony Roberts Re-elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

Mr Brian Walker Elected in 2012. Unsuccessful in re-

election in 2015 

Dr Louisa Wood Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

 

For 2015/16 there has been one vacancy in the patient governor constituency. The 

vacancy will be filled in the May 2016 elections.  

mailto:governors@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
mailto:foundation.trust@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
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Public governors  
Table 10 

Public governors 

The table below shows public governors, representing and elected by the public 

members of the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Mr Tom Bygott Elected in 2012. Stood down in 2015 

Mrs Dawn Chapman MBE Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Mr Nick Cork Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Mrs Anna Gallop Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

Mrs Wendy Menon Re-elected in 2013 for a three-year term 

Mr Eric Revell Re-elected in 2012. Maximum term of 

office came to an end 2015 

Mr Carlos de la Riva Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

Professor Patrick Smith  Re-elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Mr Lorne Williamson Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

 

Staff governors 
Table 11 

Staff governors  

The table below shows staff governors, representing and elected by the staff 

members of the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

Mr Roberto Gherseni Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Ms Liz Hunt Elected in 2013 for a three-year term 

Mr Peter Lester Re-elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

Dr Fraz Mir Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

Ms Ciara Moore Elected in 2012. Stood down in 2015 

 

Governor elections 2015 
In 2015, three patient governors, three public governors and two staff governors 

were elected for a three year term by members of the Foundation Trust from the 

Trust’s eleventh main elections, which closed at noon on Thursday 09 April 2015. 

These elections were ‘first past the post’ and Electoral Reform Services acted as 

returning officer and independent scrutineer. 

 

Table 12  

Governor Election Turnout by constituency 2014 and 2015 

 

Constituency  2015 2014 

Patient Constituency 36.5% 37.5% 

Public Constituency 29.3% 30.2% 

Staff Constituency 18.2% 15.9% 
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Partnership governors 
Table 13  

Partnership governors, representing and appointed by external 

organisations to the Council of Governors 
 

Anglia Ruskin University  Professor Ruth Taylor Appointed in July 2014 

for a three-year term to 

replace Professor David 

Humber 

Cambridge Biomedical 

Campus Research 

Organisations 

Dr John Wells Appointed by Cancer 

Research UK to represent 

research organisations 

on the biomedical 

campus site in July 2013 

for a three-year term  

Cambridge City Council Cllr Robert Dryden Appointed by 

Cambridgeshire City 

Council in July 2014 to 

replace Cllr Jean 

Swanson for the 

remainder of the life of 

the Council (to May 

2018) 

Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

Mrs Maureen Donnelly Appointed by 

Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough CCG in 

June 2013 for a term of 

three years 

Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough NHS 

Foundation Trust 

Mr Stephen Legood Appointed as partnership 

governor in February 

2015 for three years to 

represent 

Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough NHS 

Foundation Trust to 

replace Keith Spencer  

Cambridgeshire County 

Council  

Cllr Roger Hickford Appointed by 

Cambridgeshire County 

Council in June 2013 to 

replace Cllr Tony Orgee 

for the remainder of the 

life of the Council (to 

May 2017) 

Papworth Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust 

Professor John Wallwork Appointed as partnership 

governor in February 

2014 for three years to 

represent Papworth 

Hospital NHS Foundation 

Trust  

University of Cambridge Professor Andrew Lever Re-appointed by the 

School of Clinical 

Medicine, University of 

Cambridge, in July 2010 
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for a three year term. 

Reappointed again in 

July 2013 for a further 

three year term until 

2016 

University of Cambridge Dr Jonathan Nicholls Re- appointed by the 

University of Cambridge 

in May 2013 until June 

2016 

 

Advisors 
The BoardBoard of Directors can select up to four advisors and recommend them to 

the Council of Governors for appointment. The Council of Governors shall make the 

final decision as to whether to appoint those recommended. Advisors have no 

voting rights and act in an advisory capacity only when carrying out their functions 

relating to the Trust. 

 

Advisors are individuals who are appointed by the BoardBoard of Directors with the 

agreement of the Council of Governors to advise the Council of Governors.  

   

Roger Quince Re-appointed as an advisor representing West Suffolk 

NHS Foundation Trust in January 2014 for a three-

year term 

 

Register of governors’ interests 
All governors are asked to declare any interests on the register of governors’ 

interests at the time of their appointment or election. The register is reviewed and 

maintained by the director of corporate affairs. It is available for inspection on the 

Trust website and any enquiries should be made to the director of corporate affairs 

at the following address: 

 

Director of Corporate Affairs, Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 0QQ 

or telephone 01223 256256. 

 

Governor expenses 
Governors participating in events like council meetings whose expenses are not 

paid by another organisation are entitled to claim reasonable expenses. Expenses 

are reimbursed at rates agreed by the Council of Governors, who have adopted 

HMRC approved amounts. Expenses to be reimbursed include: 

Travel by car, motor cycle or bicycle; public transport on a like for like basis on 

provision of a receipt; receipted costs for caring arrangements at previously agreed 

rates of up to £10 per hour; expenses for a companion required to enable the 

individual to participate; costs for interpretation. Details are available in the 

remuneration section of this report. The full policy is available from the Director of 

Corporate affairs, address as above. 
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Table 14 

Attendance at Council of Governors’ meetings 2015/16 

Name Title Attendance (out of 5 
unless stated) until 
31 March 2016 

Ms Jane Ramsey Trust Chair 5 out of 5 

Mr Daryl Brown Lead/Patient Governor 5 out of 5 

Mr Tom Bygott Public Governor 1 out of 1 

Mrs Dawn Chapman Public Governor 4 out of 4 

Mr Tony Coad Patient Governor 4 out of 5 

Mr Nick Cork Public Governor 3 out of 4 

Ms Jane Coston  Patient Governor 1 out of 1 

Mrs Maureen Donnelly Partnership Governor 2 out of 5 

Cllr Robert Dryden Partnership Governor 2 out of 5 

Mrs Anna Gallop Public Governor 5 out of 5 

Mr Roberto Gherseni Staff Governor 2 out of 4 

Cllr Roger Hickford Partnership Governor 3 out of 5 

Mrs Elizabeth Howe Patient Governor 4 out of 5 

Ms Elizabeth Hunt Staff Governor 4 out of 5 

Mr Fred Jacobsberg Patient Governor 4 out of 5 

Mr Stephen Legood Partnership Governor 2 out of 5 

Mr Peter Lester Staff Governor 4 out of 5 

Prof Andrew Lever Partnership Governor 3 out of 5 

Dr Julia Loudon Patient Governor 4 out of 4 

Mrs Wendy Menon Public Governor 4 out of 5 

Dr Fraz Mir Staff Governor 3 out of 4 

Mrs Ciara Moore Staff Governor 0 out of 1 

Dr Jonathan Nicholls Partnership Governor 3 out of 5 

Mr Roger Quince Advisor 4 out of 5 

Mr Eric Revell Public Governor 0 out of 1 

Mr Carlos de la Riva Public Governor 4 out of 5 

Mr Anthony Roberts Patient Governor 3 out of 5 

Prof Patrick Smith Public Governor 5 out of 5 

Prof Ruth Taylor Partnership Governor 2 out of 5 

Mr Brian Walker Patient Governor 1 out of 1 

Prof John Wallwork Partnership Governor 0 out of 5 

Dr John Wells Partnership Governor 4 out of 5 

Mr Lorne Williamson Public Governor 5 out of 5 

Dr Louisa Wood Patient Governor 4 out of 4 

 

There were five meetings of the Council of Governors during 2015/16. The chief 

executive, non-executive directors and executive directors also attended. 

 

Governor activities 

All governors and directors are invited to attend the two governor/director working 

groups on scrutiny and performance and communications and engagement which 

meet quarterly. The groups continue to ensure that the views of members, patients 

and the wider local community are brought directly to the directors, and also to 

ensure that governors are up-to-date on key issues of concern and interest. 

All governors and directors attend one or both of these groups. Governor access to 

papers is via the secure governors’ extranet where clicking on an event in the 

calendar brings up all associated documentation. In addition, governors are alerted 
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to upcoming events through a weekly digest which is emailed with Trust news, 

wider NHS news, relevant national policy initiatives and press coverage for the 

preceding week. All headlines are linked through to the extranet for further 

information. 

Governors continue to attend community groups throughout the local area on 

request to speak on issues of interest or concern. They ‘host’ focus groups led by 

the patient experience team which not only gives them an opportunity to hear 

patient views on certain key issues, but enables them to feedback information on 

Board decisions. Many governors and members use PLACE visits (Patient-Led 

Assessments of the Care Environment) to talk personally to patients/visitors and 

inspect the care surroundings. Similarly, the ‘Fifteen Steps’ initiative is used to 

enable governors to be involved first-hand in the patients’ experience of first 

entering a ward area. The governors and the membership office have dedicated 

mailboxes to allow members/public to contact governors directly and these are 

advertised in the ‘Members Matter’ newsletter and when out and about at events.  

Governors also continue to host the quarterly ‘Medicine for Members’ lecture series 

which this year saw the wide-ranging subjects of infectious diseases, obesity, 

autism spectrum conditions and brain injury in the new born infant discussed. All 

these give potentially wide access to a variety of patient, public and staff opinion on 

a variety of issues. 

A new initiative during the last twelve months has been to adapt the old-style staff 

governor surgeries and which had limited take-up, and go back to the team and 

departmental meeting set up, whereby staff governors are invited to attend a team 

or departmental meeting to converse with staff. A comment box provides the 

opportunity for anonymous participation where preferred and any themes are 

reported via the workforce committee for discussion. A ‘You said – we did’ response 

is then published on our ‘Connect’ pages on the intranet for staff to see. This is a 

wider-ranging, more direct and more personal way to interact with staff than the 

previous stalls held in the staff concourse during midday breaks. Public and patients 

stalls are still held twice a year in the concourse in order to publicise both the 

elections in March and the annual members’ meeting in September. 

The Senior Independent Director (SID) is key to ensuring open interaction and 

dialogue between members, governors and directors.  The lead governor and the 

SID work closely together. Governors meet informally with non-executive directors 

on a quarterly basis and separately with the Chief Executive, in order to be briefed 

directly at the highest level on Trust issues, priorities and developments as they 

arise. Governors are actively involved in the development of the annual plan and 

the Trust’s quality account.  

 

3.22 Remuneration report 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
Membership of the committee comprises Non-Executive Directors and the Chair 

with the Chief Executive in attendance for nomination responsibilities only. 

 

The committee is chaired by the Trust chair and met four times during 2015/16. 

 

The role of the committee is to: 

 Review the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and 

experience) required of the BoardBoard of Directors compared to its current 

position and makes recommendations for change when appropriate. It also 

considers succession planning arrangements for directors and other senior 

executives and is responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval of 
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the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise. 

(nomination responsibility). 

 Review the remuneration, allowances and other terms and conditions of office of 

executive directors. It also sets the objectives for Executive Directors and 

reviews their performance as part of the appraisal process. (remuneration 

responsibility). 

 

Membership of the committee 

Dallas Ariotti – from 1 June 2015 

Prof Lynne Berry – until 31 May 2015 

Dr Michael Knapton – current  

Professor Patrick Maxwell – current  

Dr Michael More – current 

Shirley Pointer – from 1 December 2015 

Professor Sharon Peacock – from 1 October 2015 

Dr Andrew Richards – current 

Jane Ramsey – current 

Dr Peter Southwick – current 

Dr Pat Troop – up to 30 September 2015 

 

Table 15 

Attendance at committee meetings 

Name Title Attendance 

out of 4 

unless 

otherwise 

stated 

Jane Ramsey Trust Chair 4 

Professor Lynne Berry Non-Executive Director 0 (out of 0) 

Dallas Ariotti Interim Associate Non-Executive 

Director 

3 

Dr Michael Knapton Non-Executive Director 1 

Professor Patrick Maxwell Non-Executive Director 3 

Dr Michael More Non-Executive Director 4 

Shirley Pointer Non-Executive Director 1 (out of 2) 

Professor Sharon Peacock Non-Executive Director 0 (out of 2) 

Dr Andrew Richards  Non-Executive Director 3 

Dr Peter Southwick Non-Executive Director 3 

Dr Pat Troop  Non-Executive Director 2 (out of 2) 
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Remuneration and performance conditions  

To determine Board of Director level salaries the Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee may use one or more of the following: 

 

 benchmarking data surveyed confidentially amongst CUH’s peer group 

 NHS Partners’ annual salary survey of NHS Chief Executives and Executive 

Directors 

 IDS NHS Boardroom pay report and other benchmark information 

 NHS and other relevant advertised jobs databases 

 the prevailing market position, including the ability to recruit and retain 

individuals  

 

Other than for the medical director, amendments to annual salary are decided by 

the Remuneration and Nomination Committee on the basis of the size and 

complexity of the job portfolio. Annual salary is inclusive of other payments such as 

bonus, overtime, long hours, on-call, standby, etc additional payments do not 

feature in executive directors’ remuneration. The Trust has no plans to introduce 

performance related pay. The Medical Director’s salary is in accordance with the 

terms and conditions of service of the consultant contract 2003 plus a responsibility 

allowance determined by the committee payable for the duration of office. 

Pay awards agreed nationally for other staff groups working at CUH, including staff 

on agenda for change contracts and medical and dental staff are determined by the 

Department of Health/NHS Pay Review Body, which looks at salaries and pay 

conditions across the NHS.   

In 2015/16, in light of the various changes to the executive team, the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee requested a review of the salaries of the 

Trust’s Executive Directors. This was commissioned from external experts in the 

field, the Hay Group. The results of this review were considered in March 2015 and 

then implemented over time by the committee.  

This review sought to look at relativities both internal and external to the NHS and 

the primary source of consideration was the Shelford Group of NHS Trusts. The 

outcome was that the committee used a Shelford average as an indicative salary 

for CUH Executive Directors. 

During 2015/16 a new Chief Executive was appointed. The committee worked in 

partnership with its regulator Monitor to agree the Chief Executive salary taking 

into consideration their previous level of remuneration. 

The Chief Executive and Executive Director performance is measured against 

objectives set at the beginning of the financial year and agreed by the committee. 

The annualised cost of the highest paid director in Cambridge University Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust in the financial year was £380,897.  This relates to payments 

made to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) for the period 2 November 2015 to 31 

March 2016 of £158,707 which have been annualised.  These payments were for 

the services of Iain Alexander, a partner at PwC, who is seconded from PwC to the 

Trust as Interim Chief Finance Officer.  On this basis, the annualised cost of the 

highest paid director was 17.04 times (year ended 31 March 2015, 11.7) the 

median remuneration of the workforce, which was £22,352 (year ended 31 March 

2015, £22,509). 
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Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments 
Table 16 

Executive Director contractual terms 

 

Executive director  Date in post Unexpired term notice 
Chief Executive  16.11.15 Permanent Six months 

Chief Nurse 01.03.14  Permanent  Six months 

Chief Operating Officer 29.07.15 Interim  N/A 

Medical Director  01.04.08 2 years Six months  

Chief Finance Officer  2.11.2015 Interim, on 

secondment from 

PWC  

N/A 

Director of Workforce  01.04.14 Permanent  Six months  

 

There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination 

of executive directors’ contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy is 

subject to the normal provisions of the ‘Agenda for Change: NHS terms and 

conditions of service’ handbook (section 16); or, for those above the minimum 

retirement age, early termination by reason of redundancy or ‘in the interests of 

the efficiency of the service’ is in accordance with the NHS Pension Scheme.  

Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination 

by reason of early retirement are subject to the normal provisions of the NHS 

Pension Scheme.  

 

Statement of directors’ remuneration  

Table 17 

Statement of directors’ remuneration 2015/16 
 
Name of 

senior 
manager 

Job title (and 

period of 
office if 
relevant) 

Salary & 

fees (in 
bands of 
£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 

£5k) 

All 

taxable 
benefits 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 

 

£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

Other 

(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
£s  
(nearest 

£100) 

All 

pension-
related 
benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s  

(Band of 

£2.5k) 

Total 

(bands 
of £5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

Mr Roland 
Sinker 

Chief Executive 
from 

16/11/2015 

90 - 95 8,900 
 

 
- 

 

360.0 -
362.5 

460 - 
465 

Dr Keith 
McNeil 

Chief Executive 
to 15/09/2015 

275 -280  
- 
 

 
- 
 

52.5 -55.0 330 -335 

Dr Jag 

Ahluwalia 

Executive 

Medical Director  

215-220  

- 
 

 482.5 -

485.0 

700 -705 

Ms Evelyn 

Barker 

Chief Operating 

Officer from 
29/07/2015 

175 -180 #  

- 
 

 

- 
 

 

- 
 

175 -180 

Mrs 
Frances 
Cousins 

Chief Operating 
Officer to 
28/07/2015 

60 -65  
- 
 

 
- 
 

15.0 - 17.5 75 - 80 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
55 

 

Mr Iain 
Alexander 

Chief Financial 
Officer from 
02/11/2015 

150 -155 #  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

150 -155 

Mr 
Jonathan 
Rowell 

Chief Financial 
Officer from 
15/09/2015 to 
01/11/2015 

5 -10  
- 
 

 
- 
 

85.0 - 87.5 90 - 95 

Mr Paul 
James 

Chief Financial 
Officer to 

14/09/2015 

170 -175  
- 

 

 
- 

 

207.5 -
210.0 

380 -385 

Ms Ann-
Marie Ingle 

Chief Nurse 150 -155  
- 

 

 
- 

 

32.5 -35.0 185 -190 

Mr David 
Wherrett 

Director of 
Workforce plus 
Chief Executive 
Officer from 
16/09/2015 to 
15/11/2015 

140 -145  
- 
 

 
- 
 

0.0 2.5 140 -145 

Ms Jane 
Ramsey 

Chair 55 -60  
- 
 

 
9,700 
*** 

 

 
- 
 

65 -70 

Ms Dallas 

Ariotti 

Non-Executive 

Director from 
01/06/2015 

10 -15  

- 
 

 

- 
 

 

- 
 

10 -15 

Professor 
Sharon 
Peacock 

Non-Executive 
Director from 
01/10/2015 

5 -10  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

5 -10 

Mrs Shirley 
Pointer ** 

Non-Executive 
Director from 
01/12/2015 

- -5  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

0 - 5 

Dr Michael 
Knapton 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 

 

 
- 

 

 
- 

 

10 -15 

Dr Peter 
Southwick 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Mike 

More 

Non-Executive 

Director 

15 - 20  

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

15 -20 

Dr Andy 
Richards 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 - 15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Pat 
Troop 

Non-Executive 
Director to 
30/09/2015 

5 - 10  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

5 -10 

Ms Lynne 
Berry 

Non-Executive 
Director to 

31/05/2015 

0 -5  
- 

 

 
- 

 

 
- 

 

0 -5 
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Table 18 

Statement of directors remuneration 2014/15 
 

Name of 
senior 
manager 

 Job title (and 
period of 
office if 

relevant) 

Salary & 
fees (in 
bands of 

£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

All 
taxable 
benefits 

(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 

(nearest 

£100) 

Other 
(total to 
the 

nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

All 
pension-
related 

benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s 
 
(Band of 

£2.5k) 

Total 
(bands 
of £5k) 

£000s 
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

Dr Keith 
McNeil 

Chief Executive 260 -265  
- 
 

 
- 
 

85.0 - 87.5 345 - 
350 

Dr Jag 

Ahluwalia 

Executive 

Medical Director  

75-80  

- 
 

132,500 47.5 - 50.0 255 -260 

Mrs 
Frances 
Cousins 

Chief Operating 
Officer 

140 -145  
- 
 

 
- 
 

42.5 - 45.0 190 -195 

Mr Paul 
James 

Chief Financial 
Officer from 
28/07/2014 

120- 125  
- 
 

 
- 
 

22.5 - 25.0 140 -145 

Mr Richard 
Eley 

Interim Chief 
Finance Officer 

to 27/07/2014 

105 -110  
- 

 

 
- 

 

 
- 

 

105 - 
110 

Ms Ann-
Marie Ingle 

Chief Nurse 
from 
01/03/2014 

130 -135  
- 
 

 
- 
 

695.0 - 
697.5 

825 -830 

Mr David 
Wherrett 

Director of 
Workforce from 
01/04/2014 

140 -145  
- 
 

 
- 
 

1,005.0 -
1,007.5 

1150 - 
1155 

Ms Jane 
Ramsey 

Chair 55 - 60  
- 
 

9,500 
*** 

 

 
- 
 

65 - 70 

Dr Andy 
Richards 

Non-Executive 
Director from 

29/05/2014 

10 -15  
- 

 

 
- 

 

 
- 

 

10 -15 

Dr Pat 

Troop 

Non-Executive 

Director 

10 -15  

- 
 

 

- 
 

 

- 
 

10 - 15 

Ms Lynne 
Berry 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Michael 
Knapton 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Mr Peter 
Southwick 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 

 

 
- 

 

 
- 

 

10 -15 

Dr Mike 
More 

Non-Executive 
Director 

15 -20  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

15 -20 
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* Remuneration for the Medical Director includes £142,500 which relates to his 

contract as a Neo-Natal Consultant; the remaining £75,000 represents his salary 

for the Medical Director role.’ 

** Start date 01/12/2015, but salary started in Feb 2016 

*** Hospital accommodation benefits as agreed by Council of Governors and incurs 

tax and national insurance. 

 

Salary and pensions entitlements of senior managers do not include any 

remuneration paid to Non-Executive Director Professor Patrick Maxwell, the Regius 

Professor of Physic of the University of Cambridge, as he is paid directly by the 

University of Cambridge.  The Trust paid £14k to the University of Cambridge in 

recognition of his time spent at Board meetings.  

 

# Directors paid through a third part - the values included here are Net of VAT 

 
The Trust’s Remuneration and Nomination Committee oversees pay arrangements 

for posts whose salary is not determined through national term and conditions.  

This includes but not limited to very senior managers, including the executive 

directors and non-voting Board members.  The Committee is mindful of discharging 

its obligations in respect of ensuring that where salaries are above the Prime 

Minister’s salary of £142,500 pa as set out DH, treasury and our regulators 

(including that set out in the Department of Health letter to Trusts in June 2015).  

It considers each new post and the process to be followed in an individual basis. 

 

 
Statement of directors’ pension benefit  

On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the 

Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate 

from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report.  

Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, 

the CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are 

based on the previous discount rate and have not been recalculated. 

The pension entitlements for employees who left during the year are based on 31 

March 2016 values as provided by the NHS Pensions Agency. 
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Table 19 

Statement of directors’ pension benefit 

 

Name and title 
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Roland Sinker – Chief Executive Officer from 

16/11/2015 

17.5 - 20 - 15 - 20 - - 158 158 - 

                

Dr Keith McNeil – Chief Executive Officer to 
15/09/2015 

2.5 - 5 - 10 - 15 - 135 42 177 - 

                

Dr Jag Ahluwalia – Executive  
Medical Director  

20 - 22.5 62.5-65 70 - 75 215 - 220 1000 429 1429 - 

                

Evelyn Barker – Interim Chief Operating 
Officer from 29/07/2015 

- - - - - - - - 

                

Mrs Frances Cousins – Chief Operating 

Office to 28/07/2015 

0 - 2.5 0 - (2.5) 30 - 35 95 - 100 479 12 491 - 

                

Mr Iain Alexander – Chief Financial Officer 
from 02/11/2015 

- - - - - - - - 
             

Mr Jonathan Rowell – Interim Chief 
Financial Officer from 15/09/2015 to 
02/11/2015 

2.5 - 5 5 - 7.5 20 - 25 55 - 60 212 49 261 - 

                

Mr Paul James – Chief Financial Officer to 

14/09/2015 

10 - 12.5 - 10 - 15 - 19 176 195 - 

                

Ms Ann-Marie Ingle – Chief Nurse 
0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 30 - 35 95 - 100 545 35 580 - 

        
Mr David Wherrett – Director of Workforce 

plus Interim Chief Executive Officer from 
16/09/2015 to 15/11/2015 

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 40 - 45 130 - 135 769 8 777 - 

                

Included within salary and fees are contractual payments in lieu of notice where applicable.
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Statement of directors’ and governors’ expenses 

Directors and governors are reimbursed for expenses incurred on Trust business in 

accordance with agreed Trust policies. Where applicable, these are subject to 

income tax and national insurance in accordance with HMRC legislation and 

guidance. 

 

Table 20 

Governors’ expenses  
 

Name 
Mileage 

(Car/Cycle) 
Rail/bus 

Travel Taxis 
Meals & 
parking Other 

Total  
2015/16 

Total 
2014/15 

Daryl Brown £634.05 £0.00 £0.00 £88.40 £0.00 £722.45 £0.00 

Helen Burchmore N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 

Tom Bygott £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Christina Champion N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 

Dawn Chapman £194.40 £0.00 £0.00 £82.30 £0.00 £276.70 N/A 

Tony Coad £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Nick Cork £0.00 £506.25 £39.40 £5.00 £0.00 £550.65 N/A 

Jane Coston £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Carlos de la Riva £27.36 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £27.36 £40.70 

Maureen Donnelly £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Robert Dryden £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Judith Ewer N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £622.34 

Gill Francis N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 

Anna Gallop £292.50 £0.00 £0.00 £61.50 £185.00 £539.00 £466.90 

Roberto Gherseni £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Elizabeth Howe £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Roger Hickford £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

David Humber N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 

Liz Hunt £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Fred Jacobsberg £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £7.00 

Stephen Legood £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Peter Lester £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Julia Loudon £598.95 £30.00 £0.00 £77.10 £0.00 £706.05 N/A 

Andrew Lever £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Wendy Menon £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Fraz Mir £0.00 £44.10 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £44.10 N/A 

Ciara Moore £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Jonathan Nicholls £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Georgina Pharaoh N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £363.30 

Keith Spencer N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 

Jean Swanson N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 

Eric Revell £202.50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £202.50 £0.00 

Tony Roberts £113.40 £0.00 £0.00 £19.80 £0.00 £133.20 £156.90 
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Name 
Mileage 

(Car/Cycle) 
Rail/bus 

Travel Taxis 
Meals & 
parking Other 

Total  
2015/16 

Total 
2014/15 

Patrick Smith £324.00 £16.75 £0.00 £60.00 £0.00 £400.75 £453.25 

Ruth Taylor £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Brian Walker £35.55 £0.00 £0.00 £10.80 £0.00 £46.35 £275.80 

John Wallwork £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

John Wells £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Lorne Williamson £71.82 £0.00 £0.00 £51.30 £0.00 £123.12 £308.10 

Louisa Wood £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Bev Woolmer N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £27.00 

 

In 2014/15 governors claimed for conference fees and these are included in the 

2014/15 totals, no claims have made against these headings in 2015/16 and 

therefore not included as a separate heading in the table above for 2015/16.  

 

Table 21 

Directors’ expenses  
 

Name 

Mileage 

Car/Cycle Rail Travel Taxis Hotels 

Meals & 

parking 

Total – 

2014/15 

Total – 

2015/16 

Jag Ahluwalia £55.80 £157.50 £8.80 £0.00 £40.40 £1,319.37 £262.50 

Iain Alexander £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Dallas Ariotti £180.00 £742.90 £0.00 £237.80 £0.00 £0.00 £1,160.70 

Evelyn Barker £0.00 £31.50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £31.50 

Lynne Berry £0.00 £0.00 £10.00 £0.00 £0.00 £226.45 £10.00 

Frances Cousins £0.00 £95.00 £78.30 £0.00 £0.00 £578.58 £173.30 

Richard Eley £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £40.20 £0.00 

Ann-Marie Ingle £65.25 £117.40 £4.87 £0.00 £14.00 £2,723.00 £201.52 

Paul James £0.00 £314.45 £54.00 £0.00 £0.00 £79.25 £357.25 

Mike Knapton £0.00 £0.00 £7.20 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £7.20 

Keith McNeil £0.00 £824.80 £12.00 £0.00 £0.00 £9,419.56     £836.80 

Patrick Maxwell £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Mike More £0.00 £251.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £158.40 £251.00 

Sharon Peacock £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Shirley Pointer £291.15 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £27.00 £0.00 £318.15 

Jonathan Rowell £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Andy Richards  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Jane Ramsey £0.00 £1,834.00  £295.90 £0.00 £0.00 £4,509.58 £2,129.90 

Roland Sinker £0.00 £18.00 £23.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £41.00 

Peter Southwick £424.80 £0.00 £24.80 £0.00 £184.10 £410.40 £633.70 

Pat Troop £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £5.00 £0.00 

David Wherrett* £0.00 £706.50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £3,026.58 £706.50 

 

In 2014/15 directors claimed for air travel, conference fees and others items and 

these are included in the 2014/15 totals, no claims have made against these 
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headings in 2015/16 and therefore not included as a separate heading in the table 

above for 2015/16.  

 

* The Trust receives reimbursement from NHS Employers for expenses relating to 

the NHS Staff Council. 

 

 
 

 

Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive  
25 May 2016 

 

 

3.23 Staff report  
Staff numbers 
As of 31 March 2016 the Trust had 15 directors (eight male and seven female) and 

8,928 employees (2,275 male and 6,653 female). 

 

Table 22 

Average staff numbers 
  

Average 
number of 

employees 
(WTE basis) 

 

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 

   
 

Total Permanent Other Total Permanent Other 

   

 

Number Number Number Number Number  Number  
 Medical and 

dental  
  1,281 1,237 44 1,259 1,191 68 

 Ambulance 
staff  

  0 0 0 0     

 Administration 
and estates  

  1,763 1,594 169 1,746 1,535 211 

 Healthcare 
assistants and 
other support 
staff  

  252 252 0 211 211   

 Nursing, 
midwifery and 
health visiting 
staff  

  3,614 3,614 0 3,439 3,439   

 Nursing, 

midwifery and 
health visiting 
learners  

  0 0 0 0     

 Scientific, 

therapeutic 
  1,066 1,065 1 1,036 1,034 2 
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and technical 
staff  

Healthcare 

science staff 
  0 0 0 0     

 Social care 
staff  

  0 0 0 0     

 Agency and 
contract staff 

  519   519 472   472 

 
Bank staff   0 0 0 0     

 
Other   105 105 0 115 115   

 Total 

average 
numbers 

  8,600 7,867 733 8,278 7,525 753 

 
Of which               

 Number of 
employees (WTE) 
engaged on capital 
projects 
  

0 0 0 0 0 0 

  

Recruitment and retention 
To support our recruitment and retention strategy the following is in place: 

 

 work/life balance schemes to offer opportunities for part time hours and flexible 

working along with comprehensive childcare facilities (two on-site nurseries and 

access to a local discounted holiday play scheme) 

 ‘Advantage’ salary sacrifice scheme offering a wide range of options for staff to 

make tax and NI savings: including on-site nursery fees, childcare vouchers, 

professional/regulatory fees, bicycles for work, work-related training, car lease 

scheme, on-site car parking, laptops, phones  

 annual leave purchase scheme  

 eldercare/family support schemes 

 NHS pension scheme 

 a range of on-site facilities – leisure and social centre (Frank Lee Centre) 

 comprehensive range of staff engagement surveys and many joint working 

initiatives with staff and trade unions 

 occupational health service and Care First counselling service and a range of 

health and well-being initiatives 

 onsite shopping and eating services 

 range of leadership and employee development opportunities along with 

continuous professional development 

 relocation assistance to provide financial support for nurses who move home to 

work at CUH 

 employee referral scheme which offers a monetary incentive for employees to 

refer potential nursing candidates who are successfully employed by CUH 

 exit questionnaire in which leavers are contacted and given the opportunity to 

feed back so that we can improve our employees’ experience at work 

 deposit loan scheme of up to £3,000 of all staff Bands 1 – 6 to cover the first 

month’s rent and deposit for a new property, open to both starters and existing 

staff 
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Our role as a local employer 
CUH is an important local employer and always looks for ways to develop its role 

and to work with the local community to develop pathways into employment for 

disadvantaged groups. We offer a range of schemes: work experience, traineeships, 

voluntary worker schemes, apprenticeships and work with the long-term 

unemployed including the Prince’s Trust. We continue to provide a comprehensive 

apprenticeship scheme and are committed to maintaining this. 

 

Information about staff sickness  
.  

 The average number of sick days per whole time equivalent employee in 2015/16 

was 10 days. 

 

Equality and diversity 
The Trust is using the NHS equality delivery system (EDS2) as a tool to use as 

evidence of compliance with the public sector equality duty (PSED) to engage with 

the public and staff and agree equality objectives. The Trust’s equality performance 

was rated as ‘Green achieving’ by a community EDS rating panel on 24 March 

2015. The next EDS RAG rating is being planned for June. Our patient profile and 

workforce equality monitoring, EDS2 rating summary report and EDS improvement 

plan is published on the Trust’s website http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-

responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/nhs-equality-delivery-system-eds .  

 

Our Workforce Race Equality Standard report is published on the Trust public 

website http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-

diversity/workforce-race-equality-standard-wres-report 

  

The Trust is not only committed to fulfilling its legislative requirements but to go 

beyond what is legally required and to be an exemplar of best practice. 

 

Disabled employees  
The Trust is a ‘Positive about Disabled People’ (Two Ticks) disability symbol user 

and each year is assessed for reviewing the disability symbol commitments. 

The Trust is a signatory of the ‘Mindful Employer Charter’ for ‘Employers who are 

Positive about Mental Health’. 

 

Health and safety 
The Health and Safety Committee continued to oversee health and safety in 

2015/16. Activities this year include: 

 

 A review of membership of the Health and Safety Committee has led to the 

appointment of Divisional Health and Safety representatives attending each 

committee. These representatives escalate health and safety concerns and 

issues from their areas where they are unable to be resolved locally. 

 Two new sub-committees have been formed under the health and safety 

committee. These are estates H&S and health at work. The purpose of these 

committees is to review operational and strategic risks and consider plans for 

mitigation as appropriate. 

 Two additional posts have been funded to strengthen the current health and 

safety resource. These posts are currently in the recruitment stage and are 

expected to be filled by the summer. 

http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/nhs-equality-delivery-system-eds
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/nhs-equality-delivery-system-eds
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/workforce-race-equality-standard-wres-report
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/workforce-race-equality-standard-wres-report
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 The Trust declared its compliance with the health and safety ‘Sharp Instruments 

in Healthcare Regulations’ 2013. The work overseen by the safer sharps 

steering group ensures the Trust selects and procures devices that are fitted 

with safety mechanisms to reduce the risk of accidental sharps injuries 

(exceptions are given where safety devices compromise patient safety or safe 

practice). 

 Work to ensure that the levels of nitrous oxide in the maternity-led birthing unit 

and delivery unit are below the Workplace Exposure Level (WEL) has been 

completed with the implementation of a permanent scavenging system in the 

birthing unit and the Delivery Unit. Follow-up monitoring of the areas has shown 

that the new controls are working efficiently. 

 A new stress risk assessment procedure has been written and will be rolled out 

next year to assist managers with the management of stress in their work 

areas. This will be accompanied by bespoke stress training. 

 

Occupational health 
Cambridge Health at Work (department of CUH) provides a full range of 

occupational health services to CUH staff and private and public sector 

organisations in the local area. We are very proud that we continue to meet 

stringent standards of our Safe Effective Quality Occupational Health Service 

(SEQOHS) accreditation. The department strives to provide quality occupational 

health and wellbeing services to teams and specialities across the organisation.  

Over the last year, Cambridge Health at Work has increased its external fee-paying 

activity increasingly revenue by 7% further reducing the cost to the Trust for 

providing its service to NHS colleagues. We are proud to provide the occupational 

health service for West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, working closely with their HR 

and leadership teams. We are delighted to have formed a partnership with 

Cambridge and Peterborough Foundation Trust and their psychological wellbeing 

service this year. Through this special relationship we are able to provide support to 

colleagues here on the campus in a timely and specialist way. We are equally 

pleased with progress in increasing the take-up by Trust staff of the flu vaccination. 

CUH finished the programme higher than the national average rate. We aspire to 

further enhance our portfolio of services in the coming year and form new 

partnerships with other specialist providers. 

 

Counter fraud  
CUH has taken all reasonable steps to comply with the requirements set out in the 

code of conduct for NHS managers, and has a named individual nominated to 

provide the lead local counter fraud specialist function, who is an accredited counter 

fraud specialist. When that specialist is absent, arrangements have been made to 

ensure that specialist assistance is available. 

Under the NHS Standard Contract for 2016-2017, all organisations providing NHS 

services (providers) must put in place and maintain appropriate anti-crime 

arrangements. CUH fully complies with this requirement. 

 

Standards of business conduct and the Bribery Act 
The Bribery Act 2010 has been in force since July 2011. This act creates the 

offences of offering, promising or giving a bribe, requesting, agreeing to receive or 

accepting a bribe, bribing a foreign public official and the corporate offence of 

failing to prevent bribery. We have a clear standard of business conduct policy, 

which includes our zero-tolerance approach to bribery. Our stance is equally strong 

and clear in relation to those associated with or contracting with the Trust, and we 
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avoid doing business with any individuals and organisations who fail to demonstrate 

their commitment to operate fairly, openly and honestly. Doing business 

transparently and preventing bribery is important in safeguarding the proper use of 

public money and resources, and a clear stance also provides patients, other 

customers, potential contractors and business partners as well as our governors 

and members with confidence that we will act in a transparent and fair way. This in 

turn protects our Trusted position within our community and our reputation as a 

leading national and international centre for specialist treatment, education and 

research.  

CUH has in place a number of procedures for the prevention of bribery, including a 

clear whistle-blowing policy and procedure, and a local counter-fraud specialist. In 

addition, we keep a publicly-available register of interests for directors, governors 

and staff as well as a hospitality register. All staff have a role to play, but 

individuals with specific responsibility for implementing bribery-prevention 

procedures include the Board of Directors, the Trust Secretary, and our managers, 

both clinical and non-clinical. 

We work closely with colleagues both within and outside the NHS to support a 

concerted effort to promote fair, honest and open operations and to prevent 

bribery, for the ultimate benefit of the patients and public we serve. 

 

Staff survey 
The Trust has a rolling programme of internal staff surveys as well as participating 

in the NHS national staff survey. These surveys help the Trust measure staff 

engagement and develop plans to address key themes. Until the 2014 national staff 

survey our staff engagement score had consistently been in the top 20% compared 

with other acute NHS Trusts. 2014 was a year of considerable challenge and this 

was borne out in the responses we received in our staff surveys. The results from 

the 2015 national staff survey are much more encouraging with significant 

improvements in the areas of staff engagement, confidence in reporting concerns 

and willingness to recommend the service. Whilst we have seen a significant 

number of improvements, areas of concern that remain include work pressures, 

bullying and harassment and concerns over staffing levels. These will inform the 

organisation’s staff engagement and experience plan 2016-17. 

 

Table 23 

2015 five top ranking (TR) scores (against key findings – KF) 
 
*Period of survey Oct-Dec 2015 2012 

CUH 
score 

2013  
CUH 
score 

2014 
CUH 
score 

2015 
CUH  
score 

2015 average 
score for 
acute Trusts 

KF 11 (was 7) Staff who had received 
an appraisal/ review in previous 12 
months (high % is better score)  
(CUH achieved top 20% score) 

90% 93%  

 

95% 95% 86% 

(acute Trust 
best score 95%) 

KF 15  Staff satisfied with the 
opportunities for flexible working 
patterns   

(high % is better score)           
(CUH achieved top 20% score) 

No data No data No data 54% 49 %  

(acute Trust 
best score  
58%) 

KF 25 (was 18) Staff who had 
experienced 
harassment/bullying/abuse from 
patients/relatives in previous 12 
months 

26% 23% 

 

25% 24% 28% 

(acute Trust 
best score 19%) 
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(low % is better score)  
(CUH achieved top 20%) 

KF 18 (was 20) Staff who had felt 
pressure to come to work when unwell 
in the previous 3 months*  

(low % is better score)           
(CUH achieved top 20% score) 

No data No data  

 

 

59% 52% 59% 

(acute Trust 
best score 46%) 

KF 23 Staff experiencing physical 
violence from staff in last 12 months  
(low % is better score)  
(CUH achieved better than average) 

3% 
(approx. 
13 staff) 

0%  

(1 staff 
member) 

3% (60 
staff) 

1%  

(57 
staff) 

2% 

(acute Trust 
best score 0%) 

 

Table 24 

2015 five bottom ranking (BR) scores (against key Findings – KF) 
 

The key findings for which CUH compares least favourably with other acute 
Trust and of which the Trust will be monitored by CQC on implementation of 
action for improvement 

 

*Period of survey Oct-Dec 2015 2012 
CUH 
score 

2013 
CUH 
score 

2014 
CUH 
score 

2015 
CUH 
score 

2015 average 
score for 
acute Trusts 

KF8  Staff who are satisfied with 
their level of responsibility and 
involvement   (high % is better 
score) (Score out of 5)   

(CUH in lowest 20%) 

No data No data 

 

3.74 3.86 3.91 

(best acute 
score: 4.08) 

KF27 Staff reporting most recent 
experience of harassment, 
bullying or abuse   

(high % is better score) 

No data No data 

 

No data 33% 37% 

(best acute 
score: 52%) 

KF 21 Staff who believe that the 
organisation provides equal 
opportunities for career 
progression or promotion     

(high is better score)  

(CUH in lowest 20%) 

93% 89% 85% 83% 87% (best acute 
score: 96% 

KF 16 (was 5) % Staff working 
extra hours  

(low % is better score)  

(CUH in highest (worst) 20%) 

68%  73% 

 

79% 76% 72% 

(best acute 
score: 61%) 

KF 14 Staff satisfied with 
resourcing and support (higher is 

better score; Score out of 5)  

(CUH in lowest 20%) 

No data No data No data 3.22 3.3 (best acute 

score: 3.66) 

 

Future priorities and targets 
Statement of key priority areas 

Divisions and corporate areas are currently identifying their local priority areas for 

action. From an organisational perspective, the key priority areas will include: 

 resourcing – ensuring that we have the right staff with the right skills in the 

right time 

 health and wellbeing 

 communication 

 personal development 
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Data from staff surveys will also be cross-referenced with information from other 

key sources of staff feedback and patient experience  

 
 
Monitoring arrangements  

Once the staff engagement action plan has been finalised and communicated, 

progress will be monitored through the workforce experience committee meetings 

which reports into the Trust Board. 

 
Future priorities and how they will be measured 

Performance will be monitored upon receipt of national staff survey 2016 and local 

staff engagement results to determine levels of improvement. 

 

Off-payroll engagements  
Table 25 

Off-payroll arrangements 

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per day and 
that last longer than six months 

No. of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016 12 

Of which:  

  No. that have existed for less than 1 year at the time of reporting 9 

  No. that have existed for between 1-2 years at the time of reporting 3 

  No. that have existed for between 2-3 years at the time of reporting 0 

  No. that have existed for between 3-4 years at the time of reporting 0 

  No. that have existed for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

  No. that have existed for less than 1 year at the time of reporting 0 

 

For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per day and that last 
longer than six months 

No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration 

between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 

12 

No. of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the 

right to request assurance in relation to income tax and national 

insurance obligations 

3 

No. for whom assurance has been requested 7 

  Of which:  

  No. for whom assurance has been received 6 

  No. for whom assurance has not been received 1 

  No. terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

 

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 

No. of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior 

officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 

2 

No. of individuals that have been deemed Board members and/or senior 

officials with significant financial responsibility. This figure includes both 

off-payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

6 
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Details of the off-payroll engagement of Board members, and/or senior official with 
significant financial responsibility 

Iain Alexander – Interim Chief Financial Officer, from November 2015 

Evelyn Barker – Interim Chief Operating Officer, from April 2015 

Exit packages 
Exit packages are accounted for in full in the year of departure.  

 
Table 26 

Exit packages 

 

2015/16 

 
Exit package 
cost band 
(including any 
special 
payment 
element)  
  

Number 
of 

compulso
ry 

redundan
cies 

 
Number 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
 
 
 
 

£000s 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

 
 
 

Number 

Cost of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

 
 
 

£000s 

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages 

 
 
 

Number 

Total 
cost of 

exit 
packages 

 
 
 

£000s 

Number of 
departures 

where 
special 

payments 
have been 

made 
Number 

<£10,000   9 62 0 0 9 62 0 

£10,001 - 

£25,000 
  6 107 0 0 6 107 0 

£25,001 - 

50,000 
  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£50,001 - 

£100,000 
  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£100,001 

- 

£150,000 

  4 465 0 0 4 465 0 

£150,001 

- 

£200,000 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

>£200,00

0 
  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total   19 634 0 0 19 634 0 

 

         2014/15 

 
Exit package 
cost band 
(including any 

special 
payment 
element)  

Number 
of 

compulso
ry 

redundan
cies 

Number 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
£000s 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Number 

Cost of 
other 

departures 
agreed 
£000s 

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages 

Total 
cost of 

exit 
packages 

Number of 
departures 

where 
special 

payments 
have been 

made 

Number £000s Number 

<£10,000   7 48     7 48   

£10,001 - 

£25,000 
  10 163     10 163   
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£25,001 - 

50,000 
  4 151     4 151   

£50,001 - 

£100,000 
  5 336     5 336   

£100,001 

- 

£150,000 

          0 0   

£150,001 

- 

£200,000 

          0 0   

>£200,00

0 
          0 0   

Total   26 698 0 0 26 698 0 

 

 

3.24 Code of governance  
The Trust has reviewed our compliance with the ‘NHS Foundation Trust code of 

governance’. As a result of this review, we consider that CUH complies with the 

main and supporting principles of the code of governance. This includes the issue of 

whether or not all of the NEDs are independent in accordance with code provision 

B1.1.  The Board of Directors has determined that all of the NEDs are independent 

in character and judgement. This includes the appointed representative of 

University of Cambridge, Professor Patrick Maxwell, the Regius Professor of Physic, 

notwithstanding the Trust’s relationship during this reporting period with the 

University of Cambridge, School of Clinical Medicine and with Cambridge University 

Health Partners (CUHP). 

In relation to the more detailed provisions of the code of governance, CUH is 

compliant with the provisions with the following exceptions: 

B.1.3 The chair held a position of partner governor of Papworth Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust and the chair of Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a 

partner governor of the CUH Council of Governors. The chief nurse now represents 

the Trust as a partner governor on the Council of Governors on Papworth Hospital 

NHS Foundation Trust. During the reporting period the director of people and 

business development of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust 

was a partner governor on the CUH Council of Governors.  

 

3.25 Regulatory ratings 
Monitor award NHS foundation Trusts regulatory ratings based on self-certification 

received from Trusts in their annual plan, in-year quarterly submissions and any 

exception reports, including any latter from third parties.  

The ratings awarded at the start of each year are based on expected performance 

at the time of the annual risk assessment in our annual plan. The quarterly ratings 

are based on actual performance reported to Monitor via the in-year submissions.  
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Table 27 

Regulatory ratings 2015/16 – under the risk assessment framework 
 

2015/16 Annual 
Plan  

Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4  

Continuity of 
service 
rating  

2 1     1    1        1      

Governance 
rating 
 

Red   Red Red    Special 

measures 

TBC 

 

In our annual plan we declared risks against the following four targets: 

 18-week RTT incomplete pathways 

 four-hour wait in A&E 

 cancer 62-day urgent standard/screening waits 

 cancer 2-week all/breast symptoms waits 

 

This equated to 4.0 service performance score and a red rating for governance from 

Monitor. 

In quarter 1 the Trust was non-compliant against the 18-week referral to treatment 

(RTT) incomplete pathways, cancer 62-day urgent standard wait, cancer 31-day 

subsequent treatment for surgery, cancer 31-day wait for first treatment, cancer 2-

week waits and 4-hour wait in A&E (Trust four-hour standard) targets. The 31-day 

cancer standards did have a recovery trajectory of quarter one and were not 

declared as risk in the annual plan, but given performance levels at the time 

(during quarter one) the recovery will slip to quarter two.  

The CQC undertook a planned inspection of the Trust in the week commencing 20 

April 2015. The draft report of the findings was expected during quarter two. For 

CUH, the quality summit was planned for the 27 July. A Section 31 enforcement 

action was issued to CUH on 30 April 2015, but it was later removed on 26 May 

2015. As at time of submission of the Monitor quarter one return (to 31 July 2015), 

the Trust has no CQC compliance actions outstanding or enforcement actions in 

effect. Also the Trust had no moderate or major CQC concerns/impacts regarding 

the safety of healthcare provision in place. Therefore the Trust was able to declare 

on-going compliance with the minimum standards of CQC registration.                                                                                                                                                                                    

In quarter two the Trust was non-compliant against the RTT incomplete pathways, 

cancer 62-day urgent waits, cancer 31-day subsequent treatment for surgery, 

cancer 31-day wait for first treatment, cancer 2-week all cancer wait and four-hour 

wait in A&E (Trust four-hour standard) targets. This equated to the same 6.0 

service performance score as in the previous quarter. The draft report of the CQC 

findings following their visit in quarter one was made available on the 31 July, the 

Trust responded to the factual accuracy on 20 August 2015. The quality summit 

took place on 10 September. The final CQC inspection report was published on 22 

September with an overall rating of ‘inadequate’. On the basis of the inspection 

Professor Sir Mike Richards, chief inspector of hospitals, recommended the Trust be 

placed in special measures. The CQC report made a number of recommendations 

with 15 ‘must do’ actions and 12 ‘should do’ actions. These represent the legal 

requirements that are not being met and relate to the following regulations:   

 Regulation 12 safe care and treatment 

 Regulation 17 good governance 
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 Regulation 18 staffing 

 Regulation 15 premises and equipment 

 Regulation 11 need for consent.                                                                                   

The Trust submitted an improvement plan to Monitor detailing the actions the Trust 

is taking to meet these requirements. Therefore in quarter two the Trust unable to 

declare compliance with the minimum standards of CQC registration.                                                                                                   

For quarter 3, performance had improved in line with our action plans, and the 

Trust was non-compliant against only the RTT incomplete pathways and four-hour 

wait in A&E (Trust four-hour standard) targets. The recovery plan submitted to 

Monitor in October 2015 reported compliance with these targets from quarter 1 

2016/17 onwards. The Trust was unable to declare compliance with the minimum 

standards of CQC registration for quarter 3.                                                                                                   

In quarter four the Trust declared non-compliance against the RTT incomplete 

pathways, cancer 62-day urgent standard and four-hour wait in A&E (Trust four-

hour standard) targets. The revised recovery plan trajectories submitted to Monitor 

and the NHS improvement portal in March 2016 reported compliance with the RTT 

standard from September 2016 onwards. The Trust is expecting cancer 62-day 

urgent wait performance to be recovered from April, and that we will be back on 

line with our trajectory for quarter 1 2016/17. The revised recovery plan 

trajectories submitted to Monitor and the NHS improvement portal in March 2016 is 

to achieve the four-hour wait in A&E from June 2016 onwards.                                                                                                                          

On Tuesday 09 and Wednesday 10 February the CQC completed a ‘mini’ re-

inspection of the three core service areas rated as ‘inadequate’; outpatients & 

diagnostics; maternity & gynaecology; and responsiveness of surgery. The draft 

report from this inspection is due end April 2016. Therefore the Trust was unable to 

declare compliance with the minimum standards of CQC registration for quarter 

four. Monthly stakeholder assurance meetings overseeing the Trust improvement 

plan continue with Monitor. Monitor has yet to feedback their position on the 

governance rating for quarter 4. 

The Trust achieved a year-end Continuity of Service Risk Rating (CSRR) of 1, 

against the planned CSRR of 2. 

 
Table 28 

Regulatory ratings 2014/15 – under the risk assessment framework 
 

2014/15 Annual 
Plan  

Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4  

Continuity of 
service 
rating  

3 2 2 2 1 

Governance 
rating 
 

Red Green Green Under 

review 

TBC 

 

In our annual plan although we declared no risks against any of the targets, the 

Trust highlighted a risk regarding reporting of referral to treatment (RTT) and 

cancer targets when it migrates to the Epic system. In addition we also outlined 

execution risks associated with delivering the eHospital programme. We were 

awarded a red rating for governance from Monitor as there had been no change in 

their regulatory approach given that we were still in breach of our licence conditions 

at that time.  



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
72 

 

In July 2014, Monitor announced that the Trust was no longer in breach of its 

licence to provide healthcare, following enhancement of the executive and clinical 

leadership, and improved operational and financial performance.  

However, since autumn 2014, bed capacity has been a major issue for the Trust, 

leading to cancellations of elective surgery due to insufficient bed capacity and high 

throughout winter 2014/15. Combined with the administrative and clinical impact of 

eHospital implementation, this has led to a deterioration in performance across all 

key operational performance standards. Detailed recovery plans are in place to 

secure improvements. 

In quarter 1 we were non-compliant against the four-hour wait in A&E target.  

In quarter 2 we were non-compliant against the RTT admitted wait, cancer 62-day 

screening wait and four-hour wait in A&E targets.  

For quarter 3 the Trust was non-compliant against the RTT admitted patient 

pathway, RTT non-admitted patient pathway, RTT incomplete pathways, cancer 62-

day urgent wait, cancer 31-day subsequent treatment for surgery, cancer 31-day 

wait for first treatment, cancer two-week wait and four-hour wait in A&E targets. 

The Monitor relationship team is reviewing the position and considering the 

proposed regulatory approach. The quarter three governance rating was changed to 

'Monitor is requesting further information following multiple breaches of the A&E 

target and in quarter breaches of cancer and referral to treatment targets before 

deciding next steps.'   

In quarter 4 we declared non-compliance against the RTT admitted patient 

pathway, RTT non-admitted patient pathway, RTT incomplete pathways, cancer 62-

day urgent standard and screening waits, cancer 31-day subsequent treatment for 

surgery, cancer 31-day wait for first treatment, cancer two-week waits and four-

hour wait in A&E targets. Monitor has yet to feedback their position on the 

governance rating for quarter 4. 

The Trust achieved a year end Continuity of Service Risk Rating (CSRR) of 1. The 

planned CSRR of 3 assumed that the Forum development would be concluded by 

the end of the financial year, but this proved not to be possible. Had the deal 

reached financial close in 2014/15 cash would have been higher by £10m and the 

financial deficit would have been lower by £4.4m, resulting in a CSRR of 2. 

 

3.26 Annual governance statement 

Scope of responsibility 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation Trust’s 

policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 

departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 

responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS 

foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are 

applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 

in the ‘NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum’. 

 

The purpose of the system of internal control   
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 

rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 

objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process 

designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, 

aims and objectives of Cambridge University NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate 
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the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 

realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The 

system of internal control has been in place in Cambridge University Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of 

approval of the annual report and accounts. 

The system of internal control integrates a number of individual controls as 

described in other sections of this statement, and other key policies and 

procedures such as the standing orders, identification of matters reserved to 

the Board, standing financial instructions and scheme of delegation used to 

govern the Trust’s activities, together with checks and balances provided by 

Board oversight, and internal and external audit reviews 

 

Capacity to handle risk 
The Board of Directors leads the management of risk within the Trust. The Board 

assurance framework provides clarity by identifying risks to the Trust’s 

organisational objectives, together with key controls and assurances and gaps in 

those controls and assurances. It is reviewed monthly in a peer review process by 

the executive directors who are leads for each risk and jointly at the senior 

management team and management executive meetings, and is then considered at 

the Board, noting movements in risk and mitigating actions being taken. In 

addition, sub-committees of the Board review risk entries on the Board assessment 

framework (BAF) relevant to their areas of interest. During the year, the BAF has 

undergone a full review.  

The Trust has a comprehensive induction and training programme supplemented by 

e-learning training packages and ad hoc learning opportunities for staff. Collectively 

these cover a wide range of governance and risk management topics for both 

clinical and non-clinical staff in all disciplines and at all levels in the organisation.  

Additionally, training is available from the patient safety team on aspects of wider 

risk management and quality governance. 

The Trust acknowledged that at an operational level, there was an absence of a 

proficient risk management system to facilitate capturing risk management activity. 

The Trust has therefore invested in implementing the Datix system to capture, 

review, monitor and report incidents and risks throughout the organisation. The 

implementation is currently on-going and will be supplemented by bespoke training 

throughout operational levels within the Trust. 

Learning and good practice is disseminated through clinical supervision, clinical 

audit and application of evidence based best practice, matrons’ forums, and 

divisional governance frameworks and via the Board committee reporting structure. 

 

The risk and control framework 
The Board of Directors provides leadership on the management of risks, 

determining the risk appetite for the organisation and ensuring the approach to risk 

management is consistently applied.   

The risk management strategy sets out the key responsibilities for managing risk 

within the organisation. Each division captures risks and has access to a dedicated 

safety and quality assurance managers to help in investigating incidents and 

implementing plans to deal with them. Safety issues identified by divisions are 

reported to the Board via the monthly integrated performance report against a 

quality scorecard, against the priorities included in the quality report, including 

incident reporting.  
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The Trust was inspected by the Care Quality Commission in April 2015 with the final 

report being published on 22 September 2015. The Trust received an overall 

‘inadequate’ rating and was placed into special measures. The report identified 

weaknesses in the risk management and an improvement plan, with the chief nurse 

as executive lead has been actively addressing the issues identified in the report.    

The Trust is also subject to regulatory action regarding financial position of the 

Trust. The Trust has implemented a broad range of initiatives to support the 

transition of the Trust to a financially sustainable position. Monitor required the 

Trust to produce a financial recovery plan covering the period up to 31 March 2017 

and this was submitted to Monitor in December 2015. 

Corporately risks are broadly divided into operational, strategic and risks relating to 

major projects. Operational risks are captured on an electronic risk register, whilst 

strategic risks are captured on the Board assurance framework. The Trust has 

recognised the need for developing its risk management system, subsequent to 

actions recommended by its internal auditors and an external quality governance 

review carried out by Deloitte in 2015/16. During the year under report the system 

has been reviewed with the intention of creating a system which ensures that 

operational risks are identified, quantified recorded and continually managed, and 

can be aggregated or categorised to provide a meaningful overview of 

organisational or strategic risk.  

The Board has previously agreed the principles regarding risk which the Trust is 

prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in pursuit of its agreed objectives. The 

principles regarding risk are focussed on quality, finance and value for money, 

innovation, commercial opportunities, compliance and regulatory framework, 

reputation and workforce and were set out in detail in our annual report 2014/15. 

The Board has a collective responsibility for quality and has taken a number of 

measures to ensure that quality forms an integral part of the Trust’s activities. 

There is a clear quality governance structure within the organisation which has 

been reviewed during the year against Monitor’s quality governance framework.  

The quality committee provides assurance to the Board regarding the delivery of 

high-quality care to our patients. The committee oversees the implementation of 

the Trust’s quality strategy and its on-going development, and reviews progress 

against the strategy at each meeting. It oversees the development of and agrees 

priorities for the Trust’s annual quality account. The committee reviews the quality 

of care delivered to patients by means of the monthly Integrated Performance 

Report and other relevant data, with specific attention to ensuring that the Trust is 

focused on: 

 

 improve the experience of our patients through person-centred care 

 improve our staff experience through treating workforce as partners 

 improve safety and eliminating avoidable harm through harm-free care 

 improve our reliability through delay-free care 

 providing clinically effective care 

 

The effectiveness of the quality committee was the subject of an internal audit 

review during 2015/16 and the quality committee welcomed the recommendations 

in the report. 

The committee oversees the Trust’s compliance with its own internal clinical 

standards and the requirements of its external regulators. It reviews the Trust’s 

clinical audit programme, compliance with the requirements of the Care Quality 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
75 

 

Commission, and Trust preparedness for inspection, compliance with the Monitor 

quality governance framework. 

It also oversees the Trust’s overall programme for continuous clinical quality 

improvement, to ensure that the Trust learns, shares and takes appropriate action 

in respect of safety reporting, and prospective and proactive patient safety risk 

detection; information and experience from outside of the Trust; external reviews of 

Trust activity and the results of clinical audit. 

The quality committee leads on the development of the quality account, which the 

Trust publishes annually, as described below. 

The Trust has in place an information governance policy which sets out the Trust’s 

commitment to ensuring that information is efficiently and effectively handled, 

managed and safeguarded. The policy establishes a robust information governance 

framework which includes up to date policies, procedures and accountabilities.  

Managers within the Trust are responsible for ensuring that the policy and its 

supporting standards and guidelines are built into directorate processes and that 

there is on-going compliance. 

The Trust complies with the requirements of the ‘Connecting for Health’ information 

governance toolkit for the management and control of risks to information. The 

Medical Director is the Trust’s senior information risk owner, reporting to the Board, 

and Phillip Johnston, consultant in trauma and orthopaedics is its Caldicott 

Guardian. Senior managers across the Trust are information asset owners 

accountable for a particular group of information assets, under the information 

governance policy and management framework. The Information Governance 

Steering Group is chaired by the SIRO and reports periodically to the Board through 

the Quality Committee. Current level of compliance with information toolkit is 83%. 

The BAF sets out the principal risks to the delivery of the Trust’s strategic 

objectives. The executive director with delegated responsibility for managing and 

monitoring each risk is clearly identified. The BAF describes controls in place to 

manage each of the risks and explains how the Board is assured that those controls 

are in place and operating effectively. 

 

At 31 March 2016 the Trust sees its major risks as: 

 

 insufficient capacity and demand management 

 failure to achieve long-term financial sustainability 

 

The Trust has identified mitigations and assurances on controls, together with 

control and assurance gaps, and the Board receives regular reports to assure itself 

that mitigations are operating where this is within the Trust’s ability to do so and 

that those mitigations are effective. 

 

Risks to Trust governance 
On 22 September 2015 the Trust was placed into special measures and is subject 

to enforcement actions with regards to breaches relating to quality and 

governance; financial position and targets.  

The Trust received an overall inadequate rating from the Care Quality Commission 

on 22 September 2015 following a planned inspection in April 2015. 

The Trust is actively working with Monitor and with other stakeholders to address 

the issues identified.  

The Board is responsible for setting the vision and values and the strategic 

objectives of the Trust. The Trust’s governance documents establish the roles and 
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responsibilities of directors and other Trust officers. For 2016/17, the Trust has 

identified ten organisational objectives and will review the principles regarding risk 

in the light of those objectives. The organisational objectives relate to harm free, 

delay free, person centred and clinically effective care, research and development, 

education and development, workforce as partners, strategic developments, being 

operationally effective and financially sustainable.  

The Audit Committee is the committee with primary responsibility for overseeing the 

Trust’s governance and assurance process and in particular for independently 

reviewing the effectiveness of risk management systems and ensuring that all 

significant risks are properly considered and communicated to the Board. 

The Finance and Performance Committee, the Quality Committee and the Workforce 

and Education Committee provide independent and objective oversight of the Trust’s 

performance in these areas, reporting to the Board with assurances it needs on 

financial and operational performance, clinical quality and effective management of 

the workforce. 

 

The divisions meet with the executive team monthly to allow interrogation of 

divisional performance and to ensure accountability of the divisions to the Board. 

Each division provides a balanced scorecard of performance information which is 

included in the integrated report interrogated monthly by the Board of Directors. 

The Board assurance framework, considered monthly by the Board, provides 

information on the Trust’s strategic risks. 

A risk assessment against the Monitor license is carried out annually.  

 

The Trust has acknowledged the potential on-going risks presented by cyber 

security breaches. In response to the risks the Trust approved a Cyber Strategy 

and Cyber Security Action Plan in April 2015. Assurance has been provided to the 

Audit and Quality Committee during 2015/16 regarding the preparedness of the 

Trust regarding cyber security. 

 

Involvement of stakeholders in risk 
The Trust endorses three principles which underpin the quality framework:   

 

 quality is at the heart of all that the Trust does 

 there is an open and transparent culture to facilitate a learning organisation 

 the organisation will work collaboratively with stakeholders to ensure the quality 

and safety of services and demonstrate commitment to continual improvement 

 

The Trust actively engages with public and patients. Further details of the 

engagement activity are included in the annual report. 

The Trust informs and engages with its commissioners throughout the year in 

relation to risk through regular meetings to review contract/clinical quality matters 

and to engage with them on the development of the Trust’s quality account. In 

addition, the Trust engages with public stakeholders and the local Health watch in 

discussions including consideration of risk which impact upon them. Governors are 

also involved about those risks which impact upon the public and members through 

regular meetings at which the integrated report is presented and discussed, and 

they are fully involved in the development of our annual plan and quality account. 

The Trust is required to be registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and 

declare compliance with the fundamental standards of quality and safety. The Trust 

was subject to a full inspection by the CQC in April 2015. The Trust received an 
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overall inadequate rating and was placed into special measures in September 2015. 

The Trust was partially re-inspected in February 2016 and the outcome of the 

partial re-inspection will be received in the late spring of 2016.  

The overall executive director lead for CQC compliance is the Chief Nurse. 

The foundation Trust is not fully compliant with the registration requirements of the 

Care Quality Commission. 

The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its 

current registration status is registered with compliance conditions.  

CUH has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the CQC during 

the reporting period. 

The Trust continues to monitor compliance against all of the CQC fundamental 

standards of quality and safety on an ongoing basis. The Board of Directors and the 

quality committee are updated monthly via the integrated quality report.  

 

Other control measures 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 

control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within 

the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 

from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in 

accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension scheme records are 

accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations. 

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under 

equality, diversity and human rights are complied with.   

The Trust has undertaken risk assessments and carbon reduction delivery plans are 

in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency 

requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this 

organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the adaptation 

reporting requirements are complied with. 

 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources  
The Trust’s operational plan for 2015/16 was approved by the Board of Directors 

supported by the Council of Governors. The operational plan for 2015/16 was 

submitted to and accepted by Monitor.   

Progress against the delivery of the annual plan is monitored by the finance and 

performance Board. Progress against cost improvement plans is monitored 

throughout the year by a robust daily project management office (PMO) process 

reporting to weekly management executive and thereafter to the Board of Directors 

via Finance and Performance Committee, and overseen fortnightly by a finance 

steering group and a six-weekly recovery Board. 

The objectives set out in the Trust’s internal audit plan include ensuring the 

economical, effective and efficient use of resources and this consideration is applied 

across all audits. The findings of internal audit reports are reported to the audit 

committee. Non-financial audits relating to quality are considered by the quality 

committee. 

The process to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and 

effectively across clinical services include divisional reviews and the regular 

monitoring of clinical indicators covering quality and safety. 
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Information governance  
Table 29 

Information on serious incidents (SIs) involving data loss or confidentiality 

breach – Level 2 or greater severity incidents 
Date of 
Incident 

Nature of 
incident 

Nature of data 
involved 

Number of 
people 
potentially 
affected 

Notification 
steps 

Action taken 

April 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

June 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

June 15 Patient survey 

sent to wrong 

patient 

addresses 

Patient 

demographic 

data 

300 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

June 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

June 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

June 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

July 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

2 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 15 Scrap paper 

found in play 

room with 

patient data on 

reverse  

Patient clinical 

data 

<50 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sept 15 Handover sheet Patient clinical 

data 

30 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sept 15 Patient received 

another patients 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Oct 15 Handover sheet Patient clinical 14 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
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data 

Oct 15 Handover sheet Patient clinical 

data 

30 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Oct 15 Patient received 

another patients 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Oct 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Oct 15 Handover sheet Patient clinical 

data 

74 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Nov 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Nov 15 Patient received 

another patients 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Dec 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Dec 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Dec 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Dec 15 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jan 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jan 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jan 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jan 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Feb 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

2 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Mar 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Mar 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Mar 16 Patient received 

another patient’s 

information 

Patient clinical 

data 

1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Table 26 
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Incidents classed at a severity rating of 1 or less 

Category Nature of incident Total 

A Corruption of inability to recover electronic data 0 

B Disclosed in error 126 

C Lost in transit 0 

D Lost or stolen hardware 8 

E Lost or stolen paperwork 32 

F Non secure disposal – hardware 0 

G Non secure disposal – paperwork 1 

H Uploaded to website in error 0 

I Technical security failing (including hacking) 0 

J Unauthorised access/disclosure 0 

K Other 74 

 

 

Annual quality report 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 

Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare quality accounts for each 

financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation Trust Boards on the 

form and content of annual quality reports which incorporate the above legal 

requirements in the ‘NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual’. 

The Board of Directors has agreed that the quality report will be considered and 

recommended by the quality committee of the Board. The Quality Committee was 

also responsible for deliberating on priorities to be included in the quality report, 

including representation of clinical colleagues’ views. Discussions also took place 

with governors at a specially convened meeting, when they endorsed items for 

inclusion in the report, and selected indicators for audit as they are required to do. 

External stakeholders including the Trust’s lead commissioners were also involved 

in the development of the Trust’s priorities. 

The Chief Nurse is the executive lead for quality reporting.   

Information to support the quality metrics used in the quality report are held in a 

number of Trust information systems including the EPIC system and the risk 

management system and are supported by analysis of reporting, and national 

returns.   

The assessment of quality indicators is integrated into the Trust’s performance 

management system, and hence they are subject to review by operational and 

managerial staff on a monthly basis in a structured framework of performance 

review initially within divisions and then at Board committee and Board level 

through the integrated report which is also interrogated by governors at regular 

quarterly meetings. The reliability of the data is periodically audited by the Trust’s 

internal auditors. The data used in the quality account is subject to external and 

internal audit processes. 

The Trust’s priorities for 2015/16 were identified in support of the Trust’s quality 

strategy which has five aims, to: 

 

 improve the experience of our patients through person-centred care 

 improve our staff experience through treating workforce as partners 

 improve safety and eliminating avoidable harm through harm-free care 

 improve our reliability through delay-free care 
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 providing clinically effective care 

 

Between four and six targets aligned to each of the priorities have been identified 

and were reported monthly to the quality committee.  

The Trust’s quality report included within the annual report reports on our 

performance against the priorities and targets selected.  

 

Review of effectiveness 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit, and the 

executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have 

responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality report included in this 

annual report and other performance information available to me. My review is also 

informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter 

and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the results of my 

review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board of 

Directors, the audit committee, the quality committee, the finance and performance 

committee and the workforce and education committee and the internal auditors 

and plans to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 

system is in place. 

My review is also informed in a number of ways. The role of the Board and the audit 

committee are described in the risk and control framework section above. As 

previously described, the Board and Board committees review risks to the Trust’s 

objectives by monthly monitoring and discussion of the integrated report. This 

reports performance in the areas of quality performance finance and workforce. The 

risks can then be addressed in a timely manner. The Board assurance framework is 

also reviewed monthly and the Board committees have carried out ‘deep dives’ to 

understand the risks and mitigations during the year under report. I have also been 

informed by the work of the internal auditors during the year, working to a risk-

based plan agreed by the audit committee, and the action plans resulting to 

address areas for improvement.  

The head of internal audit’s opinion has provided adequate assurance on the 

adequacy of our risk management, governance and control processes.  

The result of the external auditors’ work on the annual accounts and annual report 

are also a key assurance. 

Other external assurance is provided by CQC intelligent monitoring reports, clinical 

governance reports including the information included in the monthly integrated 

report and outcome of the clinical audit programme, and the results of inspections 

by external organisations  

 

Significant control issues 

As in previous years, capacity remains a risk and control issue for the Trust, which 

impacts on, amongst other things, its ability to deliver its targets (cancer 62-day, 

18-week referral to treatment and A&E four-hour waits), the quality of patient care 

and its financial position.       

The audit committee has reviewed the overall framework for internal control, and 

has recommended this statement to the Board of Directors. 

 

Conclusion 
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No significant control issues (ie issues where the risk could not be effectively 

controlled) have been identified in respect of 2015/16. I am satisfied that all 

internal control issues raised have been, or are being, addressed by action plans 

and that these action plans are subject to appropriate monitoring.  

 

 
 

Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive  
25 May 2016 

 
 

3.27 Equality and diversity report 
Overview 
The Trust is committed to tackling inequality of opportunity and eliminating 

discrimination both within the workforce and in the provision of services. The Trust 

has a legal responsibility under the Equality Act 2010 to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 

 advance equality of opportunity 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant characteristic and 

those who do not. The nine protected characteristics are:   

o age 

o disability 

o ethnicity 

o gender 

o gender re-assignment 

o marriage and civil partnership 

o pregnancy and maternity 

o religion or belief 

o sexual orientation 

 publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general duty at least 

annual  

 prepare and publish equality objectives every four years 

The Trust uses the NHS Executive Directors to help fulfil and show compliance with 

the public sector equality duty; to engage with patients, staff and the community to 

review our service and employment equality performance and to identify future 

priorities and actions for the Trust’s equality objectives. The Trust’s directors each 

have responsibilities for equality and diversity. As a result of the March 2015 EDS 

rating green achieving for all outcomes, the Trust agreed equality objectives and an 

Executive Director improvement plan to address the gaps identified with agreed 

actions for each director. This has been the focus of the Trust’s equality and 

diversity activities in 2015/16.  
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The Trust aspires to excellence as part of its values and in this context it means 

that it aims to go beyond the minimum threshold of legislation by being an 

exemplar of best practice. The Trust recognises that a richly diverse workforce 

representative of the population we serve will better identify the needs both of our 

staff and patients and that staff perform best at work when they can be 

themselves.   

 

Leadership and management of equality and diversity 
 A number of working groups drive equality activity in the Trust. They are: 

 Equality, Diversity and Dignity Steering Committee: chaired by the 

director of operations, the steering committee is responsible for leading, 

monitoring and evaluating equality and diversity work within the Trust. The 

committee reports to the Trust BBoard and the Quality Committee. The steering 

committee meets quarterly and standing items include review of all patient 

complaints which highlight equality, diversity and dignity issues experienced by 

patients; workforce equality monitoring data; review of implementation and 

progress on the Trust’s NHS equality delivery system (EDS) improvement plan 

and feedback from the equality and diversity staff group meetings.  

 Equality and Diversity Staff Group: responsible for identifying and 

addressing staff and service issues in relation to equality, diversity and dignity. 

This is a staff equality network of diversity champions whose members are self-

nominated with the support of their line manager. It was originally established 

as a BME staff network in 2001 but broadened in scope to cover all equality 

protected characteristics. The group is chaired by the equality lead, meets bi-

monthly and reports to the equality, diversity and dignity steering committee on 

issues and recommendations. The group promotes the national NHS personal, 

fair and diverse campaign.  

 Recent equality and diversity staff group activity includes: 

o Organising events in the Trust to promote equality and diversity for NHS 

equality and human rights week in May; Windrush celebration of cultural 

diversity 10 July 2015 to celebrate long service of our overseas nurses and 

welcome to our 300 nursing staff recruited from EU and non-EU countries.  

o Hosting an exhibition for ‘Black History’ month – ‘Making Freedom’ curated 

by the Windrush Foundation during October 2015 – the first time this 

exhibition had been shown outside of London. 

o Campaigning on disability access issues and facilities in CUH.  

o Working on the NHS workforce race equality standard (WRES) and the 

Trust’s WRES action plan including looking at results of audits, career 

development and leadership opportunities for BME staff.  

o Involving speakers from various equality and diversity campaigning 

organisations and working in partnership with organisations including: SANE 

‘Time to Change’ campaign; Stonewall;  Changing Faces; Face equality at 

work; the Carers’ Trust; Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum (CECF)   

o Engaging staff in the NHS equality delivery system process and the WRES 

action plan. 

 

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) and Straight Alliance  
This staff group of LGBT and straight allies campaigning for LGB inclusion in the 

workplace was launched on International Day against Homophobia and Transphobia 

(IDAHOT) on 17 May 2013; it meets quarterly.  
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Since its launch, the chair Stephen Pye, Monica Jacot E&D lead and Alliance have 

organised various events. Activity this year includes: 

 Organising staff events including: Rainbow flag raising in May for 

International Day Against Homophobia and Transphobia (IDAHOT) attended by 

the chair and director of workforce and members of LGBT alliance and 

Encompass network, a Cambridge LGBT umbrella organisation; regular LGBT 

history film nights including a showing of ‘Wilde’ in February 2015; and for the 
LGBT Pride season a showing of ‘Pride’ in September 2015. 

 The Chair and E&D lead completed the Stonewall WEI index 2016 survey for the 
Trust for the sixth year running and promoted the Stonewall staff survey.  

 In January 2015 the Trust joined the Stonewall Diversity Partners programme 

and the chair and equality lead attended the Stonewall workplace conference in 

April 2015. In November 2015 chair of the Alliance attended the official national 

launch party for LGBT history month 2016 at Queen’s College, Cambridge. To 

mark this event CUH along with other employers in Cambridge made the 

equality pledge.  

 ‘It’s not just you’ – the staff group for mental wellbeing and resilience, plans 

campaign against mental health stigma. For the fifth year running it organised 

events and talks for the Trust’s mental health week for World Mental Health Day 

on 10 October, and for ‘Time to Change’ and national ‘Time to Talk’ day on 4 

February.  

 Leading up to World Mental Health Day, from August 2015, the Trust in 

collaboration with other organisations on the biomedical campus, arranged with 

the mental health charity SANE to host their ‘Black Dog’ sculpture called Horace 

which travelled around the biomedical campus to promote mental health 

awareness and campaign against stigma.  

 Learning and Disability Working Group: chaired by Deputy Chief Nurse. 

Membership includes the Trust's learning disability specialist nurse, patients 

with learning disabilities and their carers with other external agencies including 

the Learning Disability Partnership and Voiceability advocacy service. The group 

works to improve services for patients with learning disabilities. 

 Vulnerable Adults Working Group: chaired by Deputy Chief Nurse to ensure 

needs of vulnerable adults and those with dementia cared for appropriately. This 
group involves carers and ‘Voiceability’ representatives.  

 Dementia Strategy Group: chaired by Deputy Chief Nurse and 

multidisciplinary professional representation; carer representatives; external 

partners and representatives from groups such as Dementia UK and Alzheimer’s 
society. 

 Accessible Information Standard Implementation Task and Finish 

Group: chaired by Assistant Director of Nursing for Patient Experience. This was 

set up in September 2015 to implement the new standard. 

 

Table 30 

Staff profile as at 31 March 2016 

Age group Headcount % 

<19 37 0.41% 

19-25 1,095 12.25% 

26-35 2,598 29.05% 

36-45 2,384 26.66% 

46-50 989 11.06% 

51-55 840 9.39% 
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56-60 647 7.24% 

61-65 270 3.02% 

Over 65 82 0.92% 

Grand Total 8,942 100.00% 

 

Ethnic origin Headcount % 

Cambs 
Population 
2011 
census 

White - British 5,522 61.75% 85.4% 

White - Irish 129 1.44%    0.80% 

White - Any other White background 1,157 12.94%    0.69% 

White – Romany Gypsy/Irish Traveller 1 0.01%  0.2% 

Mixed - White & Black Caribbean 32 0.55% 0.4% 

Mixed - White & Black African 29 0.32% 0.2% 

Mixed - White & Asian 51 0.57% 0.6% 

Mixed - Any other mixed background 49 0.55% 0.5% 

Asian or Asian British - Indian 454 5.08% 1.20% 

Asian or Asian British - Pakistani 65 0.73% 0.40% 

Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi 27 0.30% 0.40% 

Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian 

background 333 3.72% 

1.10% 

Black or Black British - Caribbean 38 0.42% 0.30% 

Black or Black British - African 164 1.80% 0.60% 

Black or Black British - Any other Black 

background 27 0.30% 

0.20% 

Chinese 103 1.15% 1.10% 

Any Other Ethnic Group 166 1.86% 1.50% 

Not Stated 595 6.65%  

Grand Total 8,942 100.00%  

 

Gender Headcount % 

Female 6,659 74.47% 

Male 2,283 25.53% 

Grand Total 8,942 100.00% 

 

  Disability Headcount % 

Employees Declaring No Disability 5,185 57.98% 

Employees Not Declared Yes or No 3,683 41.19% 

Employees Declaring a Disability 74 0.83% 

Grand Total 8,942 100.00% 

 

 
  Religious belief Headcount % 

Atheism 908 10.15% 

Buddhism 38 0.42% 

Christianity 2,660 29.75% 

Hinduism 94 1.05% 

I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief 620 6.93% 

Islam 96 1.07% 

Jainism 2 0.02% 
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Judaism 10 0.11% 

Other 448 5.01% 

Sikhism 6 0.07% 

Undefined 4,060 45.40% 

Grand Total 8,942 100.00% 

 

14 faith groups including different Christian denominations are represented in the 

Cambridge City population. 

 

Sexual orientation Headcount % 

Bisexual 30 0.34% 

Gay 31 0.35% 

Heterosexual 4,341 48.55% 

I do not wish to disclose my sexual 

orientation 362 4.05% 

Lesbian 26 0.29% 

Undefined 4,152 46.43% 

Grand Total 8,942 100.00% 

 

It is estimated that 6% of the UK population are either:  lesbian, gay or bisexual. 

 

Patient Profile  
The number of patients accessing services by ethnicity/race between 01 April 2015  

and 31 March 2016. 

 

Table 31 

Number of patients accessing services by ethnicity  

Ethnicity/Race Inpatients  
Day 

cases Outpatients 
Grand 
Total 

% Cambs 
population 

2011  
Census 

Asian Bangladeshi 364 288 1818 2470 0.28% 0.40% 

Asian Indian 769 591 5082 6442 0.74% 1.20% 

Asian Pakistani 722 231 1849 2802 0.29% 0.40% 

Any Other Asian 

Background 629 473 3627 4729 

0.54% 1.10% 

Black African 426 287 2087 2800 0.32% 0.60% 

Black Caribbean 358 148 1481 1987 0.23% 0.30% 

Any Other Black 

Background 259 166 1014 1439 

0.16% 0.20% 

Mixed White and Asian 61 145 1192 1398 0.16% 0.60% 

Mixed White and Black 

African 202 83 484 769 

 

0.09% 

 

0.20% 

Mixed White and Black 

Caribbean 240 115 842 1197 

 

0.14% 

 

     0.40% 

Any Other Mixed 

Background 402 359 2007 2768 

 

0.32% 

 

0.50% 

Other – Chinese  834 322 2484 3640 0.42% 1.10% 
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Any Other Ethnic 

group  494 513 3592 4599 

0.53% 1.50% 

White British 83292 49112 462056 594460 67.89% 84.5% 

White Irish 848 388 3869 5105 0.58% 0.80% 

White Other 4278      4017 25622 33917 3.87% 7.10%* 

Not stated  6219 7421 49144 62784 7.17%  

Unknown 16005 9677 116622 142304 16.25%  

Grand total 116402 74336 684872 875610   

 

*Any other white background Cambs population % note includes 0.2% White Gypsy/Irish Traveller 

 

 

Table 32 

Patients accessing services from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 by gender 

Gender  
                     
DAY Inpatient  Outpatients  Grand Total 

Female 53527 41809 375155 470491 

Male 62873 32521 309660 405054 

Not Known 2 6 57 65 

Grand Total 116402 74336 684872 875610 

 

Table 33 

Patients accessing services from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 declaring a 
disability 

Type of 
disability  

Day cases Inpatients  Outpatients Grand total  

Blind 480 293 2878 3651 

Deaf  956 576 4942 6474 

Learning 

disability  

294 530 1543 1543 

Grand Total  1730 1399 9363 11668 

 

Table 34 

Patients accessing our services by age band between 1 April 2015 and 31 
March 2016 

Age band  Day cases Inpatients  Outpatients Grand Total 

0-4 2217 9721 24051 35989 

5-11 2021 1853 25490 29364 

12-18 2513 2414 30417 35344 

19-25 3522 4808 31894 40224 

26-35 6628 9797 65470 81895 

26-45 8427 7010 70311 85748 

46-50 7597 3501 43692 54790 

51-60 15411 7397 101575 124383 

61-70 23528 9105 128837 161470 

71-80 27616 8846 106955 143417 
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81-90 16218 7652 50301 74171 

91+ 704 2232 5879 8815 

Grand Total 116402 74336 684872 875610 

 

 

 

Table 35 

The religion or belief of patients accessing our services  

Religion or 
belief 

                 
Day cases Inpatients Outpatients  Grand Total 

Agnostic 387 123 2621 3131 

Anglican 159 101 2205 2465 

Atheist 274 174 3083 3531 

Baha'i 

 

1 46 47 

Baptist 868 229 2338 3435 

Buddhist 288 77 799 1164 

Catholic 220 217 1782 2219 

Christadelphian 5 4 53 62 

Christian 2879 1832 21635 26346 

Christian 

Scientist 

  

45 45 

Church in Wales 19 3 97 119 

Church of 

England 32123 14842 166206 213171 

Church of 

Ireland 12 10 167 189 

Church of 

Scotland 303 85 1386 1774 

Churches of 

Christ 1 4 13 18 

Congregationalist 17 19 188 224 

Episcopalian 

 

1 3 4 

Free Church 12 6 227 245 

Greek Orthodox 182 26 287 495 

Hindu 340 115 1728 2183 

Humanist 51 11 363 425 

Jehovah's 

Witness 397 103 1076 1576 

Jewish 241 70 846 1157 

Lutheran 

  

11 11 

Methodist 1127 323 3629 5079 

Moravian 

 

1 11 12 

Mormon 3 7 134 144 

Muslim 1322 414 3721 5457 

Nazarene 

 

2 6 8 
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Nonconformist 53 10 254 317 

None 9324 5358 52047 66729 

Orthodox 54 48 430 532 

Other 440 177 1971 2588 

Other Free 

Church 80 82 712 874 

Pagan 

 

1 17 18 

Patient Refused 

 

4 8 12 

Pentecostal 26 17 178 221 

Plymouth 

Bretheren 

  

12 12 

Presbyterian 194 20 225 439 

Protestant 12 9 154 175 

Quaker 21 19 284 324 

Rastafarian 

  

3 3 

Roman Catholic 5374 2627 25152 33153 

Salvation Army 30 66 374 470 

Seventh Day 

Adventist 3 2 28 33 

Sikh 53 37 355 445 

Spiritualist 12 35 301 348 

Unitarian 1 3 63 67 

United Reformed 53 40 598 691 

Unknown 59442 46983 387001 493426 

Grand Total 116402 74338 684873 875613 

 

 

Employment equality monitoring  
As required by the public sector equality duty, the Trust’s workforce equality 

monitoring information is published on the CUH public website.  

This includes: 

 the profile of our staff by age band, disability, race, religion, sex, sexual 

orientation and marital status 

 ethnic profile of our staff compared to the local population  

 recruitment data by age band, disability, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation 

and marital status (those applying, shortlisted and appointed) 

 staff in post by pay band by age, disability, race, sex and sexual orientation 

 the number attending training courses by age band, disability, race and sex 

 the number of leavers by age band, disability, race and sex 

 employee relation cases (disciplinary, capability, performance and sickness 

bullying and harassment) cases by age band, disability, race and sex 

 

Our patient profile by ethnicity compared to the local population is Table 28.  

 

NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
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In July 2015 all NHS Trusts were required to published their Workforce Race 

Equality Standard metrics as part of the new NHS contract. The Trust published the 

first WRES baseline report and action plan on the public website on 26 June 2015. 

The WRES report and action plan recommendations were agreed at Workforce and 

Education Committee and are a standing agenda item of the Equality, Diversity and 

Dignity Steering Committee. The annual equality monitoring report was submitted 

to the Workforce and Education Committee and to the Equality, Diversity and 

Dignity Steering Committee. 

 

Training and awareness 
 Equality and diversity training is included in corporate induction and qualified 

nurse orientation. 

 The e-learning module on equality and diversity and inclusion was refreshed as 

part of annual e-learning refresher training. 

 Half-day disability awareness workshops are available. 

 The Trust has worked in partnership with the Cambridge Ethnic Community 

Forum on hosting cultural awareness and working with interpreter’s workshops. 

 A learning disability specialist nurse provides training for clinical teams on the 

needs of learning disability.  

 A dementia awareness training programme for staff has been in place since 

2011 and during 2014–15 was expanded to include showing of ‘Barbara’s Story’ 

for staff in-post and at corporate induction. 

 Mental health first aid training for staff is provided by the Trust’s specialist 

mental health nurse and we are one of just two acute Trusts to provide this with 

over 500 employees having attended this training.  

 The Cambridgeshire public health Traveller health liaison nurse has provided 

Gypsy/Traveller cultural competence training for clinical staff in the emergency 

department and Rose Hospital. 

 A number of resources are available for staff on our staff intranet: ‘How to …’ 

communication guides for communicating with people with different types of 

disability, together with training materials, ‘You Tube’ training film clips. 

 The Trust hosts the ‘Diversiton Diversity’ calendar on the intranet (Connect) and 

on the public website, and the Connect home page features cultural logos on 

key cultural and religious days as a simple way to promote understanding of 

different cultures and religions. 

 The Trust also promotes events that other organisations are holding in 

Cambridge, for example for LGBT history month, Black History month 

International Women’s day, Women of the World (WOW) Cambridge festival.  

 On International Women’s day, 8 March 2015, CUH launched the official CUH 

equality feed @CUH_equality which is facilitated by the Trust’s equality lead, 

Monica Jacot to promote communication awareness,  public and staff 

engagement on issues of equality, diversity and inclusion both internally and 

externally.  

 

Service equality 
Key activities to improve service equality include:  

 Inclusive hospital picture/photo menus which are accessible for all patients to 

easily choose menu options who have communications disabilities or difficulty 

speaking English. These clearly show Halal and Khosher food options and 
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images to denote whether menu contains beef or chicken or pork; vegetarian 

and vegan options and any allergens gluten, dairy, nut 

 Adult ‘Changing Places’ facility was opened in early 2015 in outpatients for adult 

patients and public with severe disabilities who require adult size changing table 

for a carer to change incontinence pads. This is featured on the Changing Places 

website.    

 Development of additional dementia friendly wards such as C6 and others. 

 Dementia wrist band and ‘Forget-me-not’ symbols used to identify patients with 

dementia or delirium. 

 The learning disability patient passport and hospital communication book (from 

the ‘Easy Health’ website (as recommended in the Michaels Inquiry Report 

‘Health care for all’ continues to be used. Regular audits of the patient passport 

are carried out to check they are in use by patients with a learning disability 

whilst in hospital. 

 Alert codes on the hospital information system for certain disabilities are used to 

highlight whether a patient is deaf, or has a learning disability or is a speaker of 

another language and requires an interpreter so when we are informed at the 

point of referral from the GP, reasonable adjustments can be made at the time 

of booking an outpatient appointment.  

 Preparation for implementing the new national ‘Accessible Information Standard’ 

by 31 July with the task and finish group. The Trust was a national pilot site for 

this and contributed to the final standard guidance produced by NHS England. 

Members of the task and finish group gave a presentation sharing the work CUH 

has undertaken at a regional implementation workshop held February 2016.   

 Patient information ‘Easy read’ leaflets and information in other languages are 

available on the Trust website.  

 Patient information audio leaflets are available on the Trust website. 

 Personal listeners for communicating with patients with hearing loss with or 

without a hearing aid are available to use and are booked from the medical 

equipment library which maintains them  

 There is a dementia care programme on the medicine for the elderly ward.  

 Addenbrooke’s Arts funding has been used by the Trust’s falls co-ordinator to 

fund dance and movement classes on Ward J2 day room for patients with 

cognitive impairment and/or mobility problems.   

 The Trust has several specialist nurses for types of disability: a learning 

disability nurse, dementia specialist nurse; a mental health nurse.   

 Vulnerable adult link nurses are in place medicine, in surgery and neurosciences 

clinical divisions.  

 ‘This is Me’ dementia passport is used, completed with both the patient and 

carer to assist staff caring for patients with dementia.  

 Dementia screening is in pace for all patients over 75. 

 Specialists midwives in place: for maternal mental health; learning disability; 

teenage parents and mothers who use substances in pregnancy.  

 An online multi-faith resource for healthcare professionals is available.  

 DH Ramadan health guide for health care professionals and the public is 

distributed and promoted each year at the time Ramadan. 

 The Trust’s privacy and dignity policy includes an appendix on service equality 

the various reasonable adjustments required for each disability including for 

instance, guidance for health professionals on caring for patients with autism 

from the National Autistic Society, and on providing dignity and care for patients 
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who are gender variant/transgender from Gender Identity Research and 

Education Society (GIRES).   

 ACTIVE Board member Jessica Platt’s ‘Teens in Hospital’ training booklet and 

DVD is available for clinical staff about the needs’ of teens. A staff card badge 

with key actions to think about when caring for teens is also available. This slips 

inside staff ID badge holder. 

 Our mental health nurse produced a guide for staff with Star Wards, the mental 

health charity. CUH ‘Brief Encounters’ guide for easier relationships for 

emotionally vulnerable patients – in an acute ward setting is available online too 

for other Trusts to use. 

 The PALS complaints equal opportunities proforma ensures that we monitor 

complaints from people from all protected characteristics. 

 The Trust is grateful for the support Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) has 

given to purchase the following equipment to support patients with disabilities: 

o light weight STAXI wheelchairs at various pick-up points for patients and 

the public on the campus located in the multi-storey car park; 

outpatients; the treatment centre; main reception 

o personal listener devices to book from the medical equipment library, for 

use on wards and clinics to use for hearing impaired patients 

o finding the ‘Changing Places’ facilities 

o printing the inclusive picture menus 

o purchasing the ‘Diversiton’ calendar  

 

Training and awareness 
 All employment policies reflect the requirements of the Equality Act 2010:  

equality, diversity and inclusion in employment policy.   

 There is a dignity at work procedure; recruitment and selection procedure; 

flexible working procedure; organisational change policy. The Trust held staff 

and public listening events and as a result the Trust values were refreshed to 

‘Together – safe kind excellent’ and a revised behaviour standard and new 

leadership standards have been launched with equality and diversity included. 

 The Trust is a disability ‘Two Ticks’ symbol user and signed up to the new 

‘Disability Confident’ campaign 

 The Trust was just the second NHS organisation to sign the ‘Changing Faces’ 

charity ‘Face Equality at Work’ charter in April 2011.  

 The Trust has been a ‘Mindful Employer’ charter signatory for employers who 

are positive about mental health since 2009 and reviewed its charter 

commitments in 2011 and 2014. 

 CUH is a Stonewall Diversity partner. 

 The Trust was signed up to Stonewall’s ‘Workplace Equality Index’, for the sixth 

year running in September 2015. CUH was ranked 149 out of 415 organisations 

that entered. 

 In October 2015 the Trust signed up to the NHS Employers ‘Learning Disability 

in Employment’ to pledge to increase the numbers of employees recruited with 

a learning disability with an action plan to address this.  

 

Events held in 2015/16 include: 

 17 May 2015, the International Day against Homophobic, Lesbphobia and 

Transphobia (IDAHOT) was celebrated with the Rainbow flag flown.  
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 10 July 2015, the Trust hosted the Windrush celebration of cultural diversity. 

This event marked the long service of nurses form India and Philippines; 

welcomed our new overseas nurses, and expressed our commitment to race 

equality. This event highlighted the publication of the Workforce Race Equality 

Standard (WRES) the legacy of the passengers on SS Windrush the ship which 

landed in 1948 and the passengers who joined the newly created NHS in the 

same year. The guest speaker was Patrick Vernon OBE and there were 

exhibitions from Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum, Prof Elizabeth Anionwu, 

Trustee of the Mary Seacole memorial statue appeal fund.  

 For October Black History Month the Trust hosted the ‘Making Freedom’ 

exhibition curated by Arthur Torrington, CBE of the Windrush Foundation; this 

was the first time it had been shown outside of London and with funding from 

Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust.  

 On 6 September 2015, on Suicide Prevention Day, the Trust signed up to the 

‘Stop Suicide’ campaign.  

 From August to 10 October 2016 the Trust has hosted the SANE charity 

‘Black Dog’ sculpture for mental health awareness and anti-stigma. 

 Since September 2015 when the Trust’s Chief Executive signed the ‘Time to 

Change’ campaign organisational pledge Board (just the second acute Trust to 

do so) to pledge to end mental health stigma and discrimination, the Trust has 

organised mental health awareness and resilience weeks in recognition of the 

fact that one in four people will experience mental ill health and to encourage a 

workplace environment where staff can talk about mental health. 

 05-09 October 2015 the fifth annual mental health week of activities took 

place to promote mental resilience understanding of mental health in the 

workplace and as a service provider to meet patients’ needs and campaign 

against stigma. 

 There was a week of events for 10 October, to mark World Mental Health 

Day, included talks from guest speakers: Dr Nick Baylis ‘How to thrive in this 

high pressure life’ and Dr Guy Meadows on ‘How to sleep well’ aimed at for shift 

workers”. The mental health week promoted the five healthy behaviours for 

good mental health: Connect; keep active; keep learning; take notice; give. It 

included a mindfulness sand sculpture labyrinth; free come and try Tai chi;  

meditation sessions; involvement of with external mental health organisations 

eg ‘Time to change’ and SANE  

 We marked World AIDS day with a stall selling red ribbons for the National 

Aids Trust with AIDs charity DHIVerse. 

 February 2016 LGBT history month with the Rainbow flag and we promoted 

Encompass network events for LGBT history month in Cambridge.  

 4 February 2016 CUH ‘It’s Not Just You’ group and mental health first aiders 

took part in the ‘Time to Change, Time to Talk’ day to break down mental health 

stigma and with tea cake and information. They logged many five-minute 

conversations about mental health in order to promote support for staff in the 

Trust. 

 

Public engagement activities on equality and diversity 
The Trust engages with a range of public groups on equality and diversity issues 

and the Trust governors also attend public meetings. 

Groups the Trust works with include: 

 

Age  
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COPE Cambridgeshire Older People’s Enterprise  

Teenage Cancer Trust  

Age UK 

 

Age and Disability 

Deaf Children’s Society  

Pinpoint Cambridgeshire  

 

Race 

Cambridgeshire Human Rights and Equality Support Service (CHESS) 

Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum  

EACH Project – hosted by EELGA 

Cambridge Punjabi Cultural Society 

Voice for Travellers with HealthWatch  

Disability and long term conditions 

Disability Cambridgeshire  

VoiceAbility Cambridgeshire  

Learning Disability partnership 

SCOPE  

Rowan Humberstone  

Alzheimer’s Society 

Dementia UK  

Cambridgeshire Hearing Help  

Action on Hearing Loss 

CAMSight  

DHIVerse – AIDS HIV charity  

National Aids Trust 

Changing Faces  

The Papworth Trust  

Richmond Fellowship 

Shame No More  

SANE  

Make, Do and Mend  

Time to Change 

Pets as Therapy  

National Autistic Society  

Parkinsons UK  

Muscular Dystrophy 

Headway Cambridgeshire 

  

Gender 

Women’s Aid and Refuge in conjunction with Cambridgeshire Domestic abuse and 

sexual violence partnership  

 

Carers 

Carers Trust  

Care Network 

 

Sexual Orientation  

Encompass Network   

SexYouality  

Stonewall  

 

Transgender  
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GIRES 

Encompass network 

Happy to be 

 

Religion  

Chaplaincy team liaise with all different faith groups.   

NHS equality delivery system (EDS) 
The EDS has been developed by the NHS England Equality and Diversity Council to 

improve equality and diversity practice in the NHS as a tool to embed equality and 

diversity practice to meet the public sector equality duty.  

The EDS contains 18 outcomes grouped under four goals. The four goals are: 

 Better health outcomes for all 

 Improved patient access and experience 

 Workforce – the NHS as a fair employer 

 Inclusive leadership at all levels 

 

Continuous improvement is prompted by a grading system, and many aspects of 

the EDS require NHS organisations to embed equality into mainstream business. 

The grading system is red (underdeveloped), amber (developing), green 

(achieving) and purple (excelling) RAGP rating system.  

A core part of the EDS is engagement with local interest groups. It is these local 

interests that grade how well they think the Trust is doing as an organisation. 

These grades are then published on the Trust website.  

The EDS rating template and annual equality objectives to address the gaps are 

published on the Trust website.  

 

EDS rating 2015  
For the fourth year since the introduction of the NHS EDS in 2011, the Trust has 

engaged with patients, staff and the public and was rated as green achieving by a 

panel of community representatives on 24 March 2015. This was a joint NHS EDS 

rating event at Arbury Community centre with other NHS organisations in 

Cambridgeshire organised by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG. The 

community rating panel made recommendations which contributed to the Trust’s 

5th annual EDS annual improvement plan 2015/16. The EDS improvement plan to 

implement the EDS objectives formed the work for the Trust for the year. 

 

Rating – ‘Green’ - what it means 

The RAG (red, amber, green) rating panel rated CUH’s equality performance for 

service and workforce over the past year.  

The Trust was rated ‘Green – achieving’ for all 18 EDS outcome measures.  

Achieving this depends on evidence to show that between six and eight of the 

protected characteristics (see section 3.27) are respected and engaged with across 

that Trust. Evidence also needs to show that disadvantaged groups who fall into 

what is termed ‘inclusion health groups’ are respected and treated in accordance 

with the principles of EDS. Inclusion health groups are people who experience 

difficulty accessing and benefitting from the NHS, as defined by a DH and the social 

care task force publication in 2010. For example the homeless; people who live in 

poverty, or who are long-term unemployed, or who misuse drugs, or who are 

regarded to be in stigmatised occupations (such as men and women in 

prostitution), or people with limited family or social networks or who are 

geographically isolated. 
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The CUH EDS grading template showing our ‘green’ ratings for each outcome and 

our equality objectives together with the EDS improvement plan are published on 

the CUH website.  

The Trust’s equality lead is a member of the national NHS England Equality 

Diversity Council EDS2 subgroup which has worked to refresh the Equality Delivery 

System (EDS), re-launch the EDS2 new reporting template and produce new 

national guidance on the EDS2.  

  

 Table 36 

CUH EDS annual objectives for 2015/16 

 

For Goal 1 

Better health outcomes for all 

Objective 

Improve transition care for admission and discharge of those patients 
with special complex needs 

For Goal 2 

Improved patient access and experience 

Objective 

To improve the patient experience continuing to focus on those with 
special complex needs;  older people; patients with dementia; 

patients with a learning disability and patients with autism spectrum 
disorder; deaf and hearing impaired patients; and meeting the 

religious and cultural needs of patients; improved patient experience 
for LGBT people 

For Goal 3 

Empowered, engaged and well supported staff  

Objective 

Review of equality and diversity awareness training to ensure all staff 
(including medical and dental) are culturally competent and targeted 

to address the areas highlighted as gaps from the workforce equality 
monitoring data and for meeting goals 1 and 2. Improve race equality 

For Goal 4 

Inclusive leadership at all levels 

Objective 

To support improvements in health outcomes, patient access and a 
diverse inclusive workforce for all; papers that come before the Board 

and other major committees identify equality-related impacts 
including risks and say how these risks are to be managed 
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Objective for Goals 1, 2 and 3 

Improvement on the collection of data on protected characteristic:  

 for patients at referral so adjustments to services can be made  

 patient complaint data 

 workforce data 
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Figure 01: conventional linear map of resource consumption in our supply chain 

3.28 Sustainability and climate change report  
Overview: approaching sustainability in 2015-16 

During periods of budget deficit and intense cost pressure, any organisation will 

generate significant benefit from placing ‘sustainability’ at the heart of its decision-

making processes. 

‘Sustainability’ in this sense, and as referred to throughout this chapter, is about 

our ability to indefinitely look after the working connections between the 

environmental, social and financial resources that we all depend upon for our 

wellbeing and quality of life.  

The concepts and methods it provides will deliver both the quick wins and longer 

term resilience that are often overlooked, or only partially accounted for, in trying 

to relieve immediate financial burdens and assure future security. The distinct 

benefits of sustainability come from looking at the value of what we use in running 

our hospitals from a whole-life perspective. A view and set of approaches that 

provides invaluable additional dimensions to those expressed in the recent Lord 

Carter reports on ‘Productivity in the NHS’i or the King’s Fund report on ‘Better 

Value in the NHS’ii. 

This whole-life perspective is about: 

 looking after the true value of the resources that we take from the environment 

 understanding and reducing the negative impacts of the interconnected actions 

that add value to these resources as they are shaped into the goods and 

services we need, and then 

 holding on to as much of this accumulated value as possible when the resources 

are finally released back into the environment in one form or another 

It is about sustaining this value – not wasting it or allowing it to pollute other 

shared resources that we all need and are already stretched. This retaining and 

feedback of resources, as opposed to ‘throwing them away’, transforms the take-

make-use-throw away linear map of consumption into a much safer, and cost-

saving, circular one – often now referred to as the circular economy. 

Actions that sustain value are of direct and immediate help to the drive for 

improved productivity, efficiency and value for money.  

The Trust’s energy and sustainability team with vital support from all corners of 

estates and facilities, alongside a range of clinical colleagues and Board advocates, 

have spent another successful year seeking to ‘sustain value’ in everything we do.    

This report summarises the Trust’s 2015-16 sustainability contributions to the 

process of: 

 delivering cost efficiencies 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
99 

 

CUH sustaining 
value 

opportunities 
Resource losses, carbon & pollution 

Heating Generation, consumption (gas 
purchasing), some recovery, retention, 
behaviours 

Dissipation and emissions 

Cooling Generation & consumption (electricity 
purchased), retention, behaviours 

Dissipation and emissions 

Electricity Purchasing, consumption with some 
generation, behaviours 

Emissions 

Water Purchasing, harvesting, consumption, 
use, recycling, compliance, behaviours 

Flushing, pollution 

Transportation Use of services, fuel consumption, 
vehicle purchasing 

Emissions 

Plant Purchasing, use, maintenance, upgrade, 
repair 

Disposal 

Equipment Purchasing, use, maintenance, 
reallocation, repair, replace, recycling 

Low value recycling, 
disposal 

Medical Devices Purchasing, use, some re-use, some 
repair, reallocation, some recycling 

Low value recycling, 
disposal (emissions) 

Instruments Purchasing, use, some re-use, unused 
reallocation, some recycling 

Low value recycling, 
disposal (emissions) 

Materials Purchasing, use, behaviours, unused, 
reallocation, some recycling 

Low value recycling, 
disposal (emissions) 

Linens Use of service, purchasing, use, re-use, 
unused re-allocation, some recycling 

Low value recycling, 
limited disposal 
(emissions) 

Pharmaceuticals Purchasing, use and dispensing, 
behaviours 

Low value recycling, some 
disposal 

Food Purchasing, consumption, reallocation, 
composting 

Landfill and compost 
emissions 

 

 

 achieving optimal returns on investment and revenue costs 

 accounting for lifecycle costs that cover the broader impacts on wellbeing, 

community and a safe natural environment (incorporating carbon reduction to 

address the climate change imperative). 

These contributions have been identified throughout the year within that part of the 

supply chain where CUH has the most direct control, or exert some influence, as 

indicated in Figure 1, above. 

 

Delivering the full value of sustainability 
The table below establishes the specific elements within the portions of the supply 

chain where the Trust is actively contributing to sustaining value: through 

countering profligate resource use, low or nil retained value in waste management, 

environmental degradation and excessive carbon emissions.  

Table 37: Prime sources for activity to maximise sustainable value at CUH 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In developing projects from each of these elements we always endeavour to ensure 

that the Trust sustains the maximum value possible. If not, then the return on 

investment is undermined, and any future project to retain the remnant value will 

likely prove unviable. Projects that fall short in this way often do no more than 

deliver a ‘less unsustainable’ outcome (as opposed to genuinely getting 

sustainability done). 

Sustaining value can only be maximised by applying a full life cycle impact 

assessment across the value chain of whatever item (product, service or utility) is 
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being used or consumed. Having thus understood the full material value in the item 

a decision can be made as to how to ensure that as little value as possible is 

wasted. 

Typically the more often something can be re-used, repaired or re-allocated to 

another use the more the value is held – with almost total loss coming from landfill 

or incineration (especially if the latter does not include heat recovery). Figure 2, 

below, illustrates this point and lies at the heart of the economic model of 

sustainability – the ‘circular economy’. 

 

Figure 02: Sustaining value retention in our supply chains 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Too much of the energy and natural resources put into products and utilities is lost 

or downgraded to a low level of value. This means ‘new’ energy and virgin natural 

materials are required to keep providing the products. These resources are limited 

and becoming more expensive. 

Organisations that find new ‘circles’ and ‘loops’ to hold value in their supply chains 

will be taking important steps to reduce costs and improve long-term resilience. 

 

Our framework for delivery 
The Trust’s framework for fulfilling its sustainability and climate change 

responsibilities is formally established in the Board-adopted sustainable 

development management plan 2013-2020 (SDMP): 

‘CUH will aim to understand the impact the organisation has on the environment 

and local community and will develop strategies to reduce its carbon footprint’. 

CUH has been working for several years to handle its core sustainability 

responsibilities by reducing the environmental, social and economic costs of the 

energy, waste, water and transport needs that underpin its healthcare delivery. 

From this strategic position a first stage SDMP work plan has been implemented 

and will be comprehensively reviewed alongside the SDMP itself in the coming year. 

The current plan adopts a conventional approach: 
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SDMP Core targets (2007/8 base) 

 Reduce Scope 1 & 2 

carbon emissions by 40% 

by 2017 

 Reduce Scope 1, 2 & 3 

carbon emissions by 34% 

by 2020 

 reducing utility demand by improving the efficiency of equipment in use (from 

heat exchangers to lighting and water pressure) 

 recovering energy on site wherever possible (from combined heat and power 

plant to incineration and ventilation)  

 finding recycling routes for all our waste streams (from plastic to plasterboard  

and from single use instruments to coffee grounds)  

 providing lower carbon and more active travel choices for staff, visitors and 

patients. 

 

This approach has continued to deliver important results throughout 2015/16 – 

saving resources, money and carbon as outlined in the sections below. 

As introduced in the sections above, however, it is essential 

that these basic combined responses to cost-saving, carbon 

reduction and environmental degradation take another big 

stride forward. A stride that much more effectively 

embraces:  

 the ideas of a circular economy  

 the concept of maximising the retention of value 

 the methods of full life cycle assessment  

 the financial processes of connecting capital budgets with their operational and 

maintenance counterparts. 

 

Targets 
The SDMP's core targets are tied to reducing the 

Trust's greenhouse gas emissions, typically related to 

as its carbon footprint. This is a measure of its 

contribution to man-made climate change expressed in 

terms of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) emissions -or 

carbon emissions for short. Actions to reduce these 

emissions fall roughly into two categories:  

 

 those arising directly from our service delivery on 

or around campus (eg heating, electricity and 

travel – known as Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon emissions) 

 those embedded in the off-site manufacture and disposal of all the goods we 

purchase (eg pharmaceuticals, instruments, linen etc – known as Scope 3 

emissions).  

 

As introduced in the previous section, the Trust has far more direct control of (and 

ability to accurately measure) its Scope 1 and 2 emissions than it does for its Scope 

3 emissions. This is an important distinction and one that requires very different 

approaches to managing effective reductions. 

For the essential energy, waste, water and transport elements of the Trust's 

operational infrastructure that we have reasonably direct control over, then we are 

in a position to sustainably manage them through applying reduce, recover, recycle 

and ‘smarter choices’ thinking. We can readily calculate consumption and carbon 

footprints because we directly pay for the metered gas, electricity, diesel, water, 

and petrol that we use in and around campus to run the organisation. With 

upgraded and smarter metering we can identify specific properties, equipment or 

processes that will benefit the most from taking up sustainability options. 
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When we buy goods in from our suppliers, however, then the energy, waste, water 

and transport involved in their production and delivery is not in our direct control 

and so calculating the carbon, footprints becomes more  speculative.  

These footprints are hugely significant. The NHS Sustainable Development Unit has 

estimated that Scope 3 emissions account for at least 60% of a Trust's carbon 

footprint. This is calculated by applying a carbon intensity value to every pound 

sterling spent on a specific product type. This allows us to identify where the big 

carbon costs are but does not provide us with a means for illustrating sustainability 

improvements, bar spending less on a product.  

In the majority of cases, carbon emissions, as well as other direct relationships with 

the realities of climate change, are a useful proxy for both the addition and loss of 

value in the supply chain. CO2e concentrations in the atmosphere typically increase 

as resources are extracted, products are made, services delivered and finally waste 

disposed of. The lowering of carbon emissions is generally a clear sign that a supply 

chain has become more efficient, less polluting and effectively retaining the value of 

its outputs. 

 
2015/16 delivery 
The Trust, like much of the healthcare sector and hospitals in particular, is a highly 

intense consumer of natural resources. In any one day over 8700 staff work across 

260,000m2 to treat and provide the essential support services for over 700 

inpatients, 2500 outpatients, 170 ED attendances and 120 operations alongside 

hosting thousands of visitors and providing first class teaching and research 

facilities. This is all done in carefully managed conditions of infection control, 

deploying the best technology, equipment and materials whilst administering one-

to-one patient-centred treatments with a myriad of medicines, instruments, 

furniture, linen, food, and extensive laboratory, office supply and information 

technology services plus thousands of units of electricity and heat and thousands of 

litres of water,  that in turn all require fully maintained distribution, transport, 

purchasing and waste disposal services.  

We recognise that this associated and essential energy, waste, water and travel 

intensity is part of the UK's over-consumption of natural resources – an over-

consumption that means we would need around three planet earths if everyone in 

the world lived this way. Our responsibility and commitment is to make sure that 

we are playing our part to design waste out of our systems and find alternative 

more sustainable means of provision that ensure we are on the road to delivering 

‘one planet’ safe, kind, excellent health and care.  

There is a very important distinction here between ‘doing sustainability’ with 

reference to the linear take-make-use-throwaway approach to consumption and 

‘doing sustainability’ with reference to the circular economy approach of constantly 

understanding and holding onto value.  

In the former, sustainability actions are typically applied at the end of the line to try 

and reclaim what is often a relatively small proportion of the value from all the 

resources applied throughout the supply chain. Probably only making consumption 

less unsustainable.  

In the latter, retaining value throughout the supply chain is inherent to all 

production processes. This means that, through commercially driven innovation and 

designs (based upon full lifecycle assessments), elemental re-use and high value 

recycling become not only the norm but a major economic growth sector in itself. 

The table below provides the conventional CUH headline indicators attached to the 

sustainability agenda a numeric summary of our environmental sustainability for 
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2015-16. The following four sections provide the essential narrative required to give 

the numbers meaning and to generate a more tangible understanding of our 

performance. 
 

Table 38 

Summary performance table – energy, waste, water and travel 

 Units 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Total gross internal floor space m
2
 261,665 266,797 261,965 

Energy and carbon: Units 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Total Grid electricity consumed  MWh 21,678 28,565 32,814 
a
 

Total Grid CO2 emissions  tCO2 12,138 17,691 18,865 
a
 

Total gas consumed MWh 83,948 42,038 30,289 
a
 

Total gas CO2 emissions tCO2 17,809 8,820 6,355
 a
 

Total oil consumed MWh 303 391 323 

Total oil CO2 emissions tCO2 97 125 103 

Total CO2 emissions tCO2 30,044 26,636  25,323 

Waste throughput: Units 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Clinical waste incineration + energy recovery tonnes 2,134 2,022 2,145 

Landfill disposal waste tonnes 803 824 901 
b
 

Waste Recycling tonnes 1,008 1,063 1,013 

Water consumption: Units 2013/14 2014/15 2012/13 

Water Volume m
3 

443,308 418,499 438,454 

Travel choices (staff): Units 2013/14 2014/15 2012/13 

Car single occupancy commute % staff 29 25 26 

Bus commute % staff 26 25 28 

Bicycle commute % staff 30 33 33 

Notes: 
a
 Decommissioning of combined heat and power plant has increased grid electricity and reduced mains gas. 

 

b
 Increase due  to re-inclusion of incinerator ash (previous recycling option ended) 

Conversion factors source: http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/delivery/measure/reporting.aspx 

 

Integrated and cross-cutting sustainability 
The Trust’s formally adopted sustainable development management plan (2013-

2020) makes it very clear that the route to reducing environmental impact, cutting 

resource and carbon costs whilst securing long-term health and wellbeing is a 

shared one in which everybody has a role to play – sustainability is for everyone.  

Since 2007, this essential collaboration has been expressed site-wide through 

CUH’s distinct ‘Think Green’ identity. Numerous projects and initiatives have since 

been brought forward and delivered.  

When we talk about ‘integrated’ sustainability in practice we refer to those aspects 

that run across everything we do. The two of greatest weight within the Trust’s 

sphere of influence are: i) behaviour change, and ii) procurement. Because they 

touch everything they are also the hardest to comprehensively deliver across an 

organisation as large and complex as CUH. The principles of sustainable behaviour 

and sustainable procurement may be straightforward to grasp, but shaping them in 

ways that comprehensively influence supplant the breadth of 260,000m2 of acute 

teaching hospitals’ activities that are, unconsciously, pulling in the opposite 

direction is a sizeable and constantly shifting challenge. One size does not fit all and 

simply recounting what seem like relevant events on a ‘fit where they touch’ basis 

does not deliver the required sustainability progress that is now an imperative. 
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i.) Behaviour change 

Last year the Trust successfully piloted the new ‘Think Green’ impact programme 

(TGI). This is a tailored version of the National Union of Students’ popular 

accreditation scheme that encourages pro-environmental behaviours by 

staff working in small local teams. It empowers sustainability 

champions, providing them with a framework of practical actions, 

helping them gain recognition for their environmental efforts, whilst 

playing on the competitive spirit of people working together in 

teams. Re-launched in October this year, the programme has 

already exceeded the target number of registered teams with 29 

signed up. 

The longer term intention is to help bring the ‘Green Impact’ programme to all 

major partners on site (the University are already members). 

 

ii.) Procurement 

Developing practical responses to the fact that the majority of a hospital’s 

environmental impact is external to what actually happens on site (ie derived from 

the goods it purchases and waste it generates) is receiving concerted attention and 

finding a strong ally in the previously introduced ‘circular economy’ model for 

sustained growth. The Trust has continued to support the NHS Sustainable 

Development Unit in work that examines the sustainability impacts of a range of 

patient care pathways. This is founded on rigorous life cycle assessments of all the 

resources deployed and waste generated in each pathway. 

The sustainability team have continued to work with procurement colleagues and 

the national Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) to develop a practical 

approach for integrating sustainability criteria within tender briefs and assessments. 

This is now to be drafted into a working procedure so that all those entering into a 

quotation or tender exercise can feel confident to: include a meaningful 

sustainability section, draft a relevant set of testing criteria, to assess and score 

responses. 

 

Sustaining value in the main energy and water utilities 
The sustainable management of the Trust’s mains grid supplied utilities is currently 

going through its biggest period of transition since Addenbrooke’s moved to the 

Hills Road site in 1962. Over the next four years, life-expired plant and older ways 

of doing things will be replaced. Some of these changes are matters of 

improvement-based choice and some are matters of necessity: but for all of them, 

with a site as complex and intense as the Cambridge Biomedical Campus (CBC), 

careful and well considered planning is essential. The Campus energy infrastructure 

programme was established at the beginning of the year to do exactly this.  

In picking up on the previously identified need and benefits of constructing a new 

energy centre, to replace the ageing heating capacity of the existing boiler house, it 

has gone much further – placing this new piece of infrastructure within the 

complete campus energy picture that also embraces district scale heat distribution, 

high voltage electricity, cooling and associated centralised control systems. From 

the perspective of a more sustainable supply, the current plans provide options that 

not only ensure capacity and resilience as the site negotiates a period of extended 

expansion and refurbishment, but also secure major plant improvements to 

efficiency ratings and the inclusion of low carbon technologies. 

At the heart of maximising sustainable value in this process is the deployment of 

high efficiency boiler and combined heat and power units that ensure the maximum 

energy outputs from the fuels used (either gas or biomass) in combination with a 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
105 

 

 

transition from steam to low temperature hot water as the distribution medium. 

The Trust’s long serving CHP gas turbine was in effect taken out of commission at 

the end of 2014 due to major construction works to the west of the campus 

requiring the removal of the high pressure gas pipeline. The importance of 

replacing this plant with high efficiency gas or biomass plant is pressing in pure 

financial terms alone. New CHP plant is essential so that the Trust can rebalance 

and cut its energy budget by taking advantage of: the ‘spark gap’ between mains 

gas and electricity supplies, the government-driven renewable heat incentive, 

demand side response programme and the dismantling of the carbon reduction 

commitment with a parallel increase in the Climate Change Levy (exemptions to 

which were removed in August 2015 for low carbon electricity supplies). The 

availability of low carbon heat and power across the site is also important from the 

perspective of meeting land use planning conditions – as the valuable PV array on 

the roof of the Rosie achieved for the perinatal extension. 

Alongside the progressive planning and 

implementation of this extensive upgrade to the 

Campus Energy Infrastructure (CEI) over the next 

one to four years, the Trust continues to work hard 

to: i) maintain the efficiency of existing centralised 

plant and, ii) deliver a continuous stream of 

demand side measures schemes that reduce costs 

and carbon emissions across a variety of building 

services.  

The former has seen essential maintenance and 

repairs to both site main boilers Nos 4 and 5 and 

incinerator boiler No2 in tandem with the 

deployment of backup temporary capacity over the winter months (as boiler No7). 

Each of these actions, although highlighting the need for the CEI programme, has 

reduced gas consumption whilst maintaining capacity and resilience. 

The latter has delivered a broad and varied range of schemes funded through the 

Trust’s long term and well deployed five-year payback invest-to-save programme 

that takes full advantage of Salix match-funding. The works commissioned and 

completed this year are listed in Table 36 below.  

 

Table 39 

Invest-to-save Salix funded cost & carbon reduction projects 

Project Cost 
saving 
(£/year) 

CO2 
saving 
(t/year) 

Payback 
period 
(years) 

Upgrading main steam ring insulation £22,112 107.63 0.61 

Insulation of Frank Lee Centre swimming pool roof £7,676 37.36 5.44 

Heat recovery Frank Lee Swimming Pool £5,326 25.93 4.52 

LED street lighting upgrade Main Drive £2,121 10.86 5.56 

LED lighting upgrade & control Level 1 Pharmacy £1,592 8.15 6.40 

LED street lighting upgrade remainder of site £8,112 33.27 5.00 

LED lighting upgrade admin & services Level 1 £15,011 61.56 4.32 

Plant room insulation £1,028 6.32 5.34 

Totals £62,978 291.08 ∅4.65 
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The final two significant LED lighting upgrade schemes (improving light quality 

whilst cutting costs and carbon) in the Table have been successfully tendered and 

will be installed in April-May 2016. The first covers internal service and 

administration areas on Level 1 and the second completes the external upgrade of 

the campus street lighting. 

Both these routes to controlling carbon emissions (campus scale plant renewal and 

smaller scale demand side measures projects) have even greater value with the 

hospitals almost constantly running at their limits of capacity alongside increasing 

demands for pathology, imaging and the embedding of e-hospital across the site. 

In terms of water saving, the Trust is now in full receipt of the financial and 

resource benefits of pressure control on the site’s two main supply incomers. The 

launch of market deregulation in April 2017 will see the business sector water 

market restructured. The commercially competitive opportunities that this is 

designed to deliver is expected to provide us with packaged added value options 

(such as leak detection and automated metering) and a marginal reduction in costs. 

 

Sustaining value through managing the ‘waste’ stream 
The Trust has proudly held the Carbon Trust Waste 

Standard in 2015/16. The standard itself, and the 

exceptionally high score that we achieved, shows that 

the Trust is well on top of its recycling and waste 

management processes. Current circular economy 

thinking, to make sure that the maximum value is 

retained in the supply chain, takes this challenge a 

significant step further towards sustainability. Reducing 

waste is important (eg through recycling), holding the 

value of products so that they don’t become waste is 

taking this a progressive step further forward. 

As presented in the introduction, this means going beyond the first phase of finding 

a disposal route for ‘waste’ that is not a total loss and, to greater or lesser degrees, 

environmentally destructive (eg landfill or incineration). It means proactively not 

thinking of unwanted materials as waste at all but, rather, as something valuable 

that can be reused, repaired, reallocated or, if these aren’t possible, recycled with a 

value retention that is as high as possible. 

Reducing consumption in the first place is the first step in waste avoidance – only 

procuring the absolutely necessary. The Trust has pursued this line with renewed 

vigour this year. All purchases have been subject to very close scrutiny and 

justification (the challenging ‘T3’ process). 

Alongside this, an on-going review of what actually is purchased to ensure best 

value for money, without compromising patient care, has importantly also begun to 

include, with increasing transparency, the lifecycle impact assessment 

considerations of heating, cooling, power and water consumption along with 

transport and disposal. 

This approach has been successfully incorporated through both the clinical 

consumables evaluation group and, as outlined above, the review of formal tender 

processes where the implications on the Trust of managing disposal (together with 

other ‘in-use’ factors) are now accepted as valid considerations.  

CUH has continued to develop the highest practical value retention processes and 

disposal routes for items that are considered unserviceable, life-expired or 

redundant. These include: 
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 Swap Shop: intranet-based scheme for redundant office furniture and 

equipment 

 Addenbrooke’s Abroad: sending surplus equipment and materials, via charitable 

routes, to healthcare providers abroad who are struggling to secure these 

supplies 

 Clinical Engineering and Estates and Facilities repair teams: fixing and making 

good items of equipment and infrastructure that would otherwise fall out of 

service and into the waste stream 

 Food waste collections: transferring leftovers to the commercial anaerobic 

digestion plant near Royston 

 Single use instrument metal reclamation: collecting, sterilising and passing 

through to recyclers the high grade metal content 

 

Regrettably the previous recycling route for incinerator ash has come to an end. 

This has pushed up the annual tonnage to ‘landfill’ – an alternative recycling route 

will continue to be sought. 

It is important to note that the Trust’s current domestic waste disposal contractor 

(Amey Cespa) have a mechanical and biological treatment plant at their works in 

Waterbeach. This provides a low value recycling route for the majority of domestic 

waste so that it is not consigned to landfill. 

Much work has been done this year to make further measurable progress with the 

perennial challenge of the low grade recycling of domestic waste. This is essentially 

all the small scale non-hazardous waste that is put in the thousands of clear bag 

lined bins across the site by staff, patients and visitors. We know, from examining 

the contents, that at least 40-50% of this could be put into dry-mixed recycling 

(DMR) bins. Even though this is fairly low-grade recycling (predominantly 

packaging of one sort or another, which it would be better value to reduce or re-use 

if at all possible) there is a significant cost saving to be found in disposal rates 

between the use of the Trust’s heat recovery incinerators (£180/tonne), contract 

removal of domestic waste (£114/tonne) and contract removal of DMR (£50/tonne) 

– as illustrated in the schematic overleaf. 

To capture the saving in these rates, therefore, we need to help staff, patients and 

visitors to put their recyclable waste into the DMR stream as opposed to the 

domestic stream. A carefully planned programme to strengthen and extend the 

DMR segregation and collection streams has been implemented throughout the 

year. This has seen: 

 the deployment of green recycling bins and withdrawal of a significant number 

of small waste bins (most admin areas can easily manage with one small 

domestic bin and one small DMR bin per six to ten staff – where previously 

there might have been six to ten separate domestic bins) 

 the introduction of green liners for DMR bins (to distinguish the content from 

domestic waste) 

 the supply of extra capacity to aggregate this waste for collection (large 

wheeled and trolley bins in waste holds and chute rooms) 

 the provision of tailored training and communications on the benefits of 

segregation and understanding the domestic and DMR waste streams 
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Figure 03: the value of Dry-Mixed Recycling (DMR) 

 

 

 

 

 

CUH’s two waste incinerators continue to provide significant financial and 

sustainability benefits through both heat recovery and not having to send clinical 

waste off-site for disposal. Incineration is a very closely regulated process with 

appropriately stringent operational and emissions standards. The Incineration Team 

are constantly taking steps to not only do better than these rigorous standards but 

also to generate cost savings through improved plant efficiency and operations. 

 

Sustainable travel and transport 
At the heart of sustainable travel for the Trust is enabling the progressive shift of 

‘modal choice’ for staff, patients and visitors 

away from the single occupancy high 

emissions (over 100g CO2e/km) motor car to 

more active and lower emission options, 

alongside sharing modes and, if possible, 

finding alternatives to the need to travel in 

the first place. Enabling this shift is also important in minimising the health impact 

of poor air quality from exhaust particulate and nitrogen oxides emissions. 

The Trust has a long-term, strong and continuous track record of delivering an 

effective mix of travel planning regulation, incentive and support for staff, patients 

and visitors (most especially for the former) as the table overleaf illustrates. 

2015/16 has seen the first substantive steps to restructure this success within the 

wider context of the rapidly expanding Cambridge Biomedical Campus (CBC). The 

opening of the new Papworth Hospital, AsteaZeneca’s new headquarters and three 

new University buildings from 2017/18 (alongside the proposed development of the 

Trust’s own allocation of 65,000m2 of new clinical space) will bring in excess of 

6,000 new staff to the Campus. 

In order to minimise congestion, cut carbon emissions, protect air quality and 

improve the wellbeing of everybody coming on and off site, it is essential that the 

Trust and its existing and new campus partners work together to ensure that this 

happens. This is being effectively achieved under the auspices of Cambridge 
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University Health Partners (CUHP) to which the Trust has continued to provide 

leadership and experience in travel, transport and sustainability.  

 

Table 40  

Traffic survey results by modal split 

 

Whilst CUH is acknowledged as an exemplar of high quality travel planning, there is 

always more to do to support staff, patients and visitors in finding alternatives to 

the single occupancy motor car. The significant gains now required for mitigating 

the impacts of major site expansion, and importantly assisting patients and visitors, 

relate most tellingly to improving the physical and service infrastructure that 

provides access to and from the Campus, for buses and cycles in particular, 

alongside endeavouring to improve on-site supporting facilities. To this end the 

primary activities this year have involved working with county and city council 

colleagues, alongside service providers and other interested organisations, in 

developing and informing the shape and outcome of a diverse array of 

infrastructure and service projects: 

 securing the funding and developing the brief for an on-line ‘journey planner’ 

that highlights the most sustainable choices available for getting to and from 

specific locations on site 

 drafting and publishing a new campus access map to maintain confidence in 

cycle routes, rack locations, pedestrian footways and changes to bus stops as 

the extensive construction works to the west of the site are rolled out 

 progressing the lengthy process of relocating the OWL bicycle repair service to 

an improved facility that will enable full Monday to Friday on-site provision 

 attracting planning obligation funds to improve cycle, pedestrian and disabled 

access at the Red Cross Lane entry-exit point 

 drafting and publishing a new map of Campus walks 

 facilitating highways consultations and ensuring that campus interests are fully 

accounted for in relation to: i) City Deal projects for a Western Orbital, 

Babraham Road, A10 Royston to Cambridge, the Chisholm Trail and the Smart 
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City data hub, and; ii) Cambridge Cycle City Ambition Fund projects, especially 

the comprehensive Hills road cycleway upgrade 

 pavement and cycleway lighting of the campus Guided Busway spur 

 traffic management and staff modal choice surveys  

 reviewing ‘grey fleet’ business miles (staff traveling in their own cars on 

business) to optimise use of the Trust’s low carbon, better value pool car fleet                                                  

 

Being prepared for the impact of climate change 
The cumulative concentration of excessive greenhouse gasses in the atmosphere 

from human activity has already committed us to experience a significant degree of 

climate change. In Cambridge the most immediate of these is likely to be felt 

through building overheating from summer heat-waves. In 2013 a hot spell in 

England was estimated to have caused 650 premature deaths. The 2003 heat-wave 

led to over 2,000 premature deaths in England and Wales. Surface water flooding 

from more frequent and intense storm events is also an anticipated outcome of 

climate change. This became a reality on 17 July 2015 when a 1-in-190 year heavy 

rainfall and flooding event caused the Trust to declare a ‘major incident’. 

A comprehensive review of the site’s existing cooling capacity has been included in 

the important and on-going energy strategy and business case development work. 

The CUHP travel, transport and sustainability work stream has included in its work 

plan a campus-wide review of the complex issue of surface water drainage 

capacities and management practices. 

 

Looking forward 
The pressure to deliver healthcare in ways that minimise the loss of natural 

resources and environmental damage, whilst also responding to the urgent 

demands of the climate change agenda, continues to be both a major challenge and 

a major opportunity for the NHS.  

In 2016/17 the Trust’s sustainability activities will continue to deliver direct and 

indirect financial savings for the Trust through projects to improve the efficiency of 

utility consumption (electricity, gas and water), minimise the costs of waste 

management through increased recycling and re-use, reduce traffic congestion and 

improve health and wellbeing by facilitating active travel choices. 

These conventional ‘end-of-pipe’ outcomes are important, valuable and now well 

understood but, typically, fall into the category of making healthcare less 

unsustainable. 

The second phase of the delivering sustainability, takes this understanding further: 

to the point where the loss of resources, environmental damage and carbon 

emissions are avoided proactively by design. 

Over the period of this report, we have tested the evidence and business cases for 

three important streams of proactive sustainability work. These will be brought 

forward and built upon in 2016/17: 

 the campus energy infrastructure programme – progressively and 

comprehensively replacing centralised heating, high voltage and cooling plant to 

provide immediate savings and a campus that is fit for a safer and more secure 

future 

 the on-going roll-out of the ‘Think Green’ impact small team staff engagement 

scheme – helping staff to create working environments that sustain value and 

avoid any waste of resources at the point of use 

 the practical introduction of whole-life costing within all procurement processes 
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3.29 Other issues 
The activities and policies of the CUH in the areas of social, environmental, 

community and human rights are outlined chapter 3 and specifically the equality 

and diversity report and sustainability and climate change report. 

 

 
 
Roland Sinker 
CUH Chief Executive 
25 May 2016 
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4. The quality report  
4.1 Statement from the Chief Executive 

Delivering high-quality care for our patients 365 days a year is the reason for CUH’s 

existence, and this means ensuring that our patients feel safe and comfortable 

while they are here, and that the care they receive is right for them and not just 

what our clinicians think is right. This approach is summed up in the Trust’s values 

of Together – safe kind excellent. Since I joined, in November 2015, as CUH’s Chief 

Executive, I have witnessed many occasions when staff have demonstrated these 

values. 

However, in September the Trust had received an inadequate rating from the CQC 

and been placed in special measures by Monitor. The CQC’s findings showed that 

the Trust didn’t have the robust systems and processes in place to support the 

management and delivery of high-quality care, and Monitor asked us to review our 

funding for services and staff.  

This must have been very difficult for both staff and the Trust. One of the first 

things that struck me in my first few days was the high-quality of care, and 

compassionate care that our staff give to our patients every day, and this was very 

reassuring to see. I was also impressed that the organisation had responded quickly 

and positively to the immediate recommendations in the CQC report, such as fixing 

the problem of nitrous oxide monitoring in the Rosie Hospital.  

Against the backdrop of these current challenges, CUH remains the hospital of 

choice for many patients, not just from Cambridgeshire but also from across the 

region and nationally. Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie hospitals continue to deliver 

excellent outcomes for patients with, for example, better five-year cancer survival 

rates than the England and European averages. Nearly all our patients experienced 

harm-free care here; this makes us one of the top five safest teaching hospitals and 

we have one of the lowest death-rates in the country. As well as this, 91% of our 

staff would recommend CUH as a place to receive treatment, a figure which is 20% 

higher than then national NHS acute average. These statistics are testament to the 

high-quality of care our staff deliver to patients every day. 

Listening to CUH's many stakeholders, including staff, patients and partners, about 

their experiences of our hospitals, was invaluable in allowing me to define three key 

areas to prioritise immediately: addressing the quality concerns identified by the 

CQC, taking some immediate actions to address the Trust’s financial position, and 

reducing the time patients wait for treatment at our hospitals. 

I am pleased to report that there is very strong evidence of sustainable 

improvements on the quality issues. We have cut length-of-stay, reduced the 

numbers of cancelled operations and reduced the backlog in outpatients. We have 

employed more staff and, to date, we have met all cancer standards since October 

2015. In December, working with partners, we achieved the target for waiting 

times in our emergency department.  

There are a number of important areas which will take longer to resolve. For 

example addressing the culture of the organisation and the way we organise the 

Trust, and of course addressing the significant financial challenges facing the Trust, 

which will be a focus for the next three to five years.  

We are pleased to be working with our partners within the Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough health economy to improve the local healthcare system. This will feed 

into our comprehensive strategy, which will not only define the shape of our 
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services for the next five years, but will also map out how we plan to return to 

financial sustainability.  

There has been progress, but there are also challenges, in the two major strategic 

projects integral to improving quality for patients in the long-term – eHospital and 

UnitingCare. As with any implementation of this scale, eHospital hasn’t been 

without its challenges. We have learnt important lessons which have helped us to 

develop, and from which the rest of the NHS will benefit as we all move towards the 

government’s ambition of a digital NHS. 

Our long-term strategy will include how CUH will function in the health economy 

and ensure that we build on the effective models of care that UnitingCare 

developed, and also outline how we can make the most of the innovation and life-

sciences that Cambridge is famous for.  

In order to ensure the success of the implementation of the strategy, we will be 

continuing the dialogue with patients, staff and partners, and we thank them for 

their support and commitment. 

My goal is for CUH to regain its position as one of the region’s leading healthcare 

organisations, delivering the best care to local people, as well as contributing to 

future treatments. 

I look forward to working with our patients, staff and stakeholders as we continue 

our journey of improvement in this, our 250th Anniversary year. 

 

 
 

Roland Sinker 

Chief Executive Officer 

25 May 2016 

 

4.2 Cambridge University Hospitals in context  
CUH is many things: a teaching hospital for a world-famous university; a centre for 

international research; a specialist centre for treatment and, most importantly to 

our patients, it provides district general hospital services for Cambridge and the 

surrounding area through our hospitals – Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie. These 

combined strengths offer our community the benefits of international research and 

care on their doorstep as we translate work from the laboratory directly into new 

treatments and therapies in clinics, theatres and wards.  

The past year has seen the organisation face significant challenges, both internal 

and external, as it seeks to understand, manage and adapt to the demands of the 

wider health economy in which it plays such a central role. In September 2015, 

following an investigation into the Trust’s finances and governance arrangements, 

and publication of a Care Quality Commission (CQC) report rating the Trust as 

‘inadequate’, the Trust was placed in special measures by Monitor. 

In response, the Trust has developed a comprehensive, and overarching 

improvement plan, to improve the delivery and efficiency of services and supporting 

infrastructure. The plan serves to bring together a number of subsidiary plans, each 

addressing a specific facet of our activity, and supported by a robust 

implementation and monitoring programme. The quality aspects of our plan are 

described in more detail later in this report. 
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We are also now in our second year of operating with a comprehensive electronic 

patient record system in the form of Epic, as part of a ten year eHospital 

programme. The period following deployment saw a number of significant 

challenges, but we are now entering a phase where Epic has become very much a 

part of daily life and, as we consolidate our position, we are settling to the task of 

ensuring that we realise the many benefits of the system. 

Throughout this somewhat difficult time, the Trust has been consistently supported 

by the dedication and tenacity of its staff, who have always been willing to go the 

extra mile for an organisation which all believe can, and should, aspire to rank 

amongst the best. 

 
    

Our aim remains to …   

  

Provide high quality healthcare and a first-class service 

through collaboration with research, academic and 

healthcare colleagues, and by engagement with our 

patients, their families and carers, and the wider 

community. While we recognise the need to improve, and 

are taking all necessary steps to ensure that the required 

changes are made, we are proud of the rating by the Care 

Quality Commission of our staff as ‘outstanding’ in the 

quality domain of ‘Caring’. 

 

 
 

4.3 2015/16 activity  
During 2015/16 we treated more patients than ever before; the following table sets 

out key activity numbers. 

 

Table 38 

Patients treated: comparison of 2014/15 and 2015/16 

  2014/15 2015/16 Increase or decrease 

Visits to 
outpatients 

592,288 684,560 15.6% 

Births 5,716 5,953 4.1% 

Day cases 116,360 123,429 6.1% 

Total inpatients 61,400 61,870 0.8% 
- elective  12,361 10,890 11.9% 
- emergency > 85 

years old 
5,694 6,005 5.5% 

- emergency < 85 
years old 

35,628 37,453 5.1% 

- maternity 7,717 7,522 2.5% 

A&E attendances 105,804 108,972 3.0% 

Total  881,568 984,784 11.7% 
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The increase in the total number of patients seen has, and will, continue to 

challenge us in terms of having sufficient beds and staff to deliver the quality of 

care we aspire to provide. The number of patients with urgent and complex 

conditions has increased and, as can be seen from table 38, there has again been a 

significant increase in the number of patients aged 85 or older admitted as 

emergencies. This in turn has had a marked effect on our ability to deliver elective 

activity. 

The discrepancy between the increase in number of births against a decrease in 

maternity admissions is likely to be due to the introduction of triage of pregnant 

women in labour in an outpatient setting, before admitting them. This will also 

account for some of the rise in outpatient attendances. 

 

4.4 Working together to monitor quality 
We are proud of the strong relationships we have with our stakeholders: the 

involvement of patients, the public, governors, our local Healthwatch, and health 

system partners is, and will continue to be, central to reflecting back both our 

success and areas in which we need to improve, and in determining how we provide 

care and develop services for the future.  

Our governors are involved throughout the year in monitoring and scrutinising our 

performance, and discussing this in detail with the directors in a joint working 

group on quality and public engagement. There is also strong governor 

representation on our patient experience committee. The governors demonstrate 

their commitment to fulfilling their role as elected representatives of patients, 

public and staff through their direct activity in the community. 

We continue to work closely with our commissioning GPs, Cambridgeshire and 

Suffolk Healthwatch, and other stakeholders. Trust representatives regularly attend 

meetings of these bodies, participating in discussions where we can influence plans 

and respond to concerns which are important to the community’s health. 

The number of patients whose discharge is delayed while awaiting social or health 

care provision in the community remains a serious concern, not only for the welfare 

of those individuals, but also for the function of the health system as a whole. 

Working rapidly to achieve a more integrated system of care remains a priority, and 

we are particularly disappointed by the failure of the UnitingCare Partnership* so 

early in its life. 

 
*UnitingCare Partnership (UCP) was a partnership between CUH and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
NHS Foundation Trust. UCP successfully bid for a five year contract with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough CCG to provide older people's healthcare and adult community services across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough from 1st April 2015. The arrangement was terminated at the end of 
2015, as it was deemed not financially sustainable. 

 
4.5 Data and terms used in this report 

Unless stated otherwise, the data presented in this report is the latest available at 

31 March 2016. 

For an explanation of terms and abbreviations please see the glossary set out in 

Annex 7. 
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4.6 Quality at the heart of our improvement plan 
 

4.6.1 Our CQC inspection and improvement plan 

 

Our CQC inspection in April 2015 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) was placed in special 

measures by Monitor on 22nd September 2015, following an investigation into the 

Trust’s finances and governance arrangements, and publication of a Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) report rating the Trust as ‘Inadequate’. 

The overall ratings for each quality domain assessed by the inspection were: 

 

Figure 04 

CQC overall rating of CUH following inspection in April 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 05 

CQC rating of core services following inspection in April 2015 
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Key findings of concern were: 

 there was a significant shortfall of staff in a number of areas, including critical 

care services but, despite this, patients received excellent care 

 pressure on surgical services meant routine operations were frequently 

cancelled and patients were waiting longer than the 18-week referral to 

treatment target for operations 

 pressure on the outpatients department meant long delays for some specialties, 

and not all patients being followed up appropriately, particularly in 

ophthalmology and dermatology 

 there were some outstanding maternity services, but significant pressures led to 

regular closures and a midwife to birth ratio worse than the recommended level 

 disconnected governance arrangements meant that important messages from 

the clinical divisions were not highlighted at Trust Board level 

 introduction of the new Epic IT system for clinical records had affected the 

Trust’s ability to report, highlight and take action on data collected on the 

system. Although it was beginning to be embedded into practice, it was still 

having an impact on patient care and relationships with external professionals 

 medicines were not always prescribed correctly due to limitations of EPIC, 

although we were assured this was being remedied 

 
However, the inspection also found: 

 caring staff who did everything they could for patients in their care 

 effective and robust multidisciplinary working across the Trust 

 the emergency department and major trauma centre were efficient and effective 

 
The full report can be accessed on the CQC web site: 

http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RGT  or on request from the Trust (see section 

4.6.10). 

 
Our improvement plan 
Following the inspection, the Trust acted quickly to address the concerns raised, 

and developed a comprehensive improvement plan as a single document, bringing 

together multiple plans to improve the delivery and efficiency of services and 

supporting infrastructure at the Trust. These plans address the financial, 

governance, and performance issues the Trust is facing, as well as the concerns 

raised in the CQC Quality report following their inspection of the Trust. 

The improvement plan sets out our five thematic priority areas for improvement 

over the 12 months from October 2015: 

 leadership and accountability 

 strategy 

 quality improvement 

 operational capacity 

 financial recovery 

The use of an overarching plan, set out as a single and dynamic document, allows 

the Trust Board of Directors to drive delivery of the range of improvement activities 

in place, and can be used by the Trust Board of Directors, internal workstream 

leads and external stakeholders to track progress in delivering the improvement 

http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RGT
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that the Trust recognises is necessary to provide safe and excellent quality care for 

all our patients. 

 

Monitoring and assuring the plan delivery 
The Trust Board of Directors is accountable for delivery of the totality of the 

Improvement Plan, with day-to-day responsibility sitting with the Trust Chief 

Executive. The Trust is using best practice tools supported by a single Trust-wide 

programme management office (PMO) to support teams in developing fully costed 

plans, with detailed milestones, key performance indicators and timelines, assessed 

for quality impact and risks. 

Supporting governance arrangements ensure that the Trust Board reviews progress 

on a monthly basis, following scrutiny by the Board’s Quality Committee and 

Management Executive. A fortnightly Delivery Quality Board monitors the progress 

of each plan, risks to successful delivery and required mitigations. 

Monitor asked the Trust to consider how it provides stakeholders with external 

assurance over the delivery of the improvement plan, and a programme of 

assurance has been developed for each of the five themes and their subsidiary 

workstreams. The first external assurance visits for the initial quality improvement 

workstreams took place in January 2016. 

We publish our improvement plan on our website (www.cuh.orgh.uk) every month, 

and monthly stakeholder assurance meetings are held with a range of key 

organisations, including the CQC, the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Healthwatch Cambridgeshire. 

 
Progress to date 
Our inspection report contained a number of recommendations which fell into two 

categories: 15 ‘must do’ and a further 12 ‘should do’ actions. All were incorporated 

into the improvement plan, together with a number of broader and more strategic 

pieces of work. 

These actions have either been implemented or, where they involve longer term 

development, are on track. Examples of the former include risk assessing and 

prioritising patients waiting for outpatient appointments, ensuring that the process 

for completing ‘Do Not Attempt Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation’ (DNACPR) 

assessments is clear and effective, and ensuring that levels of environmental 

nitrous oxide in the delivery suites are properly monitored. A number of areas of 

concern were directly or indirectly associated with the integration of our new Epic 

electronic patient record, and more information on progress with this can be found 

in section 4.6.6. Overall progress can be followed in the monthly report, available 

online. 

A second CQC inspection was carried out in February 2016, focusing on the core 

services of surgery, maternity and gynaecology, and outpatient and diagnostic 

services. At the time of writing, we are awaiting the final inspection report, but we 

are confident that this will evidence the significant improvements already delivered 

by our actions in these, as well as in other, areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.cuh.orgh.uk/
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4.6.2 Duty of candour  

The Trust’s values of ‘Together: safe, kind and excellent’ include a commitment to 

being honest and open with patients, carers and relatives when things go wrong. 

Over the past year, we have worked to reinforce a culture where apologising, 

investigating and feeding back to patients is normal practice. 

The Trust has created a new policy and procedure, aligned to national guidance, 

setting out how staff at CUH will live up to our aspiration and duty to be open and 

honest. This is designed to ensure that any apology is made in a way that is 

appropriate and takes into account the needs and circumstances of patients, carers, 

and relatives, and that staff are supported and can be confident in apologising 

when things go wrong. Embedding this into practice has been supported and 

reinforced by awareness campaigns for staff, patients and their carers or relatives. 

When an incident occurs, patients will receive a verbal apology, and where the 

harm is identified as moderate or above*, a written apology will also be made 

together with an offer to provide feedback once the incident has been investigated. 

The patient safety team and patient advice and liaison service (PALS) are jointly 

responsible for this process and work closely together, supported by the relevant 

clinical teams. 

In October 2015, we introduced a new IT system for safety reporting, which also 

captures duty of candour information. The system allows the Trust not only to 

monitor the process and identify any cases that may have inadvertently been 

overlooked, but the relevant data fields act as a prompt for staff reporting an 

incident, reminding them of the need to apologise when things go wrong. 

By the end of April 2016, the Trust’s complaints information will be integrated into 

this system, followed later in the year by our claims data. For the first time, all 

information will be held centrally on one system, assisting the duty of candour 

process and allowing us to monitor and assure our compliance. As an example, the 

system allows us to confirm that, between 1st October 2015 and 31st March 2016, 

advisory letters were sent to all patients as required.  

*Moderate or above harm is defined as: lasting short-term up to one year and/or a moderate increase in 
treatment, permanent or long term harm, death directly related to the incident. 

 

4.6.3 Sign up to safety – our safety improvement plan 

Our safety and effectiveness improvement plan forms part of our overall 

Improvement Plan, and is also the basis of our national ‘Sign up to Safety’ pledges. 

It is described in detail in section 4.6.5, below. 

 
4.6.4 Focus on staff 

Our priorities for improvement in 2016/17 – set out below – explain our focus this 

year on advancing the skills and wellbeing of our staff, and ensuring that they are 

well led, as prerequisites for delivering safe and effective care to our patients. We 

also describe how we intend to measure our success in achieving this. 

Although not set out specifically as measures last year, we have included in section 

4.6.8 information on our staff survey results for indicators KF19 and KF27, relating 

to staff behaviours to each other, and perceived equality of opportunity. We also 

include a short narrative on our action plan in respect of each of these indicators, 

and KF19 is included in our measures for 2016/17.  
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4.6.5 Priorities for quality improvement in 2016/17 

Our vision and objectives 
The Trust is now entering the third year of its five-year quality strategy, which was 

launched in January 2014. The strategy document is available on the CUH website, 

or on request, (see section 4.6.10). 

The five key quality objectives outlined in our quality strategy remain 

unchanged, and continue to form the core of our overall organisational 

objectives. As they are closely aligned to the five quality domains 

employed by the Care Quality Commission, our directors have decided to 

retain this framework pending a systematic review in the latter part of 

2016. However, within each key objective our focus and priorities for 

2016/17 will be informed by the findings of our CQC inspection and the 

associated elements of our improvement plan. 

Our aim remains that all patients treated at CUH will receive safe, high quality care, 

which meets their personal needs, that our hospitals should compare well with the 

best in the world, and that we will develop a strong academic base for the 

improvement of quality. 

 

Priorities for 2016/17 
Safety as the first priority 

Of all our objectives, preventing avoidable harm to patients, visitors and staff, will 

always be our priority. 

However, these objectives are interdependent, and none more so than safety, 

which relies on a ‘whole system’ approach, encompassing people, processes and 

environment. This means that not only must we take direct steps to improve, 

monitor and maintain standards of safety, but we must ensure that these are part 

of an integrated programme which includes all aspects of our quality system. 

 
Focus on our staff 

In recognition of the need for a systems approach to delivering our objectives, in 

the coming year, our people will be our primary focus. It is, after all, our staff who 

design and operate the systems for delivering care, create and participate in our 

processes, and select and use the equipment and all aspects of the environment in 

which that care is delivered. 

In addition to knowledge and skill, systematic safety is built on good relationships – 

respecting and valuing each other are preconditions not only for the attitudes and 

behaviours necessary to work together safely and effectively, but also for the 

design and operation of safe systems. Look closely at any failure – or success – of 

safety, and you will see that these are dependent on the strength of relationships 

and teamwork. To reinforce these, during 2016-17 and beyond, the Trust is 

embarking on a substantial organisational development programme. 

Our aim will be to ensure that working at Cambridge University Hospitals will be 

enjoyable and rewarding – that staff are well led, respected, valued and developed, 

so that they will have the skills, motivation, and opportunity to deliver the best 

health care. 
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Action on safety 

We must strive to become a truly safe organisation, with not only a good evidence-

based record of preventing avoidable harm to patients, staff and visitors, but also 

the constant vigilance, willingness to challenge assumptions, and deference to 

expertise (rather than to rank or status) which are characteristic of high reliability 

organisations. 

We must ensure that we build robust safety governance processes, so that safety 

risk is managed effectively. Our investigation processes will be developed and 

improved; we must frequently and openly discuss our mistakes, disseminate 

learning from them, and build the operational mechanisms into our daily practices 

which allow implementation of change in response. 

 

Care that delivers 

CUH has an excellent record for the quality and outcomes of its care, particularly in 

respect of the numerous and wide ranging specialist disciplines. We will continue to 

develop the ways in which we monitor and improve the effectiveness of care, 

ensuring that we deliver to the same high standard, whether it be for more 

common or rarer specialist conditions. 

 

Our academic base 

We remain committed to our vision of becoming one of the best academic 

healthcare organisations in the world. We want to be able to measure ourselves 

against the best, both nationally and internationally. 

As a major teaching hospital, placed at the centre of an expanding biomedical 

campus, in a city hosting a world-class university, CUH has an almost unique 

potential for building an academic base. However, we also recognize the scale and 

complexity of the challenges which we currently face and, while not losing sight of 

our aspirations, we must temper them with a healthy dose of realism. 

We will continue to work towards the establishment of a safety and quality 

academic unit at CUH, and to prepare our organisation to meet the requirements 

for external accreditation – for example by Joint Commissioning International (JCI), 

or an equivalent programme.  We will also seek to benchmark our performance 

against other leading medical institutions, and to look beyond national boundaries 

to international standards of leading clinical practice, by working to gain 

membership of Dr Foster global comparators. However, we accept that we are now 

unlikely to achieve these goals within the (admittedly demanding) timescales 

originally set out in our quality strategy, and will review these aspects of our 

programme again later in the year. 

 
How will we measure our success? 
Our success will be measured in both qualitative and quantitative terms. Both are 

important to assess our progress against the objectives we have set ourselves. The 

narrative contained in following pages outlines our key areas of focus to address 

the main areas of concern in our CQC inspection report, supported by measures 

which include a selection of the most relevant performance indicators within our 

improvement plan. Note that although there will be measures and targets for most 

objectives contained in the narrative, not all will be included here. 

The measures we are using may include national quality indicators proposed by our 

regulators and NHS England, national standards and targets (for example on 
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waiting times), local indicators or CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and 

Innovation) targets agreed with Commissioners, or indicators chosen by CUH. 

Additionally, as a simple test of whether we have improved quality, we will 

continually ask whether – at CUH – the right thing to do is always the easiest thing 

to do. 

 

Objectives and measures for 2016/17 
 

    

Focus on staff   

  

Objective: Our staff have the knowledge, skills and 

commitment to deliver safe and effective care. Our 

organisation is well-led at all levels, our managers 

supporting staff to achieve our organisational objectives 

and to realise their individual potential. CUH is seen as an 

enjoyable and rewarding place to work by our whole 

workforce. 

 

 

Our organisation has found itself under increasing capacity and financial pressures, 

particularly over the past year. While this is not unusual in the NHS, as the impact 

of the challenges to the wider health economy bear down ever harder, CUH has 

encountered particularly serious financial difficulties and has received adverse 

comment and sanction from its regulators. Staff in all areas continue to work 

tirelessly to deliver excellent care to our patients, but we recognise that working in 

pressurised environments creates challenges. 

We are proud of – and gratified by – the rating by the Care Quality Commission of 

our staff as ‘outstanding’ in the quality domain of ‘caring’. However, we recognize 

the need to value, support and encourage our staff now more than ever, to sustain 

this success and to ensure that every member of staff feels equally valued and 

‘cared for’ by our organisation and by their colleagues. 

We will take measures to maintain and recognise the motivation and commitment 

of staff, and to ensure that they are well led and supported at every level within the 

organisation. The leadership executive have approved the establishment and 

investment in an ambitious, focussed organisational development (OD) programme 

to support the delivery of long-term success for the organisation. The target for 

finalising the OD programme is September 2016, in line with the submission of our 

longer-term strategic plan in October 2016. 

We will assist and encourage staff to maintain and develop their technical 

knowledge and skills. We will ensure that the mandatory training which staff need 

to undertake to comply with regulatory and Trust requirements is accessible and 

meaningful, and is not simply an annual event, but incorporated into daily work. 

We will provide specific training in safety risk, and support staff to understand and 

undertake quality improvement activity in their areas. 

We will support managers at all levels to listen to the concerns of their staff, 

understand, and work together to address concerns. Every member of staff will 
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have a meaningful appraisal at least annually, and issues raised will be acted on. 

Every member of staff will have a plan for their personal development. 

There will zero tolerance of bad behaviour, talking others down, and bullying. We 

will encourage every member of staff to consider their relationships and the way 

that they behave towards each other, whatever their seniority, and to participate in 

an open and honest discussion to strengthen our organisational culture. 

 

 The measures* we will use in 2016/17 will be: 

 

As measures of overall satisfaction at work Our target for 2016/17 

Staff ability to contribute to improvements at work 

Each to be above 

average of acute Trusts 

Willingness to recommend the organisation as a place to 

work 

Willingness to recommend the organisation as a place of 

treatment 

Extent to which staff feel motivated and engaged with 

their work 

Trust’s staff engagement score† 
To be within the top 

20% of acute Trusts 
†Combines the results from all of the items above 

 

As measures of effective leadership and management Our target for 2016/17 

Staff who feel that their immediate manager 

demonstrates the Trust's values and leadership 
behaviours 

>80% 

Staff who feel that senior managers leading the 

organisation demonstrate the Trust's values and 
leadership behaviours 

An increase of 5% on 

previous year 

Quality of appraisal score 
Above average for 

acute Trusts 

 

As a measure of our attitudes and behaviours to each 
other 

Our target for 2016/17 

Staff experiencing harassment bullying and abuse from 

staff in last 12 months 
<10% 

 

*All measures based on the quarterly staff survey results 
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Action on safety    

  

Objective: No patient, visitor or member of staff will suffer 

avoidable harm. 

 

 

Patients, staff, and visitors rightly expect CUH to be a safe environment and that 

we will protect them from harm. Patients should not experience avoidable harm 

while they are in our care. 

We will continue to strive to provide an appropriate, clean and safe environment for 

patients, visitors and staff. 

We will ensure that there are sufficient numbers of nursing staff across the Trust, 

with an appropriate mix of skills. 

We will ensure that staff are properly trained in understanding and managing health 

and safety risk and in the correct use of equipment, and that all equipment is 

properly maintained and fit for use. This will include a continued focus to ensure 

that medicines are stored safely and securely, and that controlled drugs are 

handled in accordance with our policies and procedures. 

 

Sign up to safety 
Our patient safety improvement plan is a three year programme which aims to 

improve both the safety and effectiveness of our care, recognising that both are 

inextricably linked. The current version of this plan is reproduced at Annex 3. 

Our plan will form the basis of the pledges made by CUH in its Sign up to Safety 

commitment. 

There are four key safety aspects within this plan: 

 Recognising the deteriorating patient and taking effective action, both in the 

general hospital setting, and specifically in the maternity unit. 

 Ensuring that, where they exist, we use and improve evidence-based care 

bundles for the prevention of harm associated with common medical problems. 

 Using safety data effectively for learning and improvement. 

 Ensuring that all staff understand the importance and basis of patient safety and 

the central role of human factors in delivering and improving safe care. 

 
The penultimate element will be assisted by the full implementation of our QSiS 

electronic risk management system, which will support safety reporting and risk 

management across the Trust. We will continue to develop the system to enhance 

safety learning. 

We will ensure that our quality governance systems are robust, and that all staff 

are encouraged and able to participate in a meaningful way in reviewing the safety 

and quality of the care we provide. We have already begun implementation of 

changes to our processes in accordance with our improvement plan, in particular to 

address governance concerns in specific areas, and to ensure that there are clear 

processes which allow visibility and escalation of concerns from ward to Board. By 

the middle of 2016, we will have carried out a formal review of our quality 

governance processes, and will incorporate further changes as required. 
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We will review our processes for investigating and learning from safety incidents 

and other safety reports, and develop these in line with best practice, taking a 

‘whole system’ and human factors approach to analysing and improving our 

processes. 

We will develop a system for the review of all deaths within the Trust, compliant 

with national requirements. We will publish the results of our reviews, identifying 

the number of potentially avoidable deaths. 

We will continue to develop our safety learning activities, including regular 

meetings and talks, and the publication of safety information. We will introduce a 

programme of human factors education. 

 

The measures we will use in 2016/17 will be: 

 

As measures of overall safety Our target for 2016/17 

Staff feel that the Trust takes safety seriously* >90% 

Safety thermometer score >98% 

   *Measure based on the results of our annual safety culture survey. 

 
The ‘safety thermometer’ is a nationally mandated method of assessing the safety 

of care provided in hospitals.  It uses an audit of every inpatient once a month to 

assess four elements of care, to determine how many patients have received ‘harm 

free care.’ The four elements are: 

 the existence of pressure ulcers 

 urine infections in patients with catheters 

 falls within the last 72-hours 

 a venous thromboembolism 

 

As measures of overall nurse staffing levels Our target for 2016/17 

Wards with number of filled registered nurse shifts 

less than 90% of planned 
0 (out of 55) 

Vacancy rate for registered nurses / registered 

midwives 
≤5% 

Vacancy rate for healthcare assistants ≤8% 

 
Appropriate levels of nurse staffing in clinical areas is a recognised factor affecting 

the safety of patient care, as well as the experience of patients and staff. Along 

with many other Trusts, CUH has faced increasing difficulties over the past year, 

but through concerted and sustained effect, we have very significantly improved 

our position, we will continue to monitor and work to better this. 
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As measures of infection control Our target for 2016/17 

Number of MRSA bloodstream infections 0 

Number of Clostridium difficile infections <49 

 
In 2016/17 we will continue to ensure that we maintain high standards in infection 

control including: effective screening, environmental cleaning, hand hygiene and 

isolation (within the constraints of the estate), in conjunction with the judicious use 

of antibiotics and monitoring of all aspects of infection control performance. We will 

continue to explore the use of new technology and closer engagement with staff to 

improve on our current standards. 

 

As measures of avoidable deterioration Our target for 2016/17 

Cardiac arrests Reduce by 2% 

Number of unplanned admissions to critical care 

(level 3) from inpatient wards 
Reduce by 5% 

Proportion of patients with completed EWS* 

observation 
≥90% 

* Early Warning Score 

 

There were 92 cardiac arrests among CUH patients in 15/16. CUH has seen a 

reduction in the cardiac arrest rate from 0.64 per 1000 admissions, to 0.53 per 

1000 admissions. We consistently perform better the national average of 1.41 per 

1000 admissions, and will be looking to maintain and continue this improvement. 

 

As measures of avoidable death Our target for 2016/17 

HSMR <85 

% of deaths determined by review to have been 

potentially avoidable 
<5% 

 

 

As measures of safety learning Our target for 2016/17 

Reported patient safety events resulting in harm 

per patient contact 
<0.2%† 

Proportion of staff having an exit interview >90% 

Human factors learning 
First cohort of HF trainers 

trained 
†As we have only six months experience with the new reporting system, this target may be adjusted in 
line with aggregated data from other Trusts using the same system. This system differs from our 
previous system in that the recorded level of harm is now determined by the reporter. 
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CUH has in place a well-developed safety reporting process which requires staff to 

report events and concerns affecting safety, irrespective of whether harm occurred. 

Good reporting is viewed as an indication of a positive safety culture. Patient 

contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day case and 

emergency department attendances. 

Exit interviews are a valuable source of learning, and we will take steps to ensure 

that the Trust derives the maximum benefit from these. 

Human factors is the science which seeks to gain and apply knowledge of how 

people interact with each other and their environment, and how this affects 

behaviour, performance and wellbeing, particularly in the work setting. 

Application of human factors science in clinical settings has been shown to play an 

essential role in improving the safety and quality of care. CUH is one of the few 

Trusts in the country to appoint a human factors specialist, and we intend to 

implement a rolling programme of training for staff, starting with the formation of a 

core group of trainers. 

 
    

Care that delivers   

  

Objective: We will provide care that achieves the best 

outcome possible for each patient, and which applies the 

latest evidence based methods. Care will be delivered 

without delays at the time when it is wanted, and in a way 

that involves the patient and puts his or her needs and 

desires at the heart of decisions. 

 

 

Delivering the best possible outcomes 
We want our care to produce the best outcomes for our patients. Where we believe 

it is appropriate, we will follow national and international best practice, with each 

patient receiving evidence-based treatments, interventions, support and services. 

CUH is not only the local hospital for our community, but a national centre for 

specialist treatment, and a comprehensive biomedical research centre. It is also a 

major teaching hospital, and one of only five academic health science centres in the 

UK. We will use our position and experience to ensure that we remain at the 

forefront of practice, whether it be general or specialist care. 

We will seek to reduce variations in practice within the Trust, which will not only 

improve outcomes for patients, but will allow us to use scarce NHS resources 

optimally. 

In 2016, CUH will implement our Merlin document management system, a bespoke 

software development which will provide a structured information library. This will 

be used to ensure that our processes are accurately documented, up to date and 

easily available to staff. Merlin will play a key role in our system for safety, 

compliance with best practice, and for reducing variations in care. 

Over the course of the year, CUH will develop our programme and start to 

implement the National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures (NatSSIPs), 

developed by NHS England. These provide outline standards for Trusts to develop 
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their own local standards and processes to ensure the safety of invasive 

procedures, wherever in the organisation they may be carried out. 

CUH already has over one year’s experience with the Epic electronic patient record, 

and will continue to develop its use of this to facilitate the delivery of high quality 

care, accurately document the care we give, and ensure that we follow best 

practice. 

Clinical audit is an integral part of governance, assuring compliance with standards 

and facilitating learning and improvement in the quality of care delivered to 

patients. As well as participating in the HQIP national audit programme, the Trust 

carries out an range of audits to monitor compliance with external guidance (such 

as that provided by NICE), and on subjects directly relevant to local clinical 

priorities. Work is underway to improve or electronic systems for monitoring these 

processes, and to integrate our audit with Epic. Information on some of our clinical 

audit work over the past year is given in section 4.6.6. 

With the help of the systems described above, we will build our capacity to collect 

and analyse clinical data, which we will use to inform our safety programme, and 

clinical and operational decision making. 

 

In 2016/17 our measures of performance on outcomes will be: 

Two measures which continue our series from previous years, as long term trend 

indicators focussing on different aspects of clinical care. We will also be looking 

specifically at sepsis care, which is of current national interest, and working on a 

programme to develop relevant outcome measures for each clinical specialty, 

supported by our electronic patient record (see below). 

 

As general measures of clinical outcomes Our target for 2016/17 

Patient-related outcome measures (PROMs) based 

on health gain for all measured activities we 

undertake 

Above national average 

Clinical frailty score is performed within 72 hours 

of admission 
>85% 

Compliance with the sepsis bundle >90% 

 
Patient-related outcome measures (PROMS): These are nationally mandated 

and provide a patient perspective of the effectiveness of the care they received – in 

simple terms the health gain or loss following the procedure.  They cover surgery 

undertaken for hips and knees, groin hernia and varicose veins. 

The Trust is seeing and admitting an increasing number of frail elderly patients 

(those aged 75 and over). Cambridgeshire local authority population forecasts 

predict a 3.6% year on year growth of the population aged 85+, which equates to a 

doubling over the next 20 years. We recognise that developing services to better 

serve this group of patients is central to improving both quality of care and 

developing sustainable services for the future. 

A key element for successful management of the frail elderly patient is that they 

undergo a proper screening using the clinical frailty score tool within their first 72 

hours in hospital, to identify their treatment requirements. 

Sepsis is a time-critical condition that can lead to organ damage, multi-organ 

failure, septic shock and eventually death. It is the result of the body’s immune 
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response to an infection. There is considerable evidence that clinical staff may fail 

to recognise sepsis and / or underestimate its severity, and the initiation of 

treatment is frequently delayed. We will initially focus on achieving our target in the 

ED department, subsequently rolling this out to other areas. 

 
As measures of our clinical governance 
processes 

Our target for 2016/17 

Trust documents compliant with control 

procedures 
>95% 

HQIP audit standards compliance >95% 

 

Specialty specific outcome measures Our target for 2016/17 

To be developed during the year. 

Example draft measures are given at Annex 4. 
n/a 

 
Over the year, we will develop a set of metrics for each specialty, which will act as 

indicators for outcome performance, allowing us to improve locally, monitor across 

the Trust, and benchmark ourselves nationally and internationally. Some examples 

of this extensive draft set of measures is included at Annex 4. 

 

Delivering care at the time it is required and in an appropriate setting 
The ability to consistently provide reliable, timely care improves both the outcomes 

for patients and the experience of both patients and staff. We will continue to work 

to reduce avoidable cancellations of appointments or surgery and, at the end of a 

patient’s hospital stay, to ensure that there are no delays to their discharge from 

hospital caused by factors within our control. 

 
In 2016/17 our measures of performance on delays will be: 

As general measures of delays in delivering care Our target for 2016/17 

Compliance with the emergency department 4 -

hour standard 
≥95% 

Patients waiting less than 18 weeks from GP 

referral 
≥92% 

Patients seen within 62 days of urgent cancer 

referral 
≤85% 

Cancelled operations <1% 

Bed days lost to assessment for patients medical 

fit to leave (per week) 
<10 

 
Emergency department 4 hour standard:  There were 108, 972 attendances to 

the Major A&E department on site in 2015/16, representing a 3% increase from 

2014/15.  We have also treated 27,542 patients attending the minor injuries units 

since July 2015 when the Trust took over the management of the MIUs. There is a 

nationally mandated target to see 95% of patients within four hours. 
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Treatment within 62 days of an urgent cancer referral:  We recognise the 

importance for patients of being treated in a timely manner following urgent 

referral by their GP where cancer is suspected. 

Cancelled operations: Once a date is set for an operation, we will do our best to 

ensure that date is kept to, while recognising there will be occasions when 

emergencies impact on routine operating. 

Bed days lost to assessment for patients who are medically fit to leave: 

Minimising the number of patients who are medically fit to leave, but who remain in 

our care is important.  It is in patients’ interests to be cared for in the most 

appropriate care setting and, for CUH, it is a significant factor in being able to admit 

and treat patients requiring inpatient hospital care. We not only need to ensure that 

we have sufficient staffed capacity, but also to ensure an effective and timely 

discharge process. 

 

Delivering care in an appropriate setting Our target for 2016/17 

Children and young people treated in adult areas ( 

excluding day cases and those on ward C9) 
<5 per week 

 
Our improvement plan contains a number of measures to reduce the number of 

children and young people under the age of 16 who are cared for in adult areas, 

both in the inpatient areas and outpatient clinics. We recognise the importance of 

achieving this, and will work to overcome current capacity constraints and make 

significant progress in the coming year. 

 
Delivering care that puts patients at the centre of decisions 
Each patient is unique, with their own experience of their health, illness and care, 

and they are a key partner in shared decision-making. Increasingly, patients 

manage their own health and illness, helped by support and access to information 

for them, their families and carers. Successfully keeping the person at the heart of 

all we do means providing care that is responsive to individual personal needs, 

preferences and values, and ensuring that these guide all clinical decisions. 

We want patients to consistently report that they would be likely to recommend our 

services to their friends and family, if they needed similar care or treatment. That 

said, we always welcome compliments, constructive feedback and complaints, as 

these help to identify areas where we can improve and are one indication of the 

quality of the care we are providing. Seeking and receiving feedback on how we are 

doing is a very important component of the continuous improvement culture we 

want to strengthen. 

 
As general measures of patients’ experience of 
care that meet their personal needs 

Our target for 2016/17 

Inpatients who rate their experience as at least 

7/10* 
>90% 

Patients who would recommend our clinics† >88% 

Women who would recommend our maternity 

services† 
≥90% 

Outpatients who would recommend our service† ≥90% 
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Complaints per patient contact†† <0.1% 

Staff who are aware of the Trust’s values and 

behaviours*** 
≥90% 

Staff who feel they are able to deliver the Trust’s 

values and behaviours at work*** 
≥80% 

 
*The annual national inpatient survey, undertaken by Quality Health seeks views of the inpatient care 

received by our patients. The questions cover topics that include infection control, cleanliness, privacy, 
safety, nursing and medical care, discharge, information provision, being informed and involved in the 
care provided, and food. We also undertake a local outpatient survey, and our measures will consider 
both sets of feedback data.  

 

†We survey patients who attend outpatients, maternity and the emergency department each month.  
Patients can complete this using a variety of methods including electronic questionnaire, paper 
questionnaire or online survey. Each survey includes the friends & family question, asking if they are 
likely to recommend the service, alongside other questions pertinent to that service.  

 

††Patient contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, plus outpatient, day case and emergency 
department attendances. Our aim is that the number of formal complaints received should be less than 
0.1% of patient contacts. 

 

***Measure based on the results of the quarterly NHS staff survey. 

 

4.6.6 Statements of assurance 

This section contains the statutory statements concerning the quality of services 

provided by CUH. These are common to the quality accounts provided by all NHS 

Trusts and can be used to compare us with other organisations. 

 

The Board of Directors 
The priorities and targets in our quality account were identified following a process 

which included the Board of Directors, clinical directors and senior managers of the 

Trust, and have been incorporated into the key performance indicators reported 

regularly to the Board of Directors as part of the performance monitoring of the 

Trust’s corporate objectives, and which are produced within the Trust’s data quality 

policy, framework and standards. 

Scrutiny of the information contained within these indicators and its implication as 

regards patient safety, clinical outcomes and patient experience takes place at the 

Quality committee. 

The Board of Directors reviews the Trust’s integrated quality, performance, finance 

and workforce report each month. Reviews of data quality, and the accuracy, 

validity and completeness of Trust performance information, fall within the remit of 

the audit committee, which is informed by the reviews of internal and external audit 

and internal management assurances. 

 

Review of our services  
During 2015/16 CUH provided and/or sub-contracted 123 relevant health services. 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data 

available to them on the quality of care in all 123 of these relevant health services. 
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The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2015/16 

represented 99% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant 

health services by CUH for 2015/16. 

 
Participation in clinical research 
CUH is a world-leading research-focused hospital which supports and delivers 

leadership in translational research within the NHS, both locally and nationally.  

CUH continues to work strategically in partnership with other NHS organisations, 

universities, research charities, industry and patients and the public to provide an 

outstanding infrastructure that builds research capacity and supports excellence in 

clinical research that will benefit patients.  

Our strengths in biomedical science are harnessed and translated into clinical 

research through the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Cambridge 

Biomedical Research Centre (BRC), a partnership between CUH, and the University 

of Cambridge. Our BRC fosters partnerships and attracts industry to the Cambridge 

area, focusses on areas of high disease burden and clinical need with international 

leading investigators, and harnesses the power of informatics to deliver health 

benefits. In addition, a key strategic aim of CUH is to increase meaningful patient 

and public involvement in research through a dynamic partnership between health 

professionals and the public. CUH is keen to ensure that patients and the public are 

both kept informed of, and able to engage in, research activities. Our website has a 

page dedicated to public involvement and engagement in research (see 

www.cuh.org.uk/research), and includes details of how to become a member of the 

patient and public involvement panel.  

A unique opportunity for the public to participate in research is provided by the 

Cambridge BioResource, which now includes almost 15,000 local volunteers who 

have provided clinical information and samples that allow them to be invited, 

according to their genetic makeup, to participate in clinical research studies (see 

www.cambridgebioresource.org.uk). 

The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided by or 

subcontracted by CUH in 2015/16, that were recruited during that period to 

participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 15,448, 

compared with 12,966 in 2014/15. 

 
Education and training 
Medical Education 

One strand of our tripartite mission is our activities in the field of education and 

training, which support excellence in the care provided by our staff for patients. 

We work closely with the University of Cambridge to train the next generation of 

doctors through the University Clinical School. The Postgraduate Medical Centre 

(PGMC) continues to deliver to the Health Education East of England Learning 

Development Agreement (LDA). The centre has expanded its activities to deliver 

over 350 days of training, which is primarily for postgraduate medical education, 

including a practice nurse education programme, a GP primary care programme, 

and a dental programme. The High Fidelity Medical Simulation Centre run by the 

PGMC continues to deliver multi-professional and team based training, and has 

been successful in attracting funding from Health Education East of England 

(HEEoE) for training programmes in many of the acute specialties. Last year, 1,154 

delegates attended the Simulation Centre for their multi-professional training. The 

PGMC also manages the Evelyn Cambridge Surgical Training Centre, which is a 

state-of-the-art facility providing advanced education to health professionals. The 

http://www.cuh.org.uk/research
http://www.cambridgebioresource.org.uk/
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centre is now in its second year of activity, and has delivered 46 courses, attracting 

826 national and international attendees. The PGMC has conducted a number of 

postgraduate exams on behalf of the Royal Colleges, and will continue to do so in 

the future. 

 

Multi-professional education 

The Trust is committed to the training and development of over 600 pre-

registration students, including nurses, midwives, radiographers, pharmacists, 

physiotherapists, dieticians, occupational therapists, operating department 

practitioners, and healthcare scientists whilst on clinical placements at CUH, to 

ensure that they meet the needs of current patient care and of the future 

workforce.  

We are committed to - and have successfully delivered - return to practice courses 

for nurses, with a guarantee of permanent employment, and we continue to work 

collaboratively with HEEoE and education partners to maximize the realisation of 

these programmes. 

A major part of the role of the clinical education support team has been to support 

overseas and European nurses to integrate and adapt, both to the Trust and to the 

NHS. The team provide a robust programme for overseas nurses to prepare them 

for their Observed Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE), enabling them to gain 

NMC registration. Over 70 nurses have been successfully supported during 2015 -

2016, and we will continue to provide this service to all relevant new recruits.  

There is a bespoke English language course for those requiring additional language 

support.  

The preceptorship programme continues to support all newly qualified nursing and 

midwifery staff, and has now been extended to provide a second year. This 

programme is being developed to meet the agreed framework for allied health 

professionals (AHPs). 

Access to continuing professional development is managed via a plan agreed with 

HEEoE and education leads within CUH, and this supports the provision of safe and 

effective patient care, the development of new and existing service roles, and 

improving leadership capability across all staff. Many speciality programmes are 

well regarded and are delivered by Trust experts using blended learning and 

simulation approaches. 

 
Quality assurance 

The high standard of healthcare education, training and clinical placements is 

evidenced by the recent report to the Trust from HEEoE, following their multi-

professional quality and performance visit to CUH. At the most recent HEEoE 

performance visit, CUH was congratulated on a number of areas of notable practice. 

These included: strong and effective leadership for education and training across a 

wide range of professional groups, the medical academic training programme, 

excellent clinical supervision and excellent training programmes in pharmacy and 

radiography. 

The education quality assurance framework demonstrates the provision of a high 

standard of multi-professional student training and continuing professional 

development at CUH, as evidenced by the robust processes in place, programme 

evaluations, and student and staff feedback. A non-medical peer review will be 

undertaken in May 2016, which will focus on identified areas and progress made 

within the improvement plan. 
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The Trust has a multi-professional education and training group which provides a 

forum for the development of strategic priorities to support excellence in education 

and training, with membership from the Post Graduate Medical Education Centre, 

and representatives from professional groups and services. 

 

Bands 1 – 4 development 

Healthcare support workers (HCSW) form an integral part of clinical teams, and are 

trained using a programme that meets national care certificate standards, utilising 

a competency based approach. HCSWs are encouraged to consider further 

development, including access to foundation degrees. In March 2016, the Trust 

seconded 17 staff who had previously undertaken a foundation degree to undertake 

the 18 month flexible nursing degree.   

We intend to continue to develop a range of our own programmes. Additionally, a 

pilot programme was run with Anglia Ruskin University, which enabled those due to 

commence their degree in Spring 2016 to be employed as healthcare support 

workers prior to starting as a student nurse. This provided valuable experience and 

enabled all participants to be sure that they had made the right career choice; all 

participants went on to nurse training.   

Unlocking the potential of existing staff in bands 1–4, as well as bringing in new 

talent via apprenticeships, continues to underpin the Trust’s commitment to deliver 

safe, high quality safe patient care while increasing the range of opportunities for 

staff to improve and progress within and beyond bands 1–4. 

 

Widening access routes to training and employment 

A dedicated work opportunities team provides a range of work experience and 

shadowing opportunities that includes simulation programmes, to encourage young 

people (aged 14+) to consider careers within nursing, midwifery, medicine, 

healthcare science, allied health professional roles and support services. These 

complement on-going work experience opportunities across a wide range of 

departments and functions. 

Our shadowing programmes with consultants and physiotherapists for local sixth 

form students are always oversubscribed.   

CUH has a tradition of offering apprenticeship programmes, has won various 

awards for this, and is included as a case study on the NHS Employers website. 

During 2015-2016, we celebrated the employment of our 800th apprentice. We 

continue to support the ‘Get into Hospital – Princes’ Trust’; this offers young people 

short traineeships which provide the necessary skills and confidence to re-enter 

work. They are subsequently supported and encouraged to consider employment 

with CUH and our partner organisations, and there have been a number of 

successes.   

The Trust has a vibrant volunteer community which provides a range of support to 

patients and staff in a wide variety of volunteer roles. During 2015-16, a new 

young person’s volunteer programme was launched, which enabled young students 

to work at ward level. We know that many of these individuals gained valuable 

insights into working within the NHS, and many intend to follow a career within the 

NHS.   
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Leadership and management development 

The Trust continues to provide a range of leadership and management development 

programmes and interventions, as well as encouraging our leaders to access 

national and regional development programmes. During 2015-2016, a bespoke 

supervisory ward manager programme was developed to support our commitment 

to moving ward sisters to supervisory positions, delivering to two cohorts, with a 

third starting in 2016-2017. 

Wider leadership team monthly meetings (top 100) were introduced to support the 

alignment of executive directors and divisional/corporate leadership teams, 

establishing a community of senior leaders, providing a platform for shared 

learning, and aiming to develop a greater sense of shared purpose and ownership 

for strategic execution across the Trust’s most senior leaders. A clinical directors’ 

development programme has been created with CUHP to commence in the autumn 

of 2016. On-going development of leaders includes skilful leaders and step into 

leadership programmes. For 2016/17, it is our intention to establish and invest in 

an ambitious organisational development programme to support the delivery of 

long term success for the organisation, with specific focus on culture, climate and 

engagement. 

 

New learning management system 

CUH has invested in a new learning management system to ensure that its staff 

have easier access to better e-learning courses and other training programmes, and 

access to their mandatory training records. Staff can use the system from any 

device with an internet connection. The system also has a range of other functions 

that will be rolled out during 2016-2017. 

 

Participation in national confidential enquiries 
During 2015/16, there were four national confidential enquiries covering NHS 

services provided by CUH. CUH participated in all of these. 

 
Table 39 

Participation in national confidential enquiries 

Confidential enquiry title 
Numbers 
requested to 
submit* 

Numbers submitted 

Provision of mental health 

in acute/ gen hospitals 
6      5** 

Acute pancreatitis 4 3 

Gastrointestinal 

haemorrhage 
5 5 

Non-invasive ventilation 

study 
awaiting ** 

* from all relevant cases identified by CUH, NCEPOD chooses a number for more detailed submission 

**study still open  
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Participation in HQIP clinical audits 
During 2015/16, there were 52 national clinical audits which covered NHS services 

provided by CUH. CUH participated in all of these. 

 

Table 40 

Participation in HQIP clinical audits 

Audit Title Patient population 
Numbers 

submitted* 

Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) 

All patients diagnosed 

with colorectal and 

rectal cancer 

281 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease 

(IBD) programme 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
26 

National Complicated 

Diverticulitis Audit (CAD) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
12 

National Comparative Audit of 

Blood Transfusion programme: 

Use of blood in Lower GI 

bleeding 

All inpatients between 

01/06/2015 and 

30/06/2015 with lower 

GI bleeding  

16 

Oesophago-gastric cancer 

(NAOGC) 

All patients diagnosed 

with invasive epithelial 

cancer of the 

oesophagus, gastro-

oesophageal junction or 

stomach 

291 

Case Mix Programme - CMP 

(includes ICNARC) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the audit 

criteria  

1528 

Elective surgery (National 

PROMs Programme) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the audit 

criteria  

166 

Major Trauma: The Trauma 

Audit & Research Network 

(TARN) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
4568 

National Comparative Audit of 

Blood Transfusion programme: 

Use of blood during surgery. 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
Exemption agreed 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit 

(NCAA) 

All Cardiac Arrest 

patients from April 2015 

to March 2016 

80 

Falls and Fragility Fractures 

Audit Programme (FFFAP part 

3) - Fracture Liaison Database 

All fracture liaison 

patients data from 

1/02/2016 to 

31/01/2017 

(entering data) 

Falls and Fragility Fractures 

Audit Programme (FFFAP – 

part 3) - Hip Fracture 

Database  

All Hip fracture patients 376 
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Falls and Fragility Fractures 

Audit Programme (FFFAP – 

part 1) 

All patients with 

recorded fractures that 

met the criteria during 

the audit period. 

30 

Rheumatoid and Early 

Inflammatory Arthritis 

All Inflammatory & 

rheumatoid arthritis 

patients seen in the 

audit period 

80 

National Joint Registry (NJR) 
All joint procedures in 

the year. 
Pending 

National Comparative Audit of 

Blood Transfusion programme: 

Transfusion in children and 

adults with sickle cell disease 

All patients in the period 

with the criteria 
Exemption agreed 

Lung cancer (NLCA) 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
186 

National Prostate Cancer Audit 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
Exemption agreed 

Adult Asthma 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
Oh hold by BTS 

National Chronic Obstructive 

Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 

Audit Programme 

All COPD patients seen 

during the audit period 
80 

Emergency Use of Oxygen 

All inpatients prescribed 

oxygen during the audit 

period 

100 

Vital signs in Children (care in 

emergency departments) 

A minimum of 50 

Children meeting the 

criteria, seen during the 

audit period 

100 

VTE risk in lower limb 

immobilisation (care in 

emergency departments) 

At least 50 patients 

seen during the audit 

period 

50 

Procedural Sedation in Adults 

(care in emergency 

departments) 

At least 50 patients 

seen during the audit 

period 

100 

National Emergency 

Laparotomy Audit (NELA) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 

266 (still entering 

data) 

Renal replacement therapy 

(Renal Registry) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
2365 

Acute Coronary Syndrome or 

Acute Myocardial Infarction 

(MINAP) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
367 

Cardiac Rhythm Management 

(CRM) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
208 

Diabetes (Adult) Inpatients 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
119 

Diabetes (Adult) - National 

Diabetes Audit  

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
3815 

Diabetes Feet Problems 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
114 

National Heart Failure Audit 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
251 
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Learning from audit 
The results of 31 national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2015/16, 

and we have used these to learn and improve the quality of healthcare we provide. 

Examples of results and actions taken include: 

 
HQIP national audits 

1. National Lung Cancer Audit 2015 Report 
CUH’s percentage of Stage 111B/IV PS 0/1 non-small cell lung cancer patients 

receiving chemotherapy for 2011/2013 was 56.9%, rather than the national 57.4%, 

but for 2013 alone was 60.5%. CUH provides excellent lung cancer care and 

appropriate treatment for lung cancer patients and, in particular, offers 

chemotherapy whenever appropriate. 

 
2. National Vascular Registry (NVR): 2015 Report 
The report highlights that the main cause for the delays to surgery is theatre 

capacity. The vascular service currently has access to 8 half-day operating lists per 

week compared to 13 for our direct peers. The plan is to increase theatre capacity 

to 12 lists a week from the 01 of April 2016. Once this extra capacity is available, it 

National Vascular Registry 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
215 

National Ophthalmology Audit 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 

(Sept 2015 to August 

2016) 

(Still entering 

data) 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 

Programme - Organisation 

(SSNAP) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
1 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 

Programme Clinical (SSNAP) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
462 

UK Parkinson’s Audit 

(previously known as National 

Parkinson's Audit) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
120 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant 

Clinical Outcome Review 

Programme (MBRRACE-UK) 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 
66 

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) 

All paediatric patients in 

the period meeting the 

criteria 

281 

Paediatric Asthma 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria – 

minimum 3 records 

3 

Paediatric Pneumonia 

All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 

(postponed to Nov 2016 

to Jan 2017) 

Pending 

Diabetes In Pregnancy 
All patients in the period 

meeting the criteria 

All data submitted 

and acknowledged 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit 

(NCAA) 

All Cardiac Arrest 

patients from April 2015 

to March 2016 

80 
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is anticipated that the Trust will make significant improvements towards the 

national targets. 

The pathways for patients undergoing carotid surgery have significantly improved 

as a result of review and improvement of processes. This pathway is audited 

annually in a local carotid audit. 

 

3. National Confidential Inquiry and Patient Outcomes Data (NCEPOD) 
Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage 2015 Report 

The report demonstrated that the Trust is compliant with 90% of the national 

recommendations from this inquiry, and will continue to operate at the 

recommended levels of performance. 

Further work is underway to agree appropriate monitoring arrangements for 

patients out of hours, and network arrangements are being discussed at the 

regional medical director’s forum. On-going business case discussions are underway 

regarding an integrated high cost equipment replacement programme. 

 
4. National Falls & Fragility Program: Hip Fracture Database 2015 Report 
The fracture liaison service is being rolled out under a new NHS Vanguard 

programme that is expected to develop improved case finding, diagnosis and 

treatment within Addenbrookes’ Hospital. 

Orthogeriatricians are reviewing osteoporosis and falls risk factors within 72 hours 

of admission and commencing appropriate treatment or further investigations as 

needed. 

Monthly meetings are now being held with anaesthetists, orthopaedic surgeons, 

managers, nurses and therapy teams to review concerns with the hip fracture 

pathway, delays to theatre and problems any potential problems with discharge 

planning. 

 
5. National Falls Audit Reported in 2015  
In patients aged 65 and over, or those aged 50-64 who are judged as being at high 

risk of falling because of an underlying condition:  

- the falls rate is 4.66 per 1,000 operational bed days (national rate is 6.63)  

- the rate for falls resulting in moderate harm, severe harm and death is 0.08 

per 1,000 operational bed days (national rate 0.19) 

As a result of learning from this audit, CUH has taken a number of actions: all falls 

champions are getting 1:1 training, doctors are now starting to complete the post 

fall assessment, and the number of incidents that do not have a corresponding 

safety learning report form completed has dramatically reduced, as has the number 

of falls with no post fall assessment. 

 
6. MBRRACE UK National Audit Reports in 2015 
CUH’s Trust-specific perinatal mortality report for 2013, provided in October 2015 

by MBRRACE, demonstrated a perinatal mortality rate more than 10% lower than 

the average for similar Trusts in that year. Stillbirths (from 24 weeks gestation) 

were up to 10 % lower, and neonatal deaths of all babies up to 28 days of age were 

over 10% lower than the national average. 
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7. Bowel Cancer Audit Report 2015  
The National Bowel Cancer Audit report for 2015 shows excellent results for CUH at 

both hospital and individual consultant level. 90-day mortality after surgery for 

colorectal cancer was 1.1 %  

Synoptic reporting has been developed for rectal MRIs, by pathologists for rectal 

cancer. 

Improved access to emergency theatre and perioperative care: following findings 

from this audit, a new theatre building is currently being completed for use 

commencing April 2016. 

 
8. National  Oesophago-gastric Audit Report 2015  
The National Oesophago-gastric Audit report for 2015 shows excellent results for 

CUH at both hospital and individual consultant level. 90 day mortality after surgery 

for oesophageal or gastric cancer was 1.9%. 

 

9. National Cardiac Arrest Audit  
NCAA is the only national clinical comparative audit of in-hospital cardiac arrest 

with the aim of improving resuscitation care and outcomes for the UK and Ireland. 

It is a joint initiative between the Resuscitation Council (UK) and ICNARC (Intensive 

Care National Audit & Research Centre).The audit demonstrates that the CUH 

cardiac arrest team performs to expected standards. 

 
10. Royal College of Emergency Medicine (RCEM) Older People Audit Report 2015  
The emergency department performed above the national average in both the 

assessments for early warning score assessment and cognitive impairment 

assessment. The department continues to strive to improve on this performance. 

Epic has provided additional functionality which is now being promoted to ensure 

that a structured tool is used in documenting patients’ cognitive impairment. 

The use of Epic also now enables all cognitive assessment findings to be quickly 

shared with relevant admitting services for the patients concerned.  

 
11. Community Acquired Pneumonia (CAP) 
The Community Acquired Pneumonia audit was carried out as part of the British 

Thoracic Society (BTS)’s national audit program, with the aim of driving 

improvements in the diagnosis and management of CAP.  

Data from the national BTS community acquired pneumonia audit has 

demonstrated the benefits of our front door model of care.  

CUH performed better than the national average in relation to the key standards 

being assessed: time to chest x-ray, time to antibiotics and timing of senior review. 

 
12. RCEM – Fitting Children in the Emergency Department 2015 Report  
To ensure that vital information is quickly transferred from the ambulance teams to 

Epic, the ambulance patient report forms can now be consistently transferred to the 

electronic record using a new mechanism that transfers all point of care tests to the 

electronic record. 

 
13. National Lung Cancer Audit published Dec 2015 (2014 data)  
CUH was one of the very few Trusts across England and Wales with excellent data 

completeness across the Board, and very high active treatment centre rates, 
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including both chemotherapy and surgery. The chemotherapy rate for small cell 

lung cancer is 78.6%, and for non-small cell lung cancer the chemotherapy rate is 

73.9% and the surgery rate 26.2%. We have also been very proactive in 

addressing the issues identified in the previous audit. 

 
Local audits 

In addition to participating in national mandated audits, in 2015/16 the Trust 

undertook a total of 118 audit projects informed by Trust priorities, and 46 audits 

initiated directly by clinicians. The former include those resulting from patient 

safety concerns, complaints, National Patient Safety (NPSA) alerts, risk identified 

within the risk assurance framework, morbidity data, regional audit, re-audit or 

audit of compliance with national guidance including NICE. 

Examples include: 

 

1. Royal College of Pathologists Critical Results KPI using CSF samples (2015 re-
audit) 
 Standard operating procedures had been updated since the first audit 

with 100% compliance with standards compared with 33% in the first 

audit. 

 There was improved documentation of results provided to clinical teams 

following introduction of Trust-wide electronic patient information system. 

 Documentation of communication of abnormal microscopy to clinical 

teams was very good, and communication was usually timely. 

 Documentation of communication of positive CSF cultures to the clinical 

team, or the decision not to communicate CSF presumed contaminants, 

could be improved. 

 One third of the positive CSF samples were contaminates compared with 

61% in the previous audit. 

 

2. Reporting of vertebral fractures found incidentally on CT imaging (re-audit 
2015) 
 Overall, 18% of patients had incidental vertebral fractures on CT imaging 

performed for other reasons (n=650).  

 Educational interventions, and the practice of radiographers saving sagittal 

reformatted images, increased the number of reports with bone 

comments from 73% to 88%.  

 With radiographers reformatting the images, the number of reports with 

saved sagittal reformatted images increased from 4% to 94%.  

 The percentage of vertebral fractures reported has increased from 10% to 

56%. These results all show statistically significant improvement (Fisher 

exact test p<0.05).   

 
Use of the CQUIN payment framework 
The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) programme is a national 

framework for locally agreed quality improvement schemes, and a proportion of a 

Providers income is conditional upon the CQUIN programme being achieved. 

In 2015/16, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust opted to remain 

on the Default Tariff Rollover (DTR) tariff option. As a result of being a DTR 
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provider, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was not eligible to 

receive payments under the national CQUIN programme.  

 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust expects to fully participate in 

the 2016/17 national CQUIN programme.  

 

 

Care Quality Commission registration and compliance 
The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its 

current registration status is: registered, with compliance conditions. 

The Trust was placed in special measures by Monitor on the 22 September 2015, 

following the publication of the Care Quality Commission (CQC) report rating the 

Trust as ‘inadequate’. In response, the Trust developed a comprehensive 

improvement plan. Monthly stakeholder assurance meetings overseeing the Trust 

improvement plan continue with Monitor.  

On the 9th and 10th of February 2016, the CQC completed a re-inspection of the 

three core service areas, rated ‘inadequate’: outpatients and diagnostics, maternity 

and gynaecology, and surgery (responsiveness). At the time of writing, the draft 

report has been received but is not yet finalised. 

CUH has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the Care 

Quality Commission during the reporting period.  

 
    

CQC Fundamental Standards  

  

The Trust continuously monitors compliance against all of 

the CQC fundamental standards for quality and safety 

 

 

 

Data quality 
Data quality refers to assurance of the information about patients recorded by the 

Trust on computerised systems. 

The Trust follows national guidelines about how these data are collected and stored, 

and we undertake regular audits to make sure that data held on the system is 

accurate and that we are compliant with what is expected. 

CUH submits records to the secondary uses service (SUS) for inclusion in the 

hospital episode statistics (HES). We also share data with partners as appropriate, 

for example clinical commissioning groups (CCGs). These data are used to plan and 

review the healthcare needs of the area.  

 
The following tables show data quality information for: 

 all English NHS Trusts 

 NHS England Midlands and East (EAST) Region 

 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
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The information is taken from the NHS Information Centre data quality dashBoards 

in respect of data submitted to SUS for April 2015–January 2016. 

 
Table 41 

Data quality scores for selected areas of care 

 All Trusts EAST CUH 

Admitted patient care 96.2 93.7 90.6 

Outpatients 95.7 92.7 79.7 

A&E 97.2 98.1 94.4 

Births 91.5 90.4 88.1 

Delivery events 94.2 91.8 88.5 

Other birth events 94.0 91.8 93.2 

Other delivery events 96.9 95.9 93.8 

Maternity data quality score 1.009 1.021 1.034 

Adult critical care 98.7 98.9 97.4 

Paediatric critical care 98.5 99.8 99.7 

Neonatal critical care 98.5 99.9 100.0 

 
For each type of care, records are assessed for the presence and validity of a 

number of key items of data, and an aggregate score or percentage score is 

produced. 

 
Table 42 

Records containing a valid GP practice code / NHS number 

 All Trusts EAST CUH 

Registered GP practice:    

Admitted patient care 99.9 99.9 100.0 

Outpatients 99.8 99.9 99.9 

A&E 99.1 99.8 99.9 

NHS number:    

Admitted patient care 99.2 99.4 97.5 

Outpatients 99.4 99.7 98.7 

A&E 95.3 95.1 94.1 

 
The NHS number is the only national unique identifier which provides a fully reliable 

way of sharing information about a patient with other clinicians and healthcare 

staff, especially across organisational boundaries. 
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Information governance toolkit attainment levels 
All NHS organisations are required to comply with the ‘Information Governance 

Toolkit’. This covers standards on data protection, confidentiality, information 

security, clinical information and corporate information. Acute Trusts are assessed 

against 45 requirements and can achieve a score of between 0-3. All Trusts must 

reach a ‘level 2’ in all requirements, which is then assessed as a satisfactory score. 

The CUH information governance assessment report overall score for 2015/16 is 

predicted at 83% (112 out of 135), achieving a level 2 or 3 against all requirements 

and forecast to be graded as a satisfactory green rating. 

 
A&E clinical coding 
CUH was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2015/16 

by the Audit Commission. 

 
eHospital  
The eHospital programme is a ten-year programme to deliver high quality care, 

underpinned by modern informatics tools. It formally commenced on 1 April 2013, 

with preparation to implement a Trust-wide electronic patient record (EPR), 

comprising an enterprise software solution from Epic, supported by an entire 

refresh and upgrading of the IT infrastructure undertaken by Hewlett-Packard (now 

HPE). The EPR went live on Sunday October 26 2014, and the implementation 

programme transitioned to ‘business as usual’ on 1 April 2015. Key information is 

summarised below: 

 

Hardware upgrades: 

 Full refresh of the entire network, including deployment of business grade wifi in 

all clinical areas. 

 Refresh of the entire desktop estate (6,750 PCs, 500 laptops). 

 Deployment of 395 ‘workstations on wheels’ and 420 Rover devices (iPod touch 

with a barcode sled case) for mobile working in clinical areas. 

 Direct integration of physiological monitors and ventilators in all theatres and 

critical care areas, along with connectivity of point-of-care testing devices for 

integrated near-patient testing. 

 
Electronic patient record (Epic): 

 CUH is now internationally recognised as only the third HIMSS EMRAM 

Stage 6* hospital in the UK and the first UK hospital to achieve this within 12 

months of system implementation (Stages range from 0 to 7 [best]. CUH was a 

Stage 1 hospital prior to implementation). 

 In full use for all aspects of care across all clinical areas both in-patient and out-

patient – typically 3,200 concurrent users in the system at peak times – apart 

from paediatric chemotherapy. 

 Accessible securely and safely by clinicians both onsite and off-site / on-call, 

giving immediate access to the full patient record. 

 Multiple examples of efficiencies and quality benefits are starting to be realised 

– eg allergy based decision support leading to safer prescribing; 50% reduction 

in the time to prepare discharge medication in pharmacy; achievement of best 

practice care in hip fracture care from 66% to 82%. However, there is more 

work still to be done to achieve consistent benefits realisation in all areas. 
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Challenges in the immediate period after deployment: 

 Considerable initial disruption to pathology services, caused by problems with 

specimen label printers, which were resolved over a period of approximately 

four weeks. 

 Disruption to the delivery of results of pathology investigations to primary care 

and some other external agencies. These were fully resolved in the spring of 

2015 following a complete overhaul of the pathology submitter lists detailing the 

relationship between samples being received and results being sent out. 

 One episode (four hours) of unplanned downtime, necessitating an ambulance 

diversion plan, and a period (several days) of intermittent instability of one of 

the transfusion system interfaces, requiring re-engineering of the interface 

(which has been stable since). 

 Disruptions in the consistency of clinical care, including venous 

thromboembolism assessment, nursing care plans and community referrals, 

completion of discharge summaries, and complex in-patient prescribing. All of 

these issues have now either been completely addressed or continue as active 

work streams in the programme with senior and executive level oversight. 

 Substantial fall in productivity, principally in out-patient areas, in particular in 

hard-pressed services such as dermatology, cardiology, ophthalmology and 

ENT. Considerable progress has been made to date in terms of improving 

throughput here both from an operational and EPR perspective. 

 
Consolidation in the last 12 months: 

 Formal appointment of both a Chief Information Officer and a Chief Medical 

Information Officer. 

 Additional funding approved by the Trust Board of £2 million annually for 

analyst and training support for clinical and operational colleagues. 

 Formal implementation of senior on-call manager rota and system module 

specific support desk ticket management to support clinical and operational 

colleagues. 

 Full refresh of all training programmes including a formal refresher and 

optimisation-orientated training schedule, along with working towards increased 

use of e-learning supplementary support. 

 Formal implementation of specialty leads, support link programme and multiple 

clinically-led design authorities to guide further system design / development. 

 On-going managerial and assurance process involving both an operational Board 

and an assurance Board, the latter chaired by a Non-Executive Director. 

 

Current risks / challenges: 

 Staffing levels for the core analyst team remain short of those typically needed 

to fully optimise both the configuration and use of Epic. Additional investment 

will be needed to take advantage of these future opportunities in a prompt 

timeframe. 

 In the interim, the focus of the current resources is reviewed regularly and then 

prioritised and distributed accordingly. 

 Successful, meaningful and sustained benefits realisation also depends upon 

ongoing operational engagement with eHospital acting as an ‘enabler’. Such 

engagement is challenged on a regular basis by the significant service pressures 

faced by the Trust. 
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On-going work: 

 Deployment of the patient portal, MyChart, in May 2016 for the first cohort of 

patients giving patients access to their letters, results and appointment details 

along with the opportunity to contribute to their medical record. 

 Extension of the mechanism to send documents by email to primary care 

(previously just applied to IP and ED discharge summaries) to now include 

clinical letters. (March 10 2016, 49 practices enabled contributing to 43% of all 

letters). 

 
Dissemination of learning: 

 There are regular contributions by senior eHospital staff to the wider NHS 

understanding of implementing an EPR (electronic patient record), including 

recent meetings at the King’s Fund, and hosting of visits from multiple NHS 

hospitals, including ULCH and Great Ormond Street. 

 Hosting of visits for senior NHS leadership: Sir Malcolm Grant (NHS England) 

and Dame Gill Morgan (Chair of NHS Providers) in 2015; 2016. Visits coming up 

include Sir Bruce Keogh (NHS England) in March, Professor Bob Wachter’s 

review team for the Secretary of State in April. 

 
*HIMSS EMRAM: Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society Electronic Medical Record 
Adoption Model – see: http://himss.eu/emram 

 
 
4.6.7 Independent assurance report 

Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of Cambridge 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on the quality report  

We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Cambridge University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement 

in respect of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report 

for the year ended 31 March 2016 (the ‘Quality Report’) and certain performance 

indicators contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2016 subject to limited assurance 

consist of the following two national priority indicators (the indicators): 

 percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete 

pathways at the end of the reporting period 

 A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to 

admission/transfer/discharge 

 

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors  

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality 

Report in accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. 

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, 

on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that: 

 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria 

set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

http://himss.eu/emram
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 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources 

specified in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports 

2015/16 (‘the Guidance’) 

 the indicator in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of 

limited assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material 

respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Guidance 

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content 

requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and consider 

the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions. 

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider 

whether it is materially inconsistent with: 

 Board minutes and papers for the period April 2015 to May 2016 

 papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2015 to 

May 2016 

 feedback from commissioners 

 feedback from governors 

 feedback from local Healthwatch organisations 

 feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009 

 the latest national patient survey 

 the latest national staff survey 

 the 2015/16 Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control 

environment 

 the latest CQC Intelligent Monitoring Report 

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 

misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 

‘documents’).  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.  

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency 

requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 

(ICAEW) Code of Ethics.  Our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant 

subject matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of 

Governors of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 

assist the Council of Governors in reporting the NHS Foundation Trust’s quality 

agenda, performance and activities.  We permit the disclosure of this report within 

the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2016, to enable the Council of 

Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities 

by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the 

indicator.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report, 

except where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.  

 

  

 



 Annual Report & Accounts 2015/16 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
148 

 

 Assurance work performed  

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International 

Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements 

other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’, issued by the 

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited 

assurance procedures included:  

 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for 

managing and reporting the indicator 

 making enquiries of management 

 testing key management controls 

 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator 

back to supporting documentation 

 comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual to the categories reported in the Quality Report 

 reading the documents 

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance 

engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient 

appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance 

engagement. 

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than 

financial information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the 

methods used for determining such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows 

for the selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can 

result in materially different measurements and can affect comparability.  The 

precision of different measurement techniques may also vary.  Furthermore, the 

nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the 

measurement criteria and the precision of these criteria, may change over time.  It 

is important to read the quality report in the context of the criteria set out in the 

NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or the 

non-mandated indicator, which was determined locally by Cambridge University 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

 

Basis for qualified conclusion 

As set out in the Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive of the Foundation 

Trust on page 109 of the Trust’s Quality Report, the Trust currently has concerns 

with accuracy of data for the ‘percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks’ 

indicator’ because there are system limitations and manual adjustments that mean 

the Trust is unable to provide the appropriate data for this indicator as at 31 March 

2016. 

As a result of this issue, we have concluded that we are unable to test sufficiently 

the ‘percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks’ indicator’ for the year 

ended 31 March 2016. 

 

Qualified conclusion 

Based on the results of our procedures, except for the effects of the matters 

described in the ‘Basis for qualified conclusion’ section above, nothing have come to 

our attention that causes us to believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2016:  
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 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria 

set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;  

 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources 

specified in the Guidance; and 

 the other indicator in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance has not 

been reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data 

quality set out in the Guidance. 

 

 

 

 

 

KPMG LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
100 Botanic House, Cambridge, CB1 2AR 
25 May 2016 
 

 

4.6.8 Other information 

 

Reviewing performance against last year’s priorities for improvement 

 

Improving safety and reducing harm – harm-free care  
Our goal was that the care we delivered would be safe and harm-free, measured by 

the following indicators: 

 
Care delivered harm-free  

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Safety Thermometer score 98% 98.55% 98.47% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
The safety thermometer is a nationally mandated method of assessing the safety of 

care provided in hospitals.  It has been described in more detail in section 4.6.5. 
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We continued to perform well when compared to our peers. The slight decrease in 

the rate this year may be partially due to the Trust adopting new safety 

thermometer templates for children and young people, as this removes a number of 

wards and beds from the original numerator used to calculate harm-free care.  

 
 

Harm rates 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Reported incidents resulting in 

harm per patient contact 
0.2% 0.2% 0.19% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
The hospital has in place a well-developed safety reporting process which requires 

staff to report events affecting safety, irrespective of whether harm occurred. A 

new safety reporting system has been introduced during 2015/16, which provides 

for easier and more detailed reporting, and will support continued improvement of 

our investigation and learning processes. It also specifically permits and encourages 

reporting of ‘unsafe conditions’, where there is a risk which might lead to an 

incident if not addressed. A high level of reporting is viewed as an indication of a 

positive safety culture, and the Trust continues to feature as a high reporter, 

compared to our peers. 

We measured the rate of harm as a percentage of patient contacts each month. 

Patient contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day case and 

emergency department attendances. 

Since October 2015, we have seen a sustained step increase in the harm rates, 

above our ceiling level. This is believed to be as result of the introduction of the 

new safety reporting system, in which the reporter grades the level of harm. For 
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the future, we will attempt to establish a new benchmark for our performance on 

this measure against other Trusts using the same system. 

In 2015/16 a total of 12,091 patient safety incidents were reported, compared with 

10,579 in 2014/15.  The actual number of reports, where some degree of harm 

occurred, ranged between 93 and 215 per month. 

 
 

Minimising infection 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Number of MRSA bloodstream 

infections 
0 0 2 

Number of Clostridium Difficile 

infections 
<49* 35 (19) 27 (26) 

*61 in 2014/15. Figures shown are infections reported deemed avoidable, with those reported deemed 
not avoidable in parentheses. 

 

We partially achieved this. 

 
We committed to reduce the number of all avoidable infections and the harm they 

cause, in particular to keep the number of patients who acquire C.difficile or a 

MRSA bacteraemia in hospital to a minimum. 

By reducing the numbers of affected patients to a minimum, we reduced the need 

for a prolonged length of stay, surgery or admission to an intensive care unit as a 

result of the infection. 

During 2015/16 we continued to focus on environmental cleaning standards, 

prompt isolation, antibiotic stewardship, hand hygiene and staff education to help 

reduce and prevent healthcare associated infections. We have worked to develop 

eHospital so that it can support good infection control practise and improve 

antibiotic prescribing standards.  

The formal deep clean programme was interrupted on a number of occasions 

throughout the year and is currently suspended as a result of the unremitting 

pressure on capacity within the organisation. The lack of single patient rooms has 

had a further impact on our ability to comply with the Trusts own infection control 

policies regarding isolation. 

Of the 2 MRSA infections reported, one remains under review at the time of writing, 

but is likely to be assigned to a third party. The other case was traced to a 

contaminant introduced when the sample was taken on arrival. 

We had 53 C.Difficile cases in the year, of which the CCG has classed 26 as non- 

trajectory (not avoidable), because the care delivered was exemplary. This leaves 

27 potentially avoidable cases against the ceiling of 49. 
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Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

HSMR <85 86.31 77.4* 

*Apr-Dec15 

 
We achieved this. 

 
HSMR is a nationally calculated ratio prepared by Dr Foster (www.drfoster.com), 

where a score of 100 would mean actual deaths were in line with expected. An 

HSMR of less than 100 indicates fewer patients than expected died, a figure of 

greater than 100 indicated more than expected died. Our aim was to have an HSMR 

that placed the hospital in the top 10% of our peer group, and to have an 

aggregate hospital HSMR of less than 85. 

The graph below sets out HSMR performance. Note however that data is always 

three months in arrears. 
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Safety and quality learning programme 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Have a monthly learning 

programme in place 
June 2015 n/a Achieved 

 
We achieved this. 

 

For the Trust to improve safety it is vital that we learn from incidents and ensure 

that this learning is shared. To be effective, our safety and quality learning 

programme must operate through many parallel processes. A number of elements 

have been introduced over the past year, and we continue to develop further 

initiatives. 

Our safety events are seminars focused on key themes identified from incident 

reporting and occasional presentations on aspects of patient safety, usually by 

external expert speakers. Internal seminars have been held this year on patients 

lost to follow-up, retention of central venous catheter guide-wires, and insulin and 

diabetic management. Future sessions are already planned for VTE management, a 

pharmacy view, and legal issues related to serious incidents. 

Evaluation of these sessions has been positive both in terms of the speakers and 

audience. 

Safety Matters is a regular publication which shares and alerts staff to current 

patient safety issues, and includes case reviews, educational articles and warnings. 

Safety Matters is distributed to all clinical and managerial staff by email. A number 

of hard copies are also produced and all issues are available on the hospital’s 

intranet, to ensure that the information spread is wide and reaches as many staff 

as possible. 

Serious incident reports are shared across all divisions to ensure that, where an 

incident happens in one area, the learning from this can be considered and, where 

appropriate, actioned in others. Action plans developed as a result of the 

investigations are monitored by the patient safety team. 
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CUH patient safety directives and alerts are produced as necessary to share 

safety information rapidly across the Trust. Often, this is in response to a local 

safety event. Six such alerts were issued in 2015/16.   

 

Never events 

Introduced by the Department of Health, a ‘never event’ is defined as serious, 

largely preventable incidents that should never happen if the right measures are in 

place. 

During 2015/2016, there have been three ‘never events’. Two have been fully 

investigated, and one remains the subject of an investigation which is nearing 

completion (incident reported in February 2016). The three events relate to a 

retained central venous catheter guide-wire, a wrong site injection of a medication, 

and a wrong side anaesthetic block. 

As with the investigations into a number of previous ‘never events’, the process and 

action plans for the first two of these have been informed by the input of our 

human factors specialist, and implementation of a number of longer-term 

improvement measures is continuing. 

 

 
Improving the reliability of care – delay-free care 
Our goal was that care delivered by the hospital would be reliable and timely, 

measured by the following indicators. 2015/16 has been a challenging year for the 

NHS in terms of patient demand and CUH is no exception, we have treated a 

greater number of patients than ever before. Similar demands have been made on 

our partners in social care and this has contributed to our inability to discharge 

patients who no longer need medical care.  

 
Emergency department waiting time 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Compliance with the emergency 

department 4 -hour standard 
95% 83.7% 90.2% 

 
We did not achieve this. 

 

There were 108, 972 attendances to the major emergency department on site in 

2015/16 – 3% growth on 14/15.  We have also treated 27,542 patients who 

attended the Minor Injuries Units since July 2015 when the Trust took over the 

management of the MIUs. There is a nationally mandated target to see 95% of 

patients within four hours. Our aim was to meet this target each quarter. 

Attendances for 2015/16 were up by 26.5% (28,020 patients including MIUs (from 

July 15). Excluding MIUs attendances are up by 3.1% (3,266 patients). 

Admissions via the emergency department were up 4.1% (1,428 admissions). 
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We continue to look at ways in which we can improve our performance so that we 

can meet the four-hour standard, and are working closely with the national 

Emergency Care Improvement Programme team. 

 
Admission within 18 weeks of GP referral  

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Patients admitted within 18 weeks 

of GP referral 
90% 87.3% 70.5% 

 
We did not achieve this. 

We recognise the importance of admitting patients in a timely manner following 

referral by their GP. This measure was replaced in October 2015 by a monthly 

snapshot of patients still waiting after 18 weeks (see below), and this will be 

reflected in the objectives for 2016/17. 

The external auditors reviewed the Trust RTT pathway and felt that the data quality 

for this indicator is such that they couldn’t provide assurance over it. Other Trusts 

in the country have a similar issue. 

 

The Trust has implemented a new information system which is able to support 

validation, monitoring and reporting by generating a number of reports to monitor, 

identify validation issues and track performance. The Trust engaged an external 

company with experience of improving data quality following clinical information 

system replacement.  
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Treatment within 62 days of an urgent cancer referral 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Patients seen within 62 days of 

urgent cancer referral 
85% 79.9% 71.7% 

 
We did not achieve this. 

 
We recognise the importance for patients of being treated in a timely manner 

following urgent referral by their GP where cancer is suspected. 

Our aim is that 85% of patients are treated within 62 days of referral. 

The aggregate score excludes any agreed re-allocations from late-referring Trusts. 

 
Cancelled operations 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Cancelled operations <1% 1.34% 1.36% 

 
We did not achieve this. 
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Once a date is set for an operation, we will do our best to ensure that date is 

adhered to, while recognising there will be occasions when emergencies impact on 

routine operating. 

Our aim was that the number of operations cancelled on or after the day of 

admission was less than 1%. 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Although we did not achieve our aim in 2015/16: 

 The overall trend for hospital-induced cancelled operations has been improving 

throughout 2015/16. 

 Cancellations due to bed shortages showed a reduction from May 15, when we 

introduced protected beds for elective orthopaedics.  

 A major incident occurred in July 2015 and resulted in high levels of 

cancellations due to flooding of the sterile services department. 

 Cancellations due to theatre staffing shortages have been more evident since 

June 15, but the recruitment pipeline is positive for 2016.  

 The competing demand of trauma within orthopaedics and neurosurgery 

remains a key challenge for cancelled elective operations. Additional capacity is 

to be allocated when the expanded theatre suite is operational in 2016/17. 

 
Bed days lost to assessment for patients medically fit to leave 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Bed days lost to assessment for 

patients medically fit to leave (per 

week) 

<20 n/a 36.4 

 
We did not achieve this. 
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Minimising the number of patients who are medically fit to leave, but who remain in 

our care is important. Not only is it in patients interests to be cared for in the most 

appropriate care setting but, but not being able to discharge patients who are fit to 

leave is a significant factor which reduces the ability of CUH to admit and treat 

patients requiring inpatient hospital care.  

 

 
Improving the experience of our patients – person-centred care 
Our goal was that care delivered by the Trust would be a positive experience and 

not result in the need to raise a formal complaint, measured by the following 

indicators 

 
Inpatient experience 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Inpatients who rate their 

experience as at least 7/10 
>90% 94.6% 88.5% 

 
We partially achieved this. 

 
We reviewed and modified our inpatient survey and rating scale during the year to 

bring this in line with the national inpatient survey, so that we could compare the 

results more easily. 

This year we have surveyed our inpatients once and participated in the National 

Inpatient survey. Both surveys ask patients about topics that include infection 

control, cleanliness, privacy, safety, nursing and medical care received, being 

informed and involved in the care provided, discharge and food. 
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Because of changes to our local survey made during the year, we are not able to 

make a direct comparison to previous years’ results. Last year, our aim was for 

90% of patients who respond to the surveys answer questions as ‘yes, met 

expectations’ or ‘above expectations’. As this rating changed, our target is that 

90% rate overall care as at least 7 out of 10.  

Did we achieve our aims in 2015/16? Partially; in our local survey carried out in 

July 2015 we had 937 patients respond and 92% of these reported that they rated 

the care at least seven out of 10. However in the national inpatient survey, carried 

out in summer 2015, only 85% reported that their care was at least seven out of 

10. As an aggregate this is 88.5%. 

 

 
Outpatient experience 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Patients who recommended our 

clinics 
88% 89.85 96.6% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
We surveyed patients who attended outpatients once this year. In the survey we 

asked about quality of experience pre, during and post appointment. Topics include 

timeliness, information provided and clarity about next steps. We also changed the 

rating scale of this survey. As this rating changed, our target became that 88% 

would rate overall care as at least seven out of 10. 

Did we achieve our aims in 2015/16?  Partially; our local outpatient survey was 

undertaken in July 2015. Of the 1346 responses we received, 96.6% of our patients 

reported that they rated the care they received at least seven out of 10. This is 

very different to our real time friend and family recommender survey, which has 

been variable through the year. However, in March 2016 88% of our patients told 

us they would recommend our service. We are aware that the results of the Friends 

and Family recommender question had a very low response rate, covering just 

1928 of the 684,560 patients (0.3%) who attended outpatients in 2015-6. 

We have established an outpatient patient experience group to try and address the 

key issues being raised by our patients, with the aim of driving improvements to 

the service.  The work of the group will include promoting the survey to patients, 

making it easy to complete, introducing a roving refreshment trolley, refreshing the 

information screen displays, and looking at how we can improve the content of 

information contained in our letters. 
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Inpatient ‘friends & family’ test 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Patients agreeing that the care they 

received would be good enough for 

my friends or family 

>65% 61.1 95.4 

 
We achieved this. 

 
The ‘friends and family test’ changed during 2014-5, and is now the ‘recommender 

score’. This is an NHS wide initiative to gather feedback about patients’ 

experiences. In simple terms, it is seeking to answer the question ‘How likely are 

you to recommend our service to friends and family if they needed similar care or 

treatment?’ As the way the score was rated changed at the time the question 

changed, we had to change our measure. 

Did we achieve our aims in 2015/16? Yes; our inpatients friend and family 

recommend score have remained consistently high at over 90%.The ‘friends & 

family’ test has also expanding more recently to include the emergency 

department, outpatients, and maternity, so next year’s objectives will include a 

target for each of these services. 

 
Patient complaints 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Complaints per patient contact <0.1% 0.08% 0.05% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
We always embrace complaints as these help to identify areas where we can 

improve, and are a way of measuring the level of quality we are delivering. 

We measured the complaint rate as a percentage of patient contacts, which are the 

number of inpatients admitted, plus outpatient, day case, and emergency 

department attendances. 

Did we achieve our aims in 2015/16? Yes; in 2015/16 a total of 519 formal 

complaints were received, compared with 523 in 2014/15. The monthly rate as a 

percentage of patient contacts ranged between 0.04% and 0.07%. 
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Staff values and behaviours 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Staff who are aware of the Trust’s 

values and behaviours 
>90% n/a 99% 

Staff who feel they are able to 

deliver the Trust’s values and 

behaviours at work 

>80% n/a- 92% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
This measure (new for 2015/16) recognises the Trust’s values ‘Together – safe kind 

excellent’. We will use the staff survey to gain staff’s views as to whether they treat 

patients in a way that is consistent with our values and behaviours. 

 

Providing clinically effective care 
Our goal was that care delivered by the Trust would be effective, in simple terms it 

delivers what it says it will, measured by the following indicators 

 
Patient related outcome measures (PROMS) 

 

What did we measure? Our target 

How did we 
do? 

2014/15 

Patient Related Outcome based on 

health gain  

(above national average or not) 

Hips (21.4) 21.8 

Knees (16.1) 15.9 

Hernia (0.08) 0.1 

Varicose 

veins (-0.83) 
-11.6 

 
We partially achieved this. 

 
These are nationally mandated, and provide a patient perspective of the 

effectiveness of the care they received - in simple terms the health gain or loss 

following the procedure. They cover surgery undertaken in respect of hips and 

knees, groin hernia and varicose veins.   

Data shown for 14/15 is provisional. Provisional data for 15/16 is not yet available. 
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Clinical frailty score (CFS) for patients aged 75 or above  

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

CFS screen performed within 72 

hours of admission 
85% 86.5% 86.5% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
Care of the frail elderly: The Trust is seeing and admitting an increasing number of 

frail elderly patients (those aged 75 and over). Cambridgeshire local authority 

population forecasts predict a 3.6% year on year growth of the population aged 

85+, which equates to a doubling over the next 20 years. We recognise that 

developing services to better serve this group of patients is central to improving 

both quality of care and developing sustainable services for the future. 

A key element for successful management of the frail elderly patient is that they 

undergo a proper screening using the clinical frailty score tool within their first 72 

hours in hospital, to identify their treatment requirements. 

 
Improving the identification and treatment of patients with sepsis 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Compliance with the sepsis bundle 

antibiotic standards 
>90% n/a 43*% 

*Feb 16 data for Emergency Department pilot site. Started Oct 2015, baseline level 10%,  

 
We did not achieve this. 

Measurement started on a trial basis in 2015, and will be regularised in 2016.  

 

Staff as partners 
Our goal was that all our patients would receive high quality care, provided by an 

engaged, motivated and well trained workforce, measured by the following 

indicators, which (apart from the measures on workforce planning) were derived 

from the results of the quarterly staff survey. 

The most recent survey covers the period October-December 2015. 

 

Staff engagement 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Staff engagement score 3.74 3.69 3.83 

 

 We achieved this. 
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Staff friends and family score 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Staff recommend us as a place to 

work 
65% 67% 83% 

Staff recommend us as a place to 

receive treatment 
80% 91% 94% 

 
We achieved this. 

 
One of the key elements of the national ‘friends & family programme is to ask our 

staff their views regarding the care delivered at the hospital in which they work.  In 

simple terms, is its good enough for them or their family? 

 

Staff leadership 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

My immediate manager 

demonstrates the Trust's values 

and leadership behaviours. 

>85% n/a 81% 

Senior managers, who lead this 

organisation, demonstrate the 

Trust's values and leadership 

behaviours 

>60% n/a 56% 

 
We did not achieve this. 

 
We want those who lead and manage our workforce to have the confidence of the 

staff they lead and manage. We recognise that we have some way to go in 

achieving our aims in this respect – a fact that has been highlighted in our CQC 

inspection report. A major organisational development programme will be rolled out 

in the coming year, which includes measures to address this. 

Workforce planning 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Vacancy rate for registered nurses <5% 12% 8.1% 

Vacancy rate for healthcare 

assistants 
<8% 16.8% 13.2% 

We have a robust plan by in place 

to mitigate the risks regarding 

junior doctor rotas 

By end of 

2015/16 
n/a Achieved 

 We did not achieve this. 
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Ensuring we have sufficient staff now and in the future is crucial to delivering the 

high quality care we aspire to. We identified two measures, the first relates to 

nurses and health care assistants, the second to medical staff. These have been 

continued as key measures into 2016/17. 

 
Additional findings from the NHS staff survey not set as measures for 
2014/15 but reported here 
 

Staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff (KF19) 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Staff experiencing harassment, 

bullying or abuse from staff in the 

last 12 months 

n/a 25% 24% 

 
There is a correlation between the introduction in 2013 of a Trust initiative to 

strengthen performance management procedures and actions, and the increased 

number of staff who report experiencing harassment and bullying in the last 12 

months. This is demonstrated through the number of claims of this nature which 

are dealt within the workforce directorate. On-going training for line managers 

seeks to provide support in differentiating between the behaviours of firm 

management, as opposed to those which are harmful to staff. 

 
Staff who believe that the Trust provides equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion (KF27) 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 

Staff who believe that the Trust 

provides equal opportunities for 

career progression or promotion 

n/a 86% 83% 

 
The Trust’s workforce race equality strategy action plan prioritises the key actions 

required in the areas of recruitment and development and manager training. This 

includes an e-learning skills training for all line managers available in April 2016 

‘Understanding unconscious bias’; talent management which includes coaching and 

mentoring for BME staff; celebrating cultural difference events, repeating the 

successful Windrush celebration events run in July and October 2015. 
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4.6.9 Performance against national quality indicators and targets 

As well as setting our own priorities for improvement, there are a number of 

mandated requirements and indicators set for the NHS as a whole. 

 
National quality indicators  
NHS England mandated that all organisations providing NHS commissioned care 

review their performance against a common set of measures across the new NHS 

outcomes framework. 

Where data is available from the Health and Social Care Information Centre 

(HSCIC), a comparison has been included of the numbers, percentages, values, 

scores or rates of each of the Trust’s indicators with: 

 the national average for the same  

 those NHS Trusts and NHS foundation Trusts with the highest and lowest of the 

same 

 

Full details of each national indicator and the performance achieved during the year 

is set out in Annex 5. 

 
National targets 
Set by the Department of Health, these targets reflect the NHS Operating 

Framework which sets out the main planning framework, key financial assumptions 

and national targets for the NHS across all areas of activity.   

Full details of each national target together with the performance achieved during 

the year, is set out in Annex 6. 

 
4.6.10 Feedback on the quality report and quality account 

If you would like further information on anything contained within this report, 

please write to: 

 

Director for Corporate Affairs 

PO Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust,  

Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ 

 

Or email: Trust.secretariat@addenbrookes.nhs.uk  

 

This document is also available on request in other languages, large print and audio 

format – please phone 01223 274648. 

mailto:trust.secretariat@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
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Annex 1: Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
quality report 

 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 

Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare quality accounts for each 

financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation Trust Boards on the form and 

content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) 

and on the arrangements that NHS foundation Trust Boards should put in place to 

support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.  

In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy 

themselves that:  

 
 the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the ‘NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16’ and supporting guidance;  

 the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external 

sources of information including:  

o Board minutes and papers for the period April 2015 to March 2016 

o papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2015 to 

March 2016 

o feedback from commissioners dated 19/05/2016 

o feedback from governors dated 12/05/2016 

o feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 26/04/2016 

o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 04/05/2016 

o the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 

11/05/2016 

o the national patient survey 2015 

o the  national staff survey October – December 2015 

o the head of internal audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control 

environment dated 23/05/2016 

o CQC inspection report dated 22/09/2015 

 the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation Trust’s 

performance over the period covered  

 the performance information reported in the quality report is reliable and 

accurate 

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the 

measures of performance included in the quality report, and these controls are 

subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice  

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the quality 

report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and 

prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review  

 the quality report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual 

reporting guidance (which incorporates the quality accounts regulations) as well 

as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the quality report 

 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 

with the above requirements in preparing the quality report.  
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By order of the Board 

 

 
 

 
Jane Ramsey      Roland Sinker 

 CUH Chair      CUH hief Executive 

 25 May 2016      25 May 2016 
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Annex 2: Statement by stakeholders 
 

Governors’ statement on the quality account 2015/16 

The Council of Governors values the opportunity to be involved in the development 

of Cambridge University Hospitals quality priorities for the coming year, and to 

comment on the quality account for 2015/16. 

During this year, the Governors have continued to work closely with the Non-

Executive Directors to scrutinise the Trusts performance, using a variety of 

methods, including monthly review of the integrated report on quality, finance, 

workforce and performance. Governors welcomed the high level of Director 

involvement in the Council of Governors meetings and the governor/director 

working groups. As in previous years, the governors and directors will have the 

opportunity to discuss together, the Trust’s quality performance a number of 

meetings throughout the year.  

The Governors welcomed the openness of the Trust regarding the outcome of the 

April 2015 CQC inspection, which resulted in the Trust being rated ‘inadequate’ and 

placed into special measures. Governors have been regularly briefed on progress 

with the delivery of the Trust’s improvement plan and Governors have also been 

represented at the Monitor lead Stakeholder Assurance meetings throughout the 

past year. Governors will feel more satisfied once the Trust is out of special 

measures and has improved its overall rating with the CQC. 

Governors were pleased that the Trust achieved a number of its quality account 

metrics, but are disappointed that aims for improvement in some areas, have not 

been fully achieved this year. Although governors recognise the especially 

challenging healthcare environment in which the Trust operates and our generally 

excellent patient outcomes and the CQC rating of ‘outstanding’ in care. The Trust 

must ensure that quality account aims are delivered to plan for the coming year 

and Governors look forward to continuing to work closely with the Directors and 

Non-Executive Directors of the Trust to ensure delivery of the plan. 

 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) statement for inclusion in the 2015/16 quality account 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) has 

reviewed the Quality Account produced by Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust (CUHFT) for 2015/16.  

The CCG and CUHFT work closely together to review performance against quality 

indicators and ensure any concerns are addressed. There is a structure of regular 

meetings in place between the CCG, CUHFT and other appropriate stakeholders to 

ensure the quality of CUHFT services is reviewed continuously with the 

commissioner throughout the year.  

2015/16 has been a challenging year for CUHFT. The Trust was inspected by the 

Care Quality Commission in April and May 2015 and was placed in Special Measures 

following the publication of the inspection report in September 2015. What was 

resounding was that Care at the Trust was exceptional, ‘Caring staff who did 

everything they could for their patients’ was stated by the CQC. However 

Inadequate ratings were given for Safety, Responsiveness and Leadership. 

Testament to the organisation was that they were quick to ensure the positive 

messages to staff and patients were relayed whilst at the same time putting a 

comprehensive Quality Improvement plan in place and demonstrating commitment 
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and drive to its’ achievement. This has included addressing the shortfall of staff in 

key areas including midwifery, the pressure on surgical services resulting in long 

waiting times and continuing issues with the new eHospital system ‘EPIC’ which the 

CQC acknowledged was embedding but was still having an impact on patient care 

and external relationships. 

The Quality Improvement Plan has driven the quality work programme during 

2015/16. 

This has been supported by an Oversight Group which includes the CCG, and 

provides external support and challenge.  The CCG and partners have also worked 

with the Trust to strengthen improvement and review progress through a series of 

visits.  

CUHFT are also not alone in having key areas where they constantly have to strive 

to meet key performance targets, especially with increasing pressures on the 

system including the increase in emergency department attendances and the 

complexities of discharging people safely home. There continue to be problems in 

achieving ED waiting times. The opening of the Medical Decisions Unit in August 

2015 has made a positive impact and there is a patient flow programme in place. 

The CQC reported that despite the challenges patients were asked about their 

wishes and supported to make decisions and that multiprofessional working 

contributed to efficient working and there was a culture of support and teamwork. 

Other performance concerns include meeting Referral to Treatment Times and 

Diagnostics standards which were not achieved in 2015/16 due to a mismatch in 

capacity and demand. Robust recovery plans are being implemented and the Trust 

is a key part of a CCG wide System Transformation Programme.  

CUHFT have also showed an improving picture to resolve other quality concerns.  

Issues with Safeguarding Children training were identified in 2014/15, and the 

Trust put in place systems to increase access to this training, including a new 

eLearning package. This resulted in significant improvements in 2015/16. The CCG 

highlighted a drop in compliance with control of infection (IP&C) standards at 

CUHFT in October 2015. This was addressed promptly and the Trust is now 

compliant with all IP&C standards. 

From an incident reporting perspective 2 Never Events related to Opthalmology 

were reported which was particularly concerning and a review, supported by the 

CCG, was undertaken which has included ensuring the right capacity is in place to 

manage waiting lists and support safe care. 

CUHFT throughout 2015/16 have consistently demonstrated a real commitment to 

the delivery of high quality evidence based care. This is reflected in audits that 

have been undertaken and the results attained as well as in the positive work of 

individual practitioners and teams that has been highlighted to the CCG. This 

includes clinicians winning major national awards, and evidence of difficult and 

coordinated team work under difficult circumstances above and beyond what we 

may expect. 

 

Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee statement for 
inclusion in the 2015/16 quality account 

The Health Committee within its scrutiny capacity has examined the following 

issues with CUHFT over the past year: 

 Update on e-hospital issues at CUHFT (28th May 2015) 

 CUHFT Care Quality Commission Inspection report (5th November 2015) 
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 Older People and Adult Community Services – Termination of the Uniting Care 

Contract (21st January 2016) 

 Update on progress on CQC Inspection of CUHFT (12th May 2016) 

Minutes of these discussions can be found following the link below: 

http://www2.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/CommitteeMinutes/Committees/Committee.as

px?committeeID=76 

In reviewing the draft Quality Account for 2015/16, shared with the committee for 

comment, the Health Committee recognises the honest picture the quality account 

gives of the problems faced by CUHFT, following the inadequate rating given by the 

CQC during their inspection of the hospital in September 2015.   

Over the last year the Health Committee has had improved communication with 

CUHFT receiving formal reports and seminars updating members on the progress 

the hospital has made to address the issues following the launch of the E-hospital 

programme in 2014. Members have been encouraged by the improvements in the 

EPIC IT system and containment of critical issues but are still concerned over 

potential issues of cyber security. 

The Health Committee welcomes the priorities identified for 2016/17 with a 

particular reference on focusing on safety and staff. The new organisational 

development programme should also take account of the economic pressures 

relating to staff recruitment and retention in the health system.  Following the 

CQC’s inspection the Health Committee has been kept informed of the Trusts 

Improvement Plan through inclusion in CQC’s stakeholder reviews and the more 

recent introduction of quarterly liaison meetings with the Chief Executive of CUH 

and members of the Health Committee. 

It would be helpful if the quality performance on 2015/16 was summarised up front 

rather than in the appendix. Members have been encouraged by the progress being 

reported and willingness of the Trust to engage however the Health Committee will 

not be comfortable until the CQC rating is improved.  

 

Cambridgeshire Healthwatch statement for inclusion in the 2015/16 
quality account 

The Trust has had a challenging year; the collapse of the Older People’s and Adult 

Community Services contract and the CQC inspection which resulted in the Trust 

being placed in Special Measures. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is delighted that the 

Trust was rated as ‘Excellent’ for caring; this reflects what people tell us. 

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire welcomes the opportunity to work with the Trust on 

elements of its Improvement Plan. The Trust’s responsiveness to concerns raised is 

very welcome and indicative of the increasingly positive and constructive 

relationship with the Trust. 

In previous Quality Accounts Healthwatch Cambridgeshire has highlighted the 

benefits that could be gained from deeper analysis and year on year comparisons of 

both PALS and complaints data. The Trust could do more to demonstrate this and 

how learning from feedback takes place.  

Healthwatch feedback from patients tells us that discharge not just an external 

delayed transfer issue. Patients and other service partners tell us that there are 

opportunities to streamline internal hospital processes to improve discharge safety 

and experience. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is aware that the Trust is working on 

its internal processes, this is welcomed and needs to be prioritised. 

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is concerned about the increasing waiting times for 

patients and has worked very productively with the Trust to carry out Enter and 
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View visits to three Out Patient clinics. These visits explored patient experience of 

waiting, quality of information and if people knew what to do should their condition 

deteriorate. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is starting to receive concerns from 

patients who are breaching the 18 week wait standard. We would like to be assured 

that these patients are receiving information about their position and what choices 

are available.  

The Trust’s commitment to equalities issues is highly positive; Healthwatch work 

with Gypsy and Traveller Communities has been very well supported. As has our 

partnership work with the children and young people’s Active group which has 

provided opportunities for young people to discuss mental health and wellbeing. 

The findings from these discussions have been fed back to commissioners. Staff in 

these two areas have been particularly helpful.  

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is aware that the Trust has shortages of staff in many 

areas. The Trust’s workforce do a wonderful job, very often under difficult 

circumstances, and all staff are thanked for their commitment to patient care. 

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire recognise that many of the challenges for the Trust 

result from the pressure on the whole system, but we look to the Trust to work 

where it can to maintain safety and quality and improve experience. It is pleasing 

to note the increasing cooperation between the Trust and other providers and 

commissioners in the local Cambridgeshire health economy. We are convinced that 

this path will bring the greatest benefits to our local communities. 

 

Healthwatch Suffolk statement for inclusion in the 2015/16 quality 
account 

Healthwatch Suffolk have advised that they will not be providing a statement this 

year, but will instead be sharing their feedback with Healthwatch Cambridgeshire to 

inform their response 
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Annex 3: Summary of our safety improvement plan  
 

Vision 
The vision for CUH is to be a leader in quality improvement and patient safety. 

 

Our improvement plan 
CUH has made a commitment to the implementation of a patient safety 

improvement plan aligned to the Trust’s quality strategy , our values of ‘Together – 

safe kind excellent’, and to the recommendations in the following reports: 

 ‘A Promise to Learn, a Commitment to Act’ – Donald Berwick, Department of 

Health, (2013) 

 ‘Improving quality in the English NHS: a strategy for action’ – Chris Ham et al. 

The Kings Fund. February 2016.  

 
Implementation of the patient safety improvement plan will be driven by the key 

principles of leadership, standardisation and resilience; as reflected in the 

reports above and quality improvement theory. This strategy is also aligned to the 

NHS England’s ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign and the quality improvement goals of 

the Eastern Academic Health Science Network. 

The following table shows how the patient safety improvement plan will address the 

safety elements within each objective set out in the quality strategy.  

 

Quality objective Patient safety targets  

Safety as the first 

priority 
No avoidable harm 

Staff as agents of safe 

care 

Staff motivated and equipped to continuously seek 

out and reduce patient harm 

Clincally effective care 

Achieving the highest levels of reliability of clinical 

care – both process and outcomes 

Care is delivered at the right time, in an 

appropriate setting 

Safety initiatives put patients and carers at the 

centre of decisions 

 
Governance arrangements 
Oversight group:  Patient Safety Improvement Committee 

Executive lead:   Chief Nurse 

Clinical lead:  Deputy Medical Director: Patient Safety  

Programme lead:  Director for Clinical Quality 

Programme facilitator:  Head of Clinical Quality Improvement 

 
The patient safety improvement plan will be managed by the Patient Safety 

Improvement Committee, reporting to the Quality Committee, and progress 

formally reported annually in the Trust’s quality accounts. 
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The patient safety improvement plan in outline 
The two key objectives of our plan in the first three years will be to: 

 improve the effectiveness of clinical care 

 strengthen the organisation’s patient safety culture and quality improvement 

capabilities 

 

These objectives are summarised in the driver diagram below. The clinical 

pathways have been chosen to align to current national and professional standards, 

such as national CQUINS, and NHS England’s patient safety priorities. 

All improvement workstreams will have a number of high level outcomes measures 

as well as detailed measurement plans to track progress against the process and 

outcome measures related to improvement initiatives. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Continuously 
improving  

patient safety 

Clinically 
Effective 

Care 

Deteriorating Patient 

Evidence-base Care Bundles 

Learning & Improving                    
from safety data 

Patient 
Safety 
Culture 

Patient Safety Education 

Human Factors 

Leadership 
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The deteriorating patient 
The ‘rRecognise and Respond’ committee (previously the Deteriorating Patient 

Group) will oversee the implementation of this element of the plan. 

 
Evidence-based care bundles 
An evidence-based care bundle is a structured way of improving the processes of 

care and patient outcomes: a small, straightforward set of evidence-based practices 

(generally three to five) that, when performed collectively and reliably, have been 

proven to improve patient outcomes. 

The patient safety improvement plan proposes to: identify all evidence-based 

bundles that should be in place in the Trust; using quality improvement methods, 

support the implementation of new bundles; strengthen systems and processes for 

the monitoring of the effectiveness and compliance with these bundles (locally and 

central oversight); and to support the continuous improvement of patient safety 

related to these bundles. 

 
 

  

Improve 
Management of 

Deteriorating 
Patients  

Timely  
Recognition, 
Escalation  & 

Effectively 
Respond 

Recognition & Escalation Policy 

Rapid Response Team 

Education Programme 

Proactive Human Factors  

Clinical  

Pathways 

Acute Care Bundles: Sepsis, AKI 

Maternity & Paediatrics 

End of Life Care 

Learning for 
improvement 

Recognise & Respond Committee 

Learning from incidents 

Measuring & Monitoring 

Collaboration & Networking 

Evidenced Based Care Bundles 

Falls 

Pressure Ulcers 

VTE 

Catheter-associated UTI 

Ventilator Associated 
Pneumonia 

Central line-associated 
bloodstream infections 

Hospital Acquired Infections 

Hand Hygiene 

UFTO (DNAR) 

 

WHO checklist 

 

USS  for central line 
placement  
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Learning and Improving from safety data 
Determining the safety of a healthcare organisation is complex and cannot be 

verified by a single measure. A measurement and monitoring framework is 

designed to help organisations monitor both its safety (past, current and future) 

and whether or not quality improvement initiatives do in fact result in sustained 

improvements.  

The initiatives in the diagram below are the proposed key priorities to help this 

Trust identify: how safe our patients are; the contributory factors compromising 

patient safety; and whether or not our improvement initiatives are improving 

patient safety.  

 

 

Strengthening the patient safety culture 

 

 

Improving 
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learn 

Integration & 
Learning 

 

Improving 
how we learn 
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 Past Harm 

Serious Incident investigation process 

Safety Learning Reports 
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Understanding variation & reliability                                 
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Safety Culture 
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National Safety 
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Procedures  

Human Factors 
Education 
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Board Development 
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Ward Performance 
Charter Mark 
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  Annex 4: Example draft specialty specific outcome measures 
 

Speciality  
 

Suggested outcomes 

Breast unit Length of stay post resection post breast cancer surgery 

Reconstruction rate post mastectomy  

Cancer waiting times for  patients referred via the rapid access pathway and those on 31 and 62-day target 
treatments 

Vascular surgery 30-day mortality rates for elective EVAR  

30-day mortality for open elective AAA  

Stroke (30 day) and  30-day mortality for carotid endarterectomy  

Hepatobiliary surgery 30-day mortality for all cancers – liver resections, pancreas and cholangiocarcinoma 

Length of stay post cancer resection 

30-day re-admission rate post resection of any malignancy 

Colorectal surgery 30-day post-op mortality after cancer resection 

Elective length of stay (median) post cancer resection 

Unplanned return to theatre post resection of cancer  

Upper GI surgery Post-operative mortality following resection of oesophageal and gastric cancer 

Length of stay for oesophagectomy or gastrectomy 

The proportion of histological positive longitudinal margins after cancer resection.  

Neo-natal services The proportion of all babies (< or equal to 1500g or equal to 31+6 weeks gestation) that are screened by 
ophthalmology for retinopathy and comply to RCOphth standards.  

The proportion of all venous or arterial catheters that are associated with a line related infection 

The proportion of babies on NICU receiving breast milk 

Trauma and 
orthopaedics 

Length of stay following total hip replacement. 

Infection rates in 1. Knee joint replacement and 2. hip joint replacement 

Length of stay for proximal femoral fracture patients (hip fracture). 

Emergency medicine Time to assessment by decision making clinician 

Senior sign off 

Percentage of major trauma patients (ISS>15) with resuscitation led by EM consultant 
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Annex 5: National Quality Indicators – 2015/16 performance 
 
Note1: only those indicators applicable to CUH are reported. 

Note2: Data shown for 2014/15 or 2015/16 data is for the full reporting period indicated or, or up to the latest reporting period available. 

 

Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 
CUHFT considers that this 

data is as described for 
the following reasons… 

CUHFT intends to take/has taken 
the following actions to improve 

this proportion/ score/rate/number, 
and so the quality of its services, 

by… 

Summary Hospital-
Level Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) 

 

‘Lower than expected’ 
SHMI for July 2013 to June 
2014 

‘Lower than expected’ SHMI 
for October 2014 to 
September 2015 

The Trust has a robust 
process for clinical coding 
and review of mortality data 
so is confident that the data 
is accurate. 

The Trust reviews SHMI data (along 
with the HSMR) and always looks at 
how it can be at least sustained or 
reduced further. 

9 Trusts had a ‘higher than 
expected’ SHMI; and 15 
Trusts ‘lower than 
expected’ 

18 Trusts had a ‘higher than 
expected’ SHMI; 103 Trusts 
‘as expected’; and 15 Trusts 
‘lower than expected’  

Patient safety 
incidents 

(i) Number 

(i) Trust number for 
October 2013 to March 
2014 was 6,218 

 

(i) Trust number for October 
2014 to March 2015 was 
6,448 

 

Data is submitted to the 
National Reporting and 
Learning System in 
accordance with national 
reporting requirements. 

Note: these figures relate to 
incidents reported via the 
Trust incident reporting 
system which relies on the 
reporter identifying that an 
incident has occurred 

The Trust has a positive reporting 
culture.  

Reducing harm to patients remains 
one of the key elements of our quality 
account and quality strategy. 

(ii) Rate 

 

(ii) 9.6 per 100 admissions (ii) 40.6 per 1,000 bed days 

(iii) Number and 
percentage resulting 
in severe harm/death 

(iii)  19 resulted in severe 
harm/death, 0.31% of 
incidents 

(iii)  11 resulted in severe 
harm/death, 0.17% of 
incidents 
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Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 
CUHFT considers that this 

data is as described for 
the following reasons… 

CUHFT intends to take/has taken 
the following actions to improve 

this proportion/ score/rate/number, 
and so the quality of its services, 

by… 

Patient Reported 
Outcome Measures 
(PROMS) 

[national average 
comparators shown 
in brackets] 

Period as indicated  
below 

April 2014 to March 2015  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Trust has processes in 
place to ensure that relevant 
patients are given 
questionnaires to complete.  
However it has no control 
over their completion and 
return. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROMS data is reviewed and reported 
in the Integrated Report to the Board 
and Quality Committee each month, 
and in the Divisional Scorecards for 
the monthly Division-Executive 
performance meetings. 

 

For applicable measures, the Trust 
results are better than the national 
average in the latest reporting period. 

Groin hernia surgery 
Apr – Sep 14 

0.09 (0.08) 

 

0.1 (0.08) 

Varicose vein 
surgery 

Apr – Sep 14 

N/A (0.09) 

 

-11.6 (-8.3) 

Hip replacement 
surgery 

Apr 13 – Mar 14   

Primary: 

0.44 (0.44) 

Revision: 

N/A (0.26) 

Primary: 

21.8 (21.4) 

Revision: 

N/A (12.8) 

Knee replacement 
surgery 

Apr 13 – Mar 14   

Primary: 

0.31 (0.32) 

Revision: 

N/A (0.25) 

Primary: 

15.9 (16.1) 

Revision: 

N/A (12.3) 
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Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 
CUHFT considers that this 

data is as described for 
the following reasons… 

CUHFT intends to take/has taken 
the following actions to improve 

this proportion/ score/rate/number, 
and so the quality of its services, 

by… 

Readmission within 
28 days of 
discharge: 

(i) aged 0-14 

Trust rate was 8.36% for 
2011/12 placing the Trust 
in band B1 

 

 

 

No later data released by 
HSCIC until August 2016 

The Trust has a robust 
process for clinical coding so 
is confident that the data is 
accurate. 

The Trust rates for 0-14 and 15 plus 
ages re-admissions show some 
improvement on last year and are both 
better than the national average. (Band 
B1 indicates significantly better than 
the national average at the 99.8% 
interval).The Trust monitors and looks 
to at least sustain current position 

National average rate was 
10.01% 

Readmission within 
28 days of 
discharge: 

(ii) aged 15 or over 

Trust rate was 10.64% for 
2011/12 placing the Trust 
in Band B1 

National average was 
11.45% 

Responsiveness to 
inpatients’ personal 
needs 

Trust score was 72.1 in 
2013/14 

Trust score was 71.5 for 
2014/15 

Undertaken independently 
as part of the annual national 
inpatient survey. 

The latest score is slightly down on the 
previous year although still favourable 
to the national average. We continue 
to use feedback from surveys and 
complaints to address areas of 
performance which fall short of our 
standards. 

National average was 68.7 National average was 68.9 
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Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 
CUHFT considers that this 

data is as described for 
the following reasons… 

CUHFT intends to take/has taken 
the following actions to improve 

this proportion/ score/rate/number, 
and so the quality of its services, 

by… 

Friends and Family 
Test – Staff 

% of staff 
recommending the 
Trust to family or 
friends 

76% in 2014 survey, 
placing Trust in best 20% 
of Trusts 

82% in 2015 survey, placing 
Trust in best 20% of Trusts 

Undertaken independently 
as part of the annual national 
staff survey. 

Already in the top 20%, and 
improvement on last year and relative 
to the acute Trust average. The Trust 
looks to at least sustain this position.   

Acute Trust average 66% 

 

Acute Trust average 70% 

 

Friends and Family 
Test – Patient 

[not statutory] 

% of inpatients who 
would recommend 
the Trust to their 
family or friends 

94% in February 2015 
survey. This was based on 
803 responses. 

97% in February 2016 
survey. This is based on 
1,278 responses and is an 
improvement on the same 
month last year. 

 Monitored monthly in the Trust’s 
integrated performance report that is 
submitted for the Board and Quality 
Committee. Performance is now above 
the national average.  

England average (incl. 
independent sector) 95% 

England average (incl. 
independent sector) 96% 
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Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 
CUHFT considers that this 

data is as described for 
the following reasons… 

CUHFT intends to take/has taken 
the following actions to improve 

this proportion/ score/rate/number, 
and so the quality of its services, 

by… 

% risk assessed for 
VTE 

 

 

 

 

Trust achieved 90.7% in 
2014/15 

 

Trust achieved 94.7% in 
Quarter 3 2015/16. 

 

 

The Trust has a robust 
process assessing VTE risk 
assessment of patients and 
this is also part of the 
monthly Safety Thermometer 
audit. Compliance levels did 
drop (from above 96% to 
80%) when we implemented 
eHospital in October 2014. 
However we have seen 
progressive improvement, 
and the internal target of 
95% has been achieved 
every month since 
November 2015. 

The Trust remains vigilant to ensure 
that this recent performance is 
sustained going forwards. 

It is monitored by the Trusts VTE 
Committee. 

England average was 
95.9% 

England average 95.5% 

Cases of C.difficile 
infection per 
100,000 bed days 

Trust rate was 15.9 in 
2013/14 

(50 cases) 

Acute Trust average was 
14.7 

Trust rate was 17.1 in 
2014/15 

(54 cases) 

Acute Trust average was 
15.1 

The Trust has in place 
robust mechanisms to record 
cases of C.difficile. 

A number of wide ranging actions 
involving both the Trust and wider 
health economy are in place.  
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Annex 6: National targets – 2015/16 performance 
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Annex 7: Glossary of terms and abbreviations used in this report 
 
C. difficile 
A clostridium difficile infection (CDI) is a type of bacterial infection that can affect 

the digestive system. It most commonly affects people who are staying in hospital. 

 

CFS (Clinical Frailty Score) 
An assessment tool used to determine the frailty of patients aged 75 and over 

admitted as emergencies.  The assessment tool uses a 9 point scoring system 

 

CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) indicators 
The CQUIN payment framework enables commissioners to reward excellence, by 

linking a proportion of English healthcare providers' income to the achievement of 

local quality improvement goals.  

 

CT 
Computerised tomography 

 

CUH (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) 

 

DTOC (Delayed transfer of care) 
Medically fit patients who cannot be discharged from hospital until there are 

arrangements in place for their continuing care and support.  

 

Dr Foster 
Dr Foster Intelligence is a joint venture with the Department of Health. They have 

developed pioneering methodologies that enable fast, accurate identification of 

potential problems in clinical performance and also in areas of high achievement. 

 

eHospital 
eHospital is an exciting programme that is changing the way we work and how we 

care for our patients using latest technology. Every member of staff has access to 

the information they need, when they need it, without having to look for a piece of 

paper, wait to use a computer or ask the patient yet again.  It went live in October 

2014. 

 

HSMR (Hospital standardised mortality ratio) 
This is a nationally calculated rate prepared by Dr Foster 

http://www.drfosterhealth.co.uk/ where a score of 100 would mean actual deaths 

were in line with expected.  An HSMR of less than 100 indicates less patients than 

expected died, a figure of greater than 100 indicated more than expected died. 

 

 

http://www.drfosterhealth.co.uk/
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HQIP 
The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) was established in April 

2008 to promote quality in healthcare, and in particular to increase the impact that 

clinical audit has on healthcare quality in England and Wales: 

 

HRG (Healthcare Resource Group) 
Within the English National Health Service (NHS), a Healthcare Resource Group 

(HRG) is a grouping consisting of patient events that have been judged to consume 

a similar level of resource. For example, there are a number of different knee-

related procedures that all require similar levels of resource; they may all be 

assigned to one HRG. 

 

Human Factors 
Human factors is the science which seeks to gain and apply knowledge of how 

people interact with each other and their environment, and how this affects 

behaviour, performance and wellbeing, particularly in the work setting. 

 

Joint Commission International 
Joint Commission International (JCI) works to improve patient safety and quality of 

health care in the international community by offering education, publications, 

advisory services, and international accreditation and certification.  

 

MBRRACE 
MBRRACE-UK is the collaboration appointed by the Healthcare Quality Improvement 

Partnership (HQIP) to continue the national programme of work investigating 

maternal deaths, stillbirths and infant deaths, including the Confidential Enquiry 

into Maternal Deaths (CEMD). The programme of work is now called the Maternal, 

Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme (MNI-CORP). 

The aim of the MBRRACE-UK programme is to provide robust information to support 

the delivery of safe, equitable, high quality, patient-centred maternal, newborn and 

infant health services 

 

Monitor  
The Foundation Trust regulator until 1st April 2016, when it was incorporated into 

NHS Improvement. 

 

MRSA (Meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus) 
MRSA is a type of bacterial infection that is resistant to a number of widely used 

antibiotics. This means it can be more difficult to treat than other bacterial 

infections. The full name of MRSA is meticillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus. You 

may have heard it called a superbug.  

 

 National quality indicators 
NHS England has mandated that all organisations providing NHS commissioned 

care are required to review their performance against a common set of measures 

across the new NHS Outcomes Framework, these measures are outlined below. 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_National_Health_Service
file://addfile/learn/jci-education-practicums-and-accreditation-updates/
file://addfile/Learn/publications/
file://addfile/improve/pathways-to-quality-improvement-and-patient-safety/
file://addfile/improve/pathway-to-accreditation/
file://addfile/improve/get-certified/
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk/collaboration
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk/funding
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk/programme-of-work
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NCEPOD 
The National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death reviews clinical 

practice and identifies potentially remediable factors in practice. NCEPOD's purpose 

is to assist in maintaining and improving standards of care for adults and children 

for the benefit of the public by reviewing the management of patients, by 

undertaking confidential surveys and research, by maintaining and improving the 

quality of patient care and by publishing and generally making available the results 

of such activities. 

 

‘Never event’ 
A 'never event' is defined as serious, largely preventable incident that should never 

happen if the right measures are in place.  A defined list of Never Events is 

published annually by the Department of Health. 

 

NHSBT 
NHS Blood and Transplant (NHSBT) is a Special Health Authority who manages 

blood and organ transplantation. 

 

NICE 
The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 

 

Palliative care  
Palliative care focuses on the relief of pain and other symptoms and problems 

experienced in serious illness. The goal of palliative care is to improve quality of 

life, by increasing comfort, promoting dignity and providing a support system to the 

person who is ill and those close to them. 

 

PROMS (Patient reported outcome measures) 
These are nationally mandated and provide a patient perspective of the 

effectiveness of the care they received – in simple terms the improvement gain or 

loss following the procedure.   

 

QSiS (Quality and Safety Information System) 
A bespoke electronic risk management system based on the Datix software used by 

the majority of NHS Trusts in the UK. The system is made up of a number of 

modules, including safety incident reporting, risk register, complaints, claims, CQC 

compliance, and has excellent reporting features. 

 

Special Measures 
In serious cases where hospitals are not providing good and safe care to patients, 

and the management cannot fix the problems by themselves, action is taken to 

improve the hospitals. The term used for this is “special measures”. 

Special measures involve action by three organisations: the Care Quality 

Commission, Monitor and the NHS Trust Development Authority (Monitor and the 

Trust Development Authority have now been brought together as NHS 

Improvement). All are independent but funded by the Department of Health, and as 
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regulators they work closely together to make sure patients get the best possible 

care from the NHS. More information is avilable at: 

http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/bruce-keogh-review/Documents/Special-

measures-FAQs.pdf 

 

 

 
 
                                           
 

 

http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/bruce-keogh-review/Documents/Special-measures-FAQs.pdf
http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/bruce-keogh-review/Documents/Special-measures-FAQs.pdf
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Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of Cambridge 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS 
Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for 

the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of 
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officers’ Memorandum issued by 
Monitor. 
 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006, Monitor has directed Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis 
set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true 

and fair view of the state of affairs of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and of its 
income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:  

 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the 

financial statements; 
 

• Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities 
and guidance; and 
 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable him to 
ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting 
Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in 
Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
Signed                     

 
 

 

 
Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive                                                                     
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF CAMBRIDGE 

UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ONLY  

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit 

 

1 Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified  

We have audited the financial statements of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the 

year ended 31 March 2016 set out on pages 11 to 45.  In our opinion:   

 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 
2016 and of the Trust’s income and expenditure for the year then ended;  and 

 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16. 

 

2 Emphasis of matter 

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the 

adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 1 of the financial statements concerning the ability of the Trust 

to continue as a going concern. 

The Trust incurred a deficit of £84.3 million during the year ended 31 March 2016. The Trust’s 2016/17 

Annual Plan requires the Trust to achieve substantial cost savings and it is reliant on additional financial 

support from the Department of Health. These, along with the other matters explained in Note 1 to the 

financial statements, indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on 

the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

3 Our assessment of risks of material misstatement 

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements the risks of material misstatement that 

had the greatest effect on our audit were as follows: 

Valuation of land and buildings - £272 million (2014/15: £330 million)   

The risk level is → (consistent) year on year 

Refer to page 17 to 18 (accounting policy) and page 33 (financial disclosures). 

The risk: Land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Non-specialised property assets in 

operational use are subsequently recognised at their current value in existing use. Specialised assets, 

where a market value is not readily ascertainable, are subsequently recognised at the depreciated 

replacement cost of a modern equivalent asset that has the same service potential as the existing asset.  

An impairment review is carried out each year to ensure that the carrying amounts of assets are not 

materially different from their current values. There is significant judgment involved in determining the 

appropriate basis for each asset according to the degree of specialisation, as well as over the 

assumptions made in arriving at the valuation of the asset.  In particular the depreciated replacement 

cost basis of valuation requires an assumption as to whether the replacement asset would be situated on 

the existing site or, if more appropriate, on an alternative site.  Further, depreciated replacement cost is 

decreased if VAT on replacement costs is deemed to be recoverable.  Both of these assumptions can have 

potentially significant effects on the valuation. 

For 2015/16 the Trust commissioned a full revaluation of land and buildings from an external valuer, 

using the depreciated replacement cost basis of valuation on an alternative site.  

Response: We evaluated and tested management’s arrangements for considering that the valuation of 

land and buildings as at 31 March 2016 were appropriate. In this area our audit procedures included: 

 Assessing the competence, capability, objectivity and independence of the Trust’s external valuer 
and considering the terms of engagement of, and the instructions issued to, the valuer for 
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consistency with the Trust’s accounting policies for the valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and also RICS Valuation Professional Standards;  

 Critically assessing the appropriateness of the valuation bases and assumptions applied to a 
sample of higher value assets by reference to records held by the Trust on the condition of the 
assets, the basis of ownership and the basis of use;   

 Confirming that the information provided to the valuer, including details of in-year capital 
expenditure on land and buildings, changes in use of buildings, and details of land area and floor 
space, was complete, relevant and accurate; 

 Reviewing all material assets valued using the depreciated replacement cost basis of valuation to 
determine whether the valuations were based on a modern equivalent asset and whether the 
assumptions made by the valuer in relation to the treatment of VAT and the use of an alternative 
site were consistent with local circumstances and complied with guidance issued by the 
Department of Health and HM Treasury; 

 Determining whether disclosures in relation to land and buildings complies with the requirements 
of the ARM. 

Valuation of intangible assets - £32 million (2014/15: £32 million)   

The risk level is → (consistent) year on year 

Refer to page 19 (accounting policy) and pages 32 (financial disclosures). 

 

The risk: The Trust has implemented an electronic patient records system, called eHospital. Costs 

incurred for the software aspects of this system have been capitalised as an intangible asset. These costs 

are being amortised on a systematic basis over their useful lives. In determining the estimated useful life 

over which the costs incurred for computer software are being amortised consideration was given to the 

effects of obsolescence, technology and other economic factors which may impact on useful life. In 

addition, impairment in the value of the cost of computer software can occur when: 

 computer software is not expected to provide substantive service potential; 

 a significant change occurs in the extent or manner in which the software is expected to be used; 
or 

 costs developing or acquiring the computer software significantly exceed the amount originally 

expected to develop or acquire the computer software. 

Our response: In this area our audit procedures included: 

 critically assessing the appropriateness of the estimated useful life over which the costs that have 

been capitalised are being amortised over;   

 considering whether there are any impairment factors that may impact on the value of the 
computer system; and 

 considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgments and degree of estimation 

involved in arriving at the accounting treatment of the new computer system. 
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NHS Income Recognition - £557 million (2014/15: £549 million)  

The risk level is → (consistent) year on year 

Refer to page 16 (accounting policy) and pages 26 to 27 (financial disclosures). 

The risk: The main source of income for the Trust is the provision of healthcare services to the public 

under contracts with NHS commissioners, which make up (79%) of income from activities. The Trust 

participates in the national Agreement of Balances (AoB) exercise for the purpose of ensuring that intra-

NHS balances are eliminated on the consolidation of the Department of Health’s resource accounts. The 

AoB exercise identifies mismatches between receivable and payable balances recognised by the Trust and 

its commissioners, which will be resolved after the date of approval of these financial statements.  For 

these financial statements the Trust identifies the specific cause, and accounts for the expected future 

resolution, of each individual difference.  Mis-matches can occur for a number of reasons, but the most 

significant arise where:  

 the Trust and commissioners record different accruals for completed periods of healthcare which have 

not yet been invoiced; 

 income relating to partially completed periods of healthcare is apportioned across the financial years 
and the commissioners and the Trust make different apportionment assumptions;  

 accruals for out-of-area treatments not covered by direct contracts with commissioners but 
authorised by, for example, GPs on behalf of commissioners, are not recognised by commissioners; 

or 

 there is a lack of agreement over proposed contract penalties for sub-standard performance.  

Where there is a lack of agreement, mis-matches can also be classified as formal disputes and referred to 
NHS England Area Teams for resolution. 

We do not consider NHS income to be at high risk of significant misstatement, or to be subject to a 
significant level of judgement. However, due to its materiality in the context of the financial statements 

as a whole NHS income is considered to be one of the areas which had the greatest effect on our overall 
audit strategy and allocation of resources in planning and completing our audit.  

Our response: Our methodology included: 

 Evaluating and testing the accounting policy for revenue recognition to ensure that it is consistent 
with the requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

 Testing the controls around authorisation of invoices; 

 For the commissioners’ revenue, obtaining and agreeing the revenue recognised to a signed 

contract and correspondence between the Trust and the commissioners.  

 Reviewing the output from the National Agreement of Balances (AoB) exercise and agreeing any 
material mis-matches to supporting evidence. 

 Reviewing invoices and credit notes raised around the year end date to ensure the recognition of 
income had occurred in the correct period. 
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4  Other significant matter – Going Concern 

The risk level is → (consistent) year on year 

An emphasis of matter regarding going concern is set out in section 2 above. 

Our procedures in respect of going concern included: 

 Reviewing the disclosures and representations made by the Trust in Note 1 of the financial 
statements; 

 Reviewing the Trust’s budget and plans for 2016/17 and future years; and 

 Considering the Treasury FReM and the guidance on interpretation of going concern in a public 

sector context and its application to the Trust. 

 We have also inspected correspondence between the Trust and the Department of Health and 
Monitor regarding the Trust’s financial position and financial support. 

5  Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 

The materiality for the financial statements was set at £7,000,000 (2014/15: £7,000,000), determined 

with reference to a benchmark of income from operations (of which it represents approximately 1% 

(2014/15: 1%). We consider income from operations to be more stable than a surplus-related 

benchmark. This is consistent with the prior year. 

We report to the Audit Committee any corrected and uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding 

£250,000 (2014/15: £250,000), in addition to other identified misstatements that warrant reporting on 

qualitative grounds. 

Our audit of the Trust was undertaken to the materiality level specified above and was all performed at 

the Trust’s offices at Addenbrookes’ Hospital, Cambridge. 

6 Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts is 

unmodified  

In our opinion:   

 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16; and 

 the information given in the Annual Report  for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

7 We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters on which we are required 

to report by exception   

Under ISAs (UK&I) we are required to report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired during our 

audit, we have identified other information in the Annual Report that contains a material inconsistency 

with either that knowledge or the financial statements, a material misstatement of fact, or that is 

otherwise misleading.  

In particular, we are required to report to you if:  

 we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit and 
the directors’ statement that they consider that the Annual Report and Accounts taken as a whole is 

fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators 
and other stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, business model and strategy; or 

 the Audit Committee Report does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the audit 
committee. 

Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if in our opinion: 

 the Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16, is misleading or is not consistent with our 



 

  

Page 7 

 
 
Accounts year ended 31 March 2016 
 

 

knowledge of the Trust and other information of which we are aware from our audit of the financial 
statements.  

In addition we are required to report to you if: 

 any reports to the regulator have been made under Schedule 10(6) of the National Health Service Act 

2006. 

 any matters have been reported in the public interest under Schedule 10(3) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the end of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities. 

8 Other matters on which we report by exception - adequacy of arrangements to secure 

value for money 

Under the Code of Audit practice we are required to report by exception if we conclude that we are not 

satisfied that the Trust put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in the use of 

resources for the relevant period. 

The Trust has been in breach of its licence with Monitor and in special measures since September 2015. 

On 21 September 2015 the Trust agreed an enforcement notice under section 106 of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012. Monitor raised concerns in the following areas: 

Quality and governance breaches 

 An inspection of the Trust by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in April 2015 rated the Trust as 
“inadequate”. In particular the CQC reported concerns over quality governance and disconnected 

governance arrangements meaning that important messages from clinical divisions were not 
highlighted at Board level. 

 A risk of a lack of sufficient management capacity to successfully deliver major projects that are 
currently being undertaken, whilst also addressing financial, quality and operational issues.  

Financial breaches 

 Deterioration of the Trust’s financial position verses the Trust’s annual plan and a Continuity of 
Service Risk Rating (CoSRR) of 1. 

 Forecast costs for the eHospital project increased substantially and there has been a material forecast 
reduction in the assumed benefits. 

 Concerns about the Trust’s handling of its finances and financial governance arrangements as 
highlighted in particular by the absence of a strategic financial recovery plan to return to a CoSRR of 
3 or greater. 

Target breaches 

 Failure to meet A&E four hour standard. 

 Failure to meet RTT incomplete targets. 

 Failure to meet the Cancer 62 day wait for first treatment (from urgent GP referral) target, the 

Cancer 31 day wait for second or subsequent treatment (surgery) target, the Cancer 31 day wait 
from diagnosis to first treatment target, and the Cancer 2 weeks (all cancers) target. 

 The implementation of the Trust’s eHospital project in October 2014 resulted in significant data 
accuracy and patient tracking problems, impacting on the achievement of targets. 

As a result of these matters, we are unable to satisfy ourselves that the Trust made proper arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 

2016. 
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Certificate of audit completion 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 

2006 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office. 

Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor 

As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities on page 2 the accounting 

officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 

comply with the UK Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland)   

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on our website at 

www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeother2014.  This report is made subject to important explanations 

regarding our responsibilities, as published on that website, which are incorporated into this report as if 

set out in full and should be read to provide an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we 

have undertaken and the basis of our opinions. 

Respective responsibilities of the Trust and auditor in respect of arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

The Trust is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review 

regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 

Under Section 62(1) and Schedule 10 paragraph 1(d), of the National Health Service Act 2006 we have a 

duty to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether all aspects of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources are operating effectively. 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 

use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 

guidance on the specified criterion issued by the C&AG, as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements 

to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable 

outcomes for taxpayers and local people.  The C&AG determined this criterion as necessary for us to 

consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 

ended 31 March 2016. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, 

the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources. 

  

http://www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeother2013
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with 

Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 

might state to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state to 

them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

 

 

Stephen Muncey for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor   

Chartered Accountants   

Botanic House, 100 Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 1AR 

25 May 2016 
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS  
 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (“the Trust”) acts as an acute hospital and the 
main teaching hospital for the University of Cambridge.  The Trust serves the local Cambridge area and 
also provides specialist services to the wider population throughout the East of England and beyond.  The 
Trust hosts a number of clinical networks and the Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre.   

 
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2016 have been prepared by Cambridge University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the NHS Act 2006 and 
are presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25 (4) (a) of the National Health Service 
Act 2006. 
 
Signed                     

 
 

 

Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive     
 
25 May 2016                                                               
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

Note Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities 2 580,443             579,341             

Other operating income 2 124,261             128,347             

Total operating income from continuing operations 704,704             707,688             

Operating expenses of continuing operations 3 (767,565)           (709,845)           

Operating (deficit) (62,861)             (2,157)               

Finance costs

Finance income 6 85                      139                    

Finance expense - financial liabilities 6 (8,606)               (8,088)               

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions 17 (96)                    (154)                  

Public Dividend Capital dividends payable (3,277)               (5,409)               

Net finance costs (11,894)             (13,512)             

Share of (loss) of joint ventures (9,576)               (1,220)               

(Deficit) from continuing operations (84,331)             (16,889)             

(Deficit) for the year (84,331)             (16,889)             

Other comprehensive (expenditure)/income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

Impairments 7 (53,513)             -                    

Revaluations -                    27,185               

Other reserve movements -                    125                    

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (137,844)           10,421               

Allocation of (losses) for the year:

(Deficit) for the year attributable to:
Government (84,331)             (16,889)             

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to:
Government (137,844)           10,421               

The (deficit) for the year of £84.331m includes an impairment of £6.988m in respect of revaluing the 

estate on a modern equivalent assets (alternative site) basis. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

Note 31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 8 32,296               32,303               

Property, plant and equipment 9 305,982             363,723             

Total non-current assets 338,278             396,026             

Current assets

Inventories 11 13,047               12,660               

Trade and other receivables 12 62,231               67,792               

Cash and cash equivalents 13 13,874               35,953               

Total current assets 89,152               116,405             

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 (104,260)           (99,474)             

Borrowings 15 (9,362)               (9,260)               

Provisions 17 (2,370)               (209)                  

Other liabilities 16 (25,695)             (24,142)             

Total current liabilities (141,687)           (133,085)           

Total assets less current liabilities 285,743             379,346             

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 15 (191,236)           (147,777)           

Provisions 17 (3,842)               (3,501)               

Total non-current liabilities (195,078)           (151,278)           

Total assets employed 90,665               228,068             

Taxpayers' equity

Public dividend capital 125,090             124,649             

Revaluation reserve 29,472               83,505               

Income and expenditure reserve (63,897)             19,789               

Non-controlling Interest -                    125                    

Total taxpayers' and others' equity 90,665               228,068             

 

The financial statements on pages 11 to 45 were approved by the Board on 25 May 2016 and signed on 

its behalf by:  

                  
 
 

 
 
 
 

Ms Jane Ramsey  Mr Roland Sinker   Mr Iain Alexander 

Chairman   Chief Executive   Interim Chief Financial Officer 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

Total

Non-controlling 

interest

Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 01 April 

2015              228,068 125                   124,649            83,505              19,789              

(Deficit) for the year              (84,331) -                    -                    -                    (84,331)             

Transfers between reserves                        -   (125)                  -                    -                    125                   

Transfers between reserves for the excess 

of current cost depreciation over historical 

cost depreciation                        -   -                    -                    (520)                  520                   

Impairments - property, plant and 

equipment              (53,513) -                    -                    (53,513)             -                    

Public dividend capital received                     441 -                    441                   -                    -                    
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 Mar 

2016                90,665 -                    125,090            29,472              (63,897)             

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Total

Non-controlling 

interest

Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 01 April 

2014              214,266 -                    121,268            56,585              36,413              

(Deficit) for the year              (16,889) -                    -                    -                    (16,889)             

Transfers between reserves for the excess 

of current cost depreciation over historical 

cost depreciation                        -   -                    -                    (265)                  265                   

Revaluations - property, plant and 

equipment                27,185 -                    -                    27,185              -                    

Public dividend capital received                  3,540 -                    3,540                -                    -                    

Public dividend capital repaid                   (159) -                    (159)                  -                    -                    

Equity Investment in joint arrangements                     125 125                   -                    -                    -                    
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 Mar 

2015 228,068            125                   124,649            83,505              19,789              
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating (deficit) from continuing operations               (62,861)                 (2,157)

Non-cash income and expense

Depreciation and amortisation                21,179                19,667 

Impairments                  6,988                        -   

(Gain)/loss on disposal                      (58)                     151 

Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and non-

cash)                 (1,659)                 (2,630)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables                  7,022                 (5,328)

(Increase) in inventories                    (387)                 (1,944)

Increase in trade and other payables                  4,871                  2,336 

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities                  1,553                     752 

Increase in provisions                  2,406                     980 

Other movements in operating cash flows                 (9,576)                 (1,095)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operations               (30,522)                10,732 

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received                       85                     139 

Purchase of intangible assets                 (2,980)               (20,893)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment 

property               (20,989)               (14,976)

Sales of property, plant and equipment and investment property                     377                     147 

Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets                  1,659                  2,630 

Net cash (used in) investing activities               (21,848)               (32,953)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received                     441                  3,540 

Public dividend capital repaid                        -                      (159)

Loans received from the Department of Health                52,822                10,000 

Loans repaid to the Department of Health                 (7,399)                 (3,548)

Capital element of PFI, LIFT and other service concession payments                 (1,862)                 (1,865)

Interest paid                 (4,231)                 (3,599)

Interest element of PFI, LIFT and other service concession 

obligations                 (4,421)                 (4,489)

PDC dividend paid                 (5,059)                 (4,043)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities                30,291                 (4,163)

(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents               (22,079)               (26,384)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April                35,953                62,337 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March                13,874                35,953 

 

The Foundation Trust held £6k cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2016 (year ended 31 March 2015, 
£5k) which relates to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from the 

cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  

IFRS Accounting Policies 

1 Accounting policies and other information  

Monitor is responsible for issuing an accounts direction to NHS foundation trusts under the NHS Act 2006. 

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting 

requirements of the FT ARM which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State. Consequently, the 

following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the FT ARM 2015/16 issued by 

Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow IFRS and HM Treasury’s FReM to the 

extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have 

been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.  

1.1 Accounting convention  

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 

revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets 

and financial liabilities.   

1.2 Going concern 

The Trust is expecting to incur a deficit during the next 12 months and as a result will require significant 

additional cash funding from the Department of Health.  NHS Improvement is expected to assess the 

Trust’s Annual Plan for 2016/17 and confirm the level of cash support (both capital and revenue) that will 

be available to the Trust for the year.  To enable the continuation of services, the Trust has agreed an 

interim working capital facility from the Department of Health which enables the Trust to draw funds of 

up to £76.5 million to support the on-going delivery of services. 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires management to assess, as part of the accounts 

preparation process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements should be 

prepared on a going concern basis unless management intends, or has no alternative but, to apply to the 

Secretary of State for the Trust’s dissolution without the transfer of its services to another entity. 

Financial position: 

· The Trust recorded a financial deficit of £84.3 million for the 2015/16 financial year. 

· The Trust drew down £52.8 million of working capital funding from the Department of Health 

during 2015/16. This funding ensured that the Trust could continue to meet its liabilities during 

2015/16 as they fell due.  

· The Trust’s Annual Plan for 2016/17 indicates a deficit of £74 million, delivery of efficiency 

savings of £49 million and cash flow support of £102 million. 

· The balance of the Trust’s undrawn working capital facility is £23.7million, which will be 

sufficient to cover its cash flow support requirements during the first quarter of 2016/17. 

· Contracts with Commissioners have been signed which give a level of assurance for the 

expectation of continued service delivery and appropriate cash flows for the Trust during 

2016/17. 

· The Trust is breaching its licence and remains in ‘special measures’. 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s Board of Directors has carefully considered the 

principle of ‘Going Concern’ and the Directors are cognisant that the combination of circumstances 

outlined above would normally represent a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt upon the 

organisation’s ability to continue as a going concern.  However, after making enquiries, and considering 

the uncertainties described in the preceding paragraphs, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that 

the Trust will have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 

1.3 Joint operation 

Joint operations are arrangements in which the Trust has joint control with one or more other parties and 

has the rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Trust 
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includes within its financial statements its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Where the 

joint arrangement is loss making the investment in the partnership is impaired to zero by the losses 

made, and remaining losses are recognised as a provision due to the constructive obligation. 

1.4 Income  

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs. It 

is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is 

contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.   

Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year end is apportioned across the 

financial years on the basis of the number of occupied bed days and an average cost per bed day.   

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 

deferred. 

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of 

treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an 

insurer.  The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and 

Pensions’ Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income 

is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for 

unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts. 

1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services 

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received. 

It is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating 

expenses except where it results in the creation of a non current asset such as property, plant and 

equipment. 

 
1.6 Expenditure on employee benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefits 
 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to 
carry forward leave into the following period. 
 

Pension costs - NHS Pension Scheme 
 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is 
an unfunded defined benefit scheme (which prepares its own scheme statements) that covers NHS 
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in 

England and Wales. As a consequence, it is not possible for the Trust to identify its share of the 
underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. 

 
Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.  
 
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirement are not funded by the scheme except where the 
retirement is due to ill health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged at the 
time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

 
1.7 Research and development 
  
Expenditure on research is not capitalised and is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
it is incurred. The Trust currently has no development expenditure.   
 
To the extent that income and expenditure is netted off as part of research grant accounting, amounts 

are grossed up within the Statement of Comprehensive Income to reflect the gross value of expenditure 
on research activity.   
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1.8 Property, plant and equipment 
 

Recognition  

 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 
 
 it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
 it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the 

Trust; 
 it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and 
 the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different 
asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful 
economic lives. 

 

Valuation 

 
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost; representing the cost directly attributable 
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.   
 
All assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 

 
Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the 
Statement of Financial Position at their revalued amounts; being the fair value at the date of revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts are not materially different from those that 
would be determined at the Statement of Financial Position date.   

 
 
Fair values determination 

 
Land and non specialised buildings are valued on the modern equivalent asset (alternative site) basis. 
 
Specialised buildings are valued at depreciated replacement cost 

 
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified District Valuers in accordance with the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The land and buildings valuation 
was undertaken as at the prospective valuation date of 31 March 2016, applying the modern equivalent 
assets valuation (alternative site) basis which is consistent with IAS (International Accounting Standard) 
16. 
 

Revaluation 
 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they 
reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case 

they are recognised in operating income. 
 
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance 

for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 
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Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Subsequent expenditure 
 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly 
attributable costs are added to the asset’s carrying value.  Where subsequent expenditure restores the 
asset to its original specification assumed by its useful economic life, the expenditure is charged to 

operating expenses. 
 
Depreciation and amortisation  
 
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. Properties under construction 
that are not yet being used are not depreciated. 
 

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged on a straight line basis to write off the costs or 
valuation of tangible and intangible non current assets, over their current estimated useful economic lives 
in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.  The estimated 

useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes being 
recognised on a prospective basis. 
 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether there is any indication that any of 

its tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.   
 
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their fair value over the estimated remaining life of 
the asset as assessed by professional valuers.  
 
Equipment is depreciated over the following estimated lives: 

Asset category   Estimated life in years 
Plant, machinery & vehicles  5 - 15 
Information technology   5 - 8 

Furniture & fittings   7 - 10 
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Impairments 

In accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, impairments that arise from a 

clear consumption of economic benefits or of service potential in the asset are charged to operating 
expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure 
reserve of an amount equal to the lower of  

(i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and  
(ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment. 

 

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is 
reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals 
are recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it 
would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the 
revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the 
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.  

 
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 

revaluation gains. 
 
Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses as they are incurred. 

1.9 Intangible assets 

 
Recognition 
 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  
They are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service 

potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

 
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as 
part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.  Software that is not integral to the operation 
of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.   
 
Expenditure on research is not capitalised, it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which 

it is incurred.  
 
Intangible assets are amortised over the following estimated lives: 

Asset category   Estimated life in years 
Purchased computer software  2 – 12 
 
Measurement 

 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to 
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. 
 
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market 

exists, intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use 
where the asset is income generating. Revaluation gains and losses and impairments are treated in the 
same manner as for property, plant and equipment. 
 
Amortisation 
 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 

consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.  
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1.10 Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets 
 

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. 

The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that 
future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, 
in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial 
years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met. 
 

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as the other 
items of property, plant and equipment. 
 
1.11 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions 
 
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM 
Treasury’s FReM (Financial Reporting Manual), are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ 

by the Trust. In accordance with IAS 17, the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and 
equipment at their fair value together with an equivalent finance lease liability.  Subsequently, the assets 
are accounted for as property, plant and equipment. 

 
The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, the finance cost 
and the charges for services.  
 

The finance cost is allocated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme. The service charge is 
recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
1.12 Leases 
 

The Trust as lessee 
 
Operating lease rentals are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
 

The Trust as lessor 
 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
Leased land 
 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component 
and the classification for each assessed separately.  
 

Operating leases 
 
Other leases are recognised as operating leases and the rentals are charged to the operating expenses on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the 
lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease. 

 

1.13 Inventories 
 
Inventories comprise mainly consumable medical products.  
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The weighted average cost formula is 
used for drugs and the first in first out cost formula for all other inventories. This is considered to be a 
reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks. 

 
1.14 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash comprises cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution, repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours.   
 
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.   
 
1.15 Financial assets & liabilities 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial 
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items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, i.e., 

when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.  

 
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases 
are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases. 
 
Regular purchases or sales are recognised and de-recognised, as applicable, using the trade/settlement 

date. 
  
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
  
De-recognition  
 

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired 
or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.  
 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.  
 
Classification and measurement  
 

Financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. 
 
1.16 Liquidity risk 
 

The Trust’s net operating costs are mainly incurred under legally binding contracts with local CCGs, which 
are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  Under Payment by Results, the Trust is paid 
for activity on the basis of nationally set tariffs, which significantly reduces the Trust’s liquidity risk. 
 
The Trust finances its capital programme through internally generated resources and external borrowing. 

 
1.17 Market risk 

 
Interest rate risk   
 
All of the Trust's financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest.  In addition, the only elements of 
the Trust's assets that are subject to a variable rate are short term cash investments.  The Trust is not, 
therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.   
 

Foreign currency risk  
 
The Trust has minimal foreign currency income or expenditure.  
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Credit risk  
 

The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income from other 

NHS organisations.  There is therefore little risk that one party will fail to discharge its obligation with the 
other.  Disputes can arise, however, around how the amounts owed are calculated, particularly due to the 
complex nature of the Payment by Results regime.  The Trust does not hold any collateral as security.  
 
1.18 Third party assets 

 
Assets belonging to third parties, such as money held on behalf of patients, are not recognised in the 
accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them.   
 
 
1.19 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend 
 

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment of the original NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is 
not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

 
A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is paid over to the Department of 
Health as Public Dividend Capital dividend.  The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury 
(currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust.  Relevant net assets are calculated as 

the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for  
(i) donated assets,  
(ii) average daily balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash 

balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and  
(iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.   
 

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the 
dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” 
version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net 
assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual accounts. 
 

Public Dividend Capital is also available to finance capital expenditure on schemes supported by the 
Department of Health’s central budget. 

 
1.20 Value Added Tax 
 
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply 
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non current assets. Where output tax is charged 
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 
1.21 Corporation Tax  

The Trust does not have a corporation tax liability for the year ended 31 March 2016.  

1.22 Contingent assets and liabilities 

 
The Trust had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2016.  
 
Contingent assets are assets arising from past events, whose existence will only be confirmed by one or 
more future event not wholly within the Trust’s control.  These are disclosed where an inflow of economic 
benefit is possible. 
 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Trust’s control; or 
present obligations arising from past events, but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will occur or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.   
 
1.23 Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
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The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the Statement of Financial Position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are 

discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 1.3% (2014/15:1.8%) in real terms. 
 
Clinical negligence costs 
 
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an 

annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution 
is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Although the NHSLA is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust.  
 
The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is £214.9m 
(year ended 31 March 2015, £102.4m).  No contingencies or provisions are in the accounts at 31 March 
2016 in relation to these cases, even though the legal liability for them remains with the Trust. 

 
Non-Clinical risk pooling 
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both 

are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and in return 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions and any 
‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability 
arises.  

 
1.24 Losses and special payments  
 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed 
funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not 
arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. 

They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses 
and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals 
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the NHS 
Foundation Trust not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal 
revenue expenditure).  

 
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations 

register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.  
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1.25 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted   
 

The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued by the IASB but 

are not yet required to be adopted.  
 
Change published  Published by IASB  Financial year for 

which the change first 
applies  

IFRS 11 (amendment) – 
acquisition of an interest 
in a joint operation  

May 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IAS 16 (amendment) and 
IAS 38 (amendment) – 
depreciation and 
amortisation  

May 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IAS 16 (amendment) and 
IAS 41 (amendment) – 
bearer plants  

June 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IAS 27 (amendment) – 
equity method in separate 
financial statements  

August 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IFRS 10 (amendment) 

and IAS 28 (amendment) 
– sale or contribution of 
assets  

September 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 

Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IFRS 10 (amendment) 
and IAS 28 (amendment) 
– investment entities 

applying the consolidation 
exception  

December 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IAS 1 (amendment) – 
disclosure initiative  

December 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2016/17.  

IFRS 15 Revenue from 
contracts with customers  

May 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 

from 2017/18.  
Annual improvements to 
IFRS: 2012-15 cycle  

September 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2017/18.  

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments  

July 2014  Not yet EU adopted. 
Expected to be effective 
from 2018/19.  

 
 
The Trust has not adopted any new accounting standards, amendments or interpretations early. 

1.26 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources.  The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
relevant factors.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.  Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are continually reviewed and revisions are reflected in the relevant accounting periods. 

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 

Management have made the following critical judgements in applying the Trust’s accounting policies.  

The most significant estimate within the account is the value of land and buildings.  The land and 
buildings have been valued by the District Valuer on a modern equivalent asset (alternative site) basis as 
at 31 March 2016.  The District Valuer is independent of the Trust and is certified by the Royal Institute 

of Chartered surveyors. The valuer has extensive knowledge of the physical estate and market factors.  
The value does not take into account potential future changes in market value which cannot be predicted 
with any certainty. 
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The Trusts PFI scheme has been assessed and recognised on the Statement of Financial Position under 
IFRIC 12.  The PFI scheme has been valued by the District Valuer on a modern equivalent asset 

(alternative site) basis as at 31 March 2016.  The £9.0m unitary charge is based on actual charges made 

by the PFI provider. The Department of Health model has been used to determine the apportionment 
between the repayment of the liability, financing costs, the charges for services and lifecycle 
maintenance. 

In order to report within the government guidelines, the value of patient care activity for the year ended 
31 March has been estimated based on data available as at 1 April 2016. 

Income for an inpatient stay can be recognised from the day of admission, but cannot be precisely 
calculated until after the patient is discharged.  For patients occupying beds as at 31 March 2016, the 
estimated income from partially completed patient spells was £6.0m (year ended 31 March 2015, 
£6.0m). 

The Trust has a financial liability for any annual leave earned by staff but not taken by 31 March 2016, to 
the extent that staff are permitted to carry leave forward in to the next financial year.  The estimated 
cost of untaken annual leave as at 31 March 2016 was £1.3m (year ended 31 March 2015, £1.2m). 

Assumptions around the timing of cash flows relating to provisions are based on information from the 
NHS Pensions Agency, expert legal opinion within the Trust and external advisors, regarding when the 
legal issue may be settled. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Estimations as to the recoverability of receivables and the valuation of inventories have been made in 
determining the carrying amounts of these assets.  No significant variations are expected. 

No key assumptions concerning the future have been required and there are no key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the financial year end.  There is no significant risk of a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
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2. Operating income 
 

IFRS 8 requires the disclosure of results of significant operating segments; the Trust considers that it 

only has one operating segment, healthcare. 
 

2.1 Operating Income (by nature)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Income from activities £000 £000

Acute services

Elective income 183,800             123,452             

Non elective income 118,930             111,191             

Outpatient income 125,820             117,919             

A & E income 12,934               12,821               

Other NHS clinical income 130,170             206,001             

Private patient income 5,884                 5,100                 

Other clinical income 2,905                 2,857                 

Total income from activities 580,443             579,341             

Total other operating income [from 2.2 Op Inc (source)] 124,261             128,347             

Total operating income 704,704             707,688             

2.2 Operating Income (by source)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Total Total 

Income from activities £000 £000

NHS Foundation Trusts 2,716                 2,552                 

NHS Trusts 2,093                 3,003                 

CCGs and NHS England 553,614             549,321             

Local authorities 64                      906                    

Department of Health - other 6,000                 6,000                 

NHS other 3,493                 4,527                 

Non NHS: Private patients 5,225                 5,099                 

Non-NHS: Overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 758                    623                    

NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 2,303                 2,234                 

Non NHS: Other   4,177                 5,076                 
Total income from activities related to continuing operations 580,443             579,341             

Other operating income

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Other operating income

Research and development 44,049               48,709               

Education and training 34,289               33,170               

Received from NHS charities: Cash donations / grants for the 

purchase of capital assets 1,659                 1,178                 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 10,129               10,627               

Other * 33,958               32,488               

Profit on disposal of land and buildings 100                    -                    

Profit on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 77                      -                    

Income in respect of staff costs where accounted on gross basis   -                    2,175                 

Total other operating income related to continuing operations 124,261             128,347             

Total operating income 704,704             707,688             
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* Analysis of other operating income: Other

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Car parking 1,222                 1,616                 

Estates recharges 5,395                 6,354                 

Pharmacy sales 159                    88                      

Staff accommodation rentals 975                    913                    

Clinical tests 496                    6,602                 

Catering 2,361                 2,214                 

Grossing up consortium arrangements 4,959                 4,107                 

Other 18,391               10,594               

Total 33,958               32,488               

Note 2.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the foundation trust)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Income recognised this year 758                    623                    

Cash payments received in-year (relating to invoices raised in 

current and previous years) 320                    245                    

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (relating 

to invoices raised in current and prior years) 32                      334                    

Amounts written off in-year (relating to invoices raised in current 

and previous years) 599                    247                    
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3.1 Operating expenses (by type)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Employee expenses - staff 397,095             377,533             

Employee expenses - executive directors 1,562                 1,177                 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 73                      85                      

Drugs Inventories consumed 100,131             81,269               

Inventories consumed (excluding drugs) 59,519               60,716               

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 70,389               66,202               

Supplies and services - general 23,112               19,918               

Premises - other 40,081               40,657               

Premises - business rates payable to local authorities 2,823                 2,544                 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 18,075               18,862               

Amortisation on intangible assets 3,104                 805                    

Impairments of property, plant and equipment 6,988                 -                    

Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments 7,365                 6,101                 

Clinical negligence - amounts payable to the NHSLA (premiums) 11,229               7,659                 

Grossing up consortium arrangements 4,959                 4,107                 

Establishment 3,175                 4,828                 

Patient travel 3,810                 3,932                 

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 2,104                 2,881                 

Car parking & security 1,600                 1,738                 

Transport (business travel only) 1,086                 1,083                 

Training, courses and conferences 1,063                 1,036                 

Research and development - (not included in employee expenses) 668                    463                    

Insurance 520                    335                    

Transport (other) 309                    600                    

Legal fees 506                    55                      

Consultancy costs 4,185                 1,054                 

Audit services - statutory audit 82                      82                      

Hospitality 123                    170                    

Losses, ex gratia & special payments- (not included in employee 

expenses) 218                    186                    

Increase in other provisions 500                    1,153                 

Change in provisions discount rate(s) (16)                    (154)                  

Other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) 230                    146                    

Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 119                    151                    

Internal audit costs  - (not included in employee expenses) 100                    100                    

Redundancy - (not included in employee expenses) 634                    118                    

Early retirements - (not included in employee expenses) 381                    514                    

Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables (546)                  437                    

Other operating expenses 209                    1,302                 

767,565             709,845             

 
Grossing up of research and consortium arrangements; these arrangements exist where the Trust 
receives ring fenced funding for research and development, or external funding for hosted consortia 
arrangements.  In these situations income is often received in advance of expenditure being incurred.  At 
year end unspent costs are accrued so that expenditure matches income for the year.   
 

The analysis of operating expenses for the year ended 31 March 2016 provides a greater level of details 
than in previous years.  The operating expenses for the year ended 31 March 2015 have been presented 
in the same format. 
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4. Staff

4.1 Employee Expenses

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Permanently employed

Salaries and wages 317,466             299,296             

Social security costs 25,575               25,489               

Pension cost - defined contribution plans employer's contributions 

to NHS pensions 35,423               35,089               

Other

Agency/contract staff 20,193               18,836               

Total staff costs 398,657             378,710             

 

4.2 Average number of employees (WTE basis)

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16

Total Permanent Other

Number Number Number

Medical and dental 1,281                1,237                44                     

Administration and estates 1,763                1,594                169                   

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 252                   252                   -                    

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 3,614                3,614                -                    

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 1,066                1,065                1                       

Agency and contract staff 519                   -                    519                   

Other 105                   105                   -                    

Total average numbers 8,600                7,867                733                   

2014/15 2014/15 2014/15

Total Permanent Other

Number Number Number

Medical and dental 1,259                1,191                68                     

Administration and estates 1,746                1,535                211                   

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 211                   211                   -                    

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 3,439                3,439                -                    

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 1,036                1,034                2                       

Agency and contract staff 472                   -                    472                   

Other 115                   115                   -                    

Total average numbers 8,278                7,525                753                   

Note 4.3 Early retirements due to ill health

2015/16 2014/15

Number Number 

Number of early retirements on the grounds of ill-health 5 9

£000 £000

Value of early retirements on the grounds of ill-health 381 514

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Other non-pay expenditure 
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Note 5.1 Analysis of operating lease expenditure

2015/16 2015/16 2015/16

Total Buildings

Plant & 

machinery

£000 £000 £000 

Minimum lease payments 7,365                 1,901                 5,464                 

2014/15 2014/15 2014/15

Total Buildings

Plant & 

machinery

£000 £000 £000 

Minimum lease payments 6,101                 919                    5,182                 

Note 5.2 Analysis of operating lease expenditure

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000 

On buildings leases expiring:

- not later than one year; 824                    782                    

- later than one year and not later than five 

years; 3,065                 2,940                 

- later than five years. 5,810                 6,427                 

Total 9,699                 10,149               

On plant and machinery leases expiring:

- not later than one year; 4,710                 4,154                 

- later than one year and not later than five 

years; 11,849               12,197               

- later than five years. 1,436                 2,369                 

Total 17,995               18,720               

Total 27,694               28,869               

Note 5.3 Limitation on auditor's liability

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000 

Limitation on auditor's liability 1,000                 1,000                 

The engagement letter states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and staff (whether in 
contract, negligence or otherwise) in respect of services provided in connection with or arising out of the 
audit shall in no circumstances exceed £1million in the aggregate in respect of all such services. 
 

Note 5.4 Other audit remuneration

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor is analysed as follows:

Taxation compliance services 230 146                    

The majority of tax fees take the form of a ‘gain share’ arrangement where the financial benefit to the 
Trust significantly exceeds the fees paid. 
6. Finance income and expense

6.1 Finance revenue

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Interest on bank accounts 85                      139                    
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6.2 Finance expenses

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Interest expense

Capital loans from the Department of Health 3,622                 3,599                 

Working capital loans from the Department of Health 563                    -                    

Finance costs on PFI and other service concession arrangements (excluding LIFT)

Main finance costs 2,891                 2,990                 

Contingent finance costs 1,530                 1,499                 

Total interest expense 8,606                 8,088                 

 

7. Impairments

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000

Impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit:

Change in valuation basis 6,988                 -                     

Total Impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit 6,988                 -                     

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve 53,513               -                     

Total impairments 60,501               -                     

All impairments result from changing the basis of the Land & buildings valuation to a Modern Equivalent 

Asset (alternative site) basis, the previous valuation was based on a Modern Equivalent Asset (no 

alternative site) basis.  To the extent the impairment loss exceeds the revaluation reserve balance, the 

remaining loss has been recognised as an expense.  This change in valuation basis, whilst a technical 

paper-based exercise and common throughout the NHS provider sector, has the effect of reducing annual 

Public Dividend Capital dividend payments to the Department of Health and therefore maximises the 

Trust’s resources that are available for patient care. 
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8. Intangible assets

8.1  Intangible assets - 2015/16

Total

Software  

licences

(purchased)

£000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2015 36,228               36,228              

Additions - purchased 3,097                 3,097                

Disposals (263)                  (263)                  

Gross cost at 31 March 2016 39,062               39,062              

Amortisation at 1 April 2015 3,925                 3,925                

Provided during the year 3,104                 3,104                

Disposals (263)                  (263)                  

Amortisation at 31 March 2016 6,766                 6,766                

NBV total at 31 March 2016 32,296               32,296              

8.2  Intangible assets - 2014/15

Total

Software  

licences

(purchased)

Intangible 

assets under 

construction

£000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2014 15,546               3,733                 11,813              

Additions - purchased 20,916               1,462                 19,454              

Reclassifications -                    31,267               (31,267)             

Disposals (234)                  (234)                  -                    

Gross cost at 31 March 2015 36,228               36,228               -                    

Amortisation at 1 April 2014 3,354                 3,354                 -                    

Provided during the year 805                    805                    -                    

Disposals (234)                  (234)                  -                    

Amortisation at 31 March 2015 3,925                 3,925                 -                    

NBV total at 31 March 2015 32,303               32,303               -                    

Intangible assets represent a vision to create a comprehensive electronic patient record which we have 

called e-Hospital.   
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9. Property, plant and equipment 

9.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2015/16

Total Land Buildings PFI asset

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture 

& fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost or valuation

At 1 April 2015 447,651   70,355   202,896  62,493     2,281            80,445       46              21,035          8,100        

Additions - purchased 19,495     -         12,234    688          1,963            3,539         -             940               131           

Additions - assets 

purchased from cash 

donations 1,659       -         559         -           1,100            -             -             -                -            

Impairments charged to 

operating expenses (16,932)    -         (15,870)   (1,062)      -                -             -             -                -            

Impairments charged to 

the revaluation reserve (53,513)    (34,955)  (10,378)   (8,180)      -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (7,852)      (200)       -          -           -                (6,118)        -             (1,440)           (94)            

At 31 March 2016 390,508   35,200   189,441  53,939     5,344            77,866       46              20,535          8,137        

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 83,928     -         6,172      -           -                55,875       36              16,490          5,355        

Provided during the year 18,075     -         9,722      1,077       -                5,063         2                1,486            725           

Impairments charged to 

operating expenses (9,944)      -         (8,867)     (1,077)      -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (7,533)      -         -          -           -                (5,999)        -             (1,440)           (94)            

At 31 March 2016 84,526     -         7,027      -           -                54,939       38              16,536          5,986        

Net book value at 31 March 2016

Owned 235,993   35,200   168,281  -           4,244            22,245       8                3,988            2,027        

On-SoFP PFI contracts 53,939     -         -          53,939     -                -             -             -                -            

Government granted 62            -         -          -           -                58              -             -                4               

Donated 15,988     -         14,133    -           1,100            624            -             11                 120           
At 31 March 2016 305,982   35,200   182,414  53,939     5,344            22,927       8                3,999            2,151        

 
 
No assets were held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts, with the exception of the PFI asset, which is financed by a PFI contract recognised on the 

Statement of Financial Position.  
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9.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2014/15

Total Land Buildings PFI asset

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture 

& fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost or valuation

At 1 April 2014 453,099   62,248   219,503  60,607     624               80,792       46              21,174          8,105        

Additions - purchased 12,185     -         7,741      582          1,635            2,098         -             -                129           

Additions - assets 

purchased from cash 

donations 2,630       -         2,619      -           -                -             -             -                11             

Reclassifications -           -         4             -           22                 77              -             (80)                (23)            

Revaluations (17,560)    8,107     (26,971)   1,304       -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (2,703)      -         -          -           -                (2,522)        -             (59)                (122)          

At 31 March 2015 447,651   70,355   202,896  62,493     2,281            80,445       46              21,035          8,100        

Depreciation

At 1 April 2014 112,216   -         33,908    5,599       -                53,006       31              14,947          4,725        

Provided during the year 18,862     -         9,990      1,420       -                5,093         5                1,602            752           

Revaluations (44,745)    -         (37,726)   (7,019)      -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (2,405)      -         -          -           -                (2,224)        -             (59)                (122)          

At 31 March 2015 83,928     -         6,172      -           -                55,875       36              16,490          5,355        

Net book value at 31 March 2015

Owned 285,171   70,355   181,784  -           2,281            23,623       10              4,529            2,589        

On-SoFP PFI contracts 62,493     -         -          62,493     -                -             -             -                -            

Government granted 74            -         -          -           -                66              -             -                8               

Donated 15,985     -         14,940    -           -                881            -             16                 148           
At 31 March 2015 363,723   70,355   196,724  62,493     2,281            24,570       10              4,545            2,745        
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10. Investments 

10.1 Investments - 2015/16

Investments in 

associates and 

joint ventures

£000

Carrying value at 01 April 2015 -                     

Share of profit/(loss) -                     

Carrying value at 31 March 2016 -                     

10.2 Investments - 2014/15

Investments in 

associates and 

joint ventures

£000

Carrying value at 01 April 2014 -                     

Equity investment 125                    

Share of (loss) (125)                   

Carrying value at 31 March 2015 -                     

 
This investment relates to The Pathology Partnership and The Uniting Care Partnership Llp.  

 
The Pathology Partnership is a joint venture between CUH and five other NHS Trusts in the East of 

England aimed at transforming and modernising pathology services for hospitals and GP practices, 

initially across Cambridgeshire, Suffolk, Essex and Hertfordshire.  

The Uniting Care Partnership Llp is a joint venture owned by CUH and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

NHS Foundation Trust in equal shares. It was established to commission healthcare for over 65 year olds 

and community adult care services in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  The Uniting Care Partnership 

Llp ceased trading in December 2015.  

In initial set-up periods both ventures are loss making, thus in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards 28 & 39 we have impaired the investment in the partnership to zero by the losses made, and 
recognised the remaining loss as a provision due to the constructive obligation. 
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11. Inventory

11.1 Inventory movements - 2015/16

Total Drugs Consumables Energy

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying value

At 1 April 2015 12,660               3,469                 9,070                 121                    

Additions 160,144             99,824               60,178               142                    

Inventories consumed 

(recognised in expenses) (159,757)            (100,131)            (59,519)              (107)                   

At 31 March 2016 13,047               3,162                 9,729                 156                    

Note 11.2 Inventory movements - 2014/15

Total Drugs Consumables Energy

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying value

At 1 April 2014 10,716               1,991                 8,487                 238                    

Additions 144,179             82,747               61,299               133                    

Inventories consumed 

(recognised in expenses) (142,235)            (81,269)              (60,716)              (250)                   

At 31 March 2015 12,660               3,469                 9,070                 121                    

 
12.1 Trade receivables and other receivables

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

NHS receivables - revenue 21,566               15,834               

Other receivables with related parties - revenue 6,397                 6,108                 

Provision for impaired receivables (3,342)               (4,521)               

Prepayments (non-PFI) 8,232                 8,265                 

Accrued income 17,015               21,590               

PDC dividend receivable 1,461                 -                    

VAT receivable 1,274                 2,427                 

Other receivables - revenue 9,628                 18,089               

Total current trade and other receivables 62,231               67,792               

12.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000

At 1 April  4,521                 4,380                 

Increase in provision 1,076                 2,643                 

Amounts utilised (633)                  (296)                  

Unused amounts reversed (1,622)               (2,206)               

At 31 March 3,342                 4,521                 

12.3 Analysis of impaired receivables

Year ended Year ended

 31 Mar 2016  31 Mar 2015 

£000 £000

Ageing of impaired receivables trade receivables

0 - 30 days -                    -                    

30-60 Days -                    -                    

60-90 days -                    -                    

90- 180 days -                    -                    

over 180 days 3,342                 4,521                 

Total 3,342                 4,521                 
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 31 Mar 2016  31 Mar 2015 

£000 £000

Ageing of non-impaired trade receivables past their due date

0 - 30 days 6,711                 14,329               

30-60 Days 7,589                 3,535                 

60-90 days 3,847                 5,228                 

90- 180 days 5,846                 3,131                 

over 180 days 3,618                 2,539                 

Total 27,611               28,762               

There are no non-impaired receivables over 1 year. 

Year ended Year ended

 31 Mar 2016  31 Mar 2015 

£000 £000

Ageing of non-impaired other trade receivables past their due date

0 - 30 days 37,962               43,551               

30-60 Days -                    -                    

60-90 days -                    -                    

90- 180 days (was "In three to six months") -                    -                    

over 180 days (was "Over six months") -                    -                    

Total 37,962               43,551               

NHS receivables are considered recoverable because the majority of trade is with Clinical Commissioning 

Groups (CCGs), as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs are funded by the government 

to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.  Similarly other 

receivables with related parties are with other government bodies, so no credit scoring of them is 

considered necessary.  

Prepayments and accrued income are neither past their due date nor impaired. 

Other trade receivables become due immediately as we offer no credit terms.  

The Trust recognises impairment losses on other trade receivables when there is a breach of contract. 

This is deemed to have occurred if the outstanding receivable has not been settled within 1 year or more 

of the invoice date or if a medical insurance company has underpaid. 
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13. Cash and cash equivalents

13.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000

At 1 April 35,953               62,337               

Net change in year (22,079)             (26,384)             

At 31 March 13,874               35,953               

13.2 Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents balance at period end is broken down into:

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 651                    1,031                 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 13,223               34,922               

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 13,874               35,953               

14.1 Trade and other payables

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Total Total 

£000 £000

Current 

NHS payables - revenue 2,175                 1,956                 

Amounts due to other related parties - revenue 2,108                 17                      

Other trade payables - capital (including capital accruals) 1,021                 739                    

Other trade payables - revenue 23,682               16,994               

Social security costs 7,781                 8,005                 

Other payables 369                    1,005                 

Accruals 67,124               70,437               

PDC dividend payable -                    321                    

Total current trade and other payables 104,260             99,474               

14.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£000 £000 
- to buy out the liability for early retirements over 5 years 381                    514                    

Number Number 

- number of cases involved 5                        9                        

 This information has been supplied by NHS Pensions. 
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15. Borrowings

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Current 

Capital loans from Department of Health 7,398                 7,398                 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts 

(excl. lifecycle) 1,964                 1,862                 

Total current borrowings 9,362                 9,260                 

Non-current

Capital loans from Department of Health 87,237               94,636               

Working capital loans from Department of Health 52,822               -                     

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts 51,177               53,141               

Total non current borrowings 191,236             147,777             

16. Other Liabilities

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Total Total 

£000 £000

Deferred income - goods and services 20,449               19,036               

Pension scheme liability 5,246                 5,106                 

25,695               24,142               

17.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Year ended Year ended

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£000 £000

Current

Pensions relating to other staff 166                    162                    

Legal claims 54                      47                      

Other 2,150                 -                    

2,370                 209                    

Non-current

Pensions relating to other staff 2,280                 2,369                 

Legal claims 59                      37                      

Other 1,503                 1,095                 

3,842                 3,501                 

Total provisions 6,212                 3,710                 

The provision for pension costs relates to additional pension liabilities arising from early 

retirements.  Unless due to ill health these are not funded by the NHS Pension Scheme.  The full amount 

of such liabilities is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income at the time the Trust commits 

itself to the retirement. 

Other provisions include joint arrangements in The Pathology Partnership and the Uniting Care 

Partnership. The joint arrangements are loss making so the investments in the partnerships are impaired 

to zero by the losses made, and remaining losses are recognised as a provision due to the constructive 

obligation. 
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17.2 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis

 Total 

 Pensions 

relating to other 

staff  Legal claims  Other  

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2015 3,710                 2,531                 84                      1,095                 

Change in the discount rate (16)                    (16)                    -                    -                    

Arising during the year 10,208               -                    132                    10,076               

Utilised during the year - accruals -                    -                    -                    -                    

Utilised during the year - cash (7,715)               (165)                  (32)                    (7,518)               

Reversed unused (71)                    -                    (71)                    -                    

Unwinding of discount 96                      96                      -                    -                    
At 31 March 2016 6,212                 2,446                 113 3,653                 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

In one year or less 2,370                 166                    54                      2,150                 

In more than one year but not more than two years 206                    147                    59                      -                    

In more than two years but not more than five years 428                    428                    -                    -                    

In more than five years 3,208                 1,705                 -                    1,503                 

6,212                 2,446                 113                    3,653                 
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17.3 Clinical negligence liabilities

Year ended Year ended

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£000 £000

Amount included in provisions of the NHSLA in respect of clinical 

negligence liabilities of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 214,878             102,389             

 

18. Related party transactions 

The Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health. 

Government Departments and their agencies are considered by HM Treasury as being related parties. 

During the year the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with other NHS bodies. 
 
In addition, the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions in the ordinary course of its 

business with other Government Departments and other central and local Government bodies.  Most of 
these transactions have been with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs in respect of deduction and 
payment of PAYE, and Cambridge City Council in respect of payment of rates. 

 
During the year, none of the Board Members, members of the key management staff or parties related to 
them have undertaken any material transactions with the Trust. 

 



 

  

Page 42 

 
 
Accounts year ended 31 March 2016 
 

 

18 Related party transactions

18.1 Related party transactions

Year ended Year ended

2015/16 2015/16

Revenue Expenditure

£000 £000

Department of Health 41,386               (5)                      

Other NHS bodies 614,507             23,669               

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 31,416               47,961               

Other Government bodies 3,826                 66,213               

Total value of transactions with related parties in 2015/16 691,135             137,838             

Year ended Year ended

2014/15 2014/15

Revenue Expenditure

£000 £000

Department of Health 46,376               69                      

Other NHS bodies 649,847             21,377               

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 3,822                 10,813               

Other Government bodies 8,105                 93,536               

Total value of transactions with related parties in 2014/15 708,150             125,795             

Note 18.2 Related party balances

Year ended Year ended

2015/16 2015/16

Receivables Payables 

£000 £000

Department of Health 1,461                 440                    

Other NHS bodies 33,155               7,997                 

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 2,295                 6,775                 

Other Government bodies 8,606                 14,382               
Total balances with related parties at 31 March 2016 45,517               29,594               

Year ended Year ended

2014/15 2014/15

Receivables Payables 

£000 £000

Department of Health 6,101                 467                    

Other NHS bodies 25,721               6,306                 

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 4,577                 4,116                 

Other Government bodies 5,635                 30,763               

Total balances with related parties at 31 March 2015 42,034               41,652               

19. Contractual capital commitments

Year ended Year ended

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 8,123                 7,230                 
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20. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) scheme 

The PFI scheme is to design, build, maintain and operate (through facilities management and related 

services) a 128 bed Elective Care, Genetics and Diabetes Centre at the Trust.  The centre became 

operational in April 2007. The contract start date of the PFI scheme was 13 February 2007 and the end 

date is 12 February 2037. 

The facilities within the centre include Diabetes Research Facilities which are utilised by the University of 

Cambridge.  These facilities are funded by the University of Cambridge and the Medical Research Council 

and have no effect on the Trust’s cost structures. 

The contract requires the Trust to make a unitary payment that totals £9.0m annually.  It is charged 

monthly and adjusted for any penalties relating to adverse performance against output measures 

describing all relevant aspects of the contract.  The Trust has a voluntary break option subject to 12 

months’ written notice.  

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000 

Gross PFI, LIFT or other service concession liabilities of which liabilities are due

In one year or less 1,964                 1,862                 

In more than one year but not more than two years 1,997                 1,964                 

In more than two years but not more than five years 5,413                 5,745                 

In more than five years 43,767               45,432               

53,141               55,003               

In one year or less 1,964                 1,862                 

In more than one year but not more than two years 1,997                 1,964                 

In more than two years but not more than five years 5,413                 5,745                 

In more than five years 43,767               45,432               

53,141               55,003               

Net PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangement obligation of which liabilities are due

20.1 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangement obligations (finance lease 

element)

20.2 Total On-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other service concession arrangement commitments

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000 

In one year or less 9,128                 9,012                 

In more than one year but not more than two years 9,356                 9,238                 

In more than two years but not more than five years 29,497               29,122               

In more than five years 198,272             210,846             

246,253             258,218             

Total future payments committed in respect of PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements

Under IFRS the £9.0m unitary charge is apportioned between the repayment of the liability, financing 

costs and the charges for services. The service charge is recognised in operating expenses under 

“Premises” and the finance costs are charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income.  
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20.3 Analysis of amounts payable to service concession operator

2015/16 2014/15

£000 £000 

Unitary payment payable to service concession operator consisting of:

- Interest charge 2,891                 2,990                 

- Repayment of finance lease liability 1,862                 1,865                 

- Service element 2,049                 2,027                 

- Capital lifecycle maintenance 680                    544                    

- Contingent rent 1,530                 1,499                 

Total amount paid to service concession operator 9,012                 8,925                 

The Trust has not entered into any ‘off-Statement of Financial Position’ arrangements. 

21. Financial Instruments

21.1 Financial assets by category

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Loans and 

receivables

Loans and 

receivables

£000 £000 

Assets as per SoFP

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 53,999               59,527               

Cash and cash equivalents 13,874               35,953               

Total 67,873               95,480               

21.2 Financial liabilities by category

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

Other financial 

liabilities

Other financial 

liabilities

£000 £000 

Liabilities as per SoFP

Borrowings excluding finance lease and PFI liabilities 147,457             102,034             

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts 53,141               55,003               

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 96,479               91,469               

Provisions under contract 6,212                 3,710                 

Total 303,289             252,216             

21.3 Maturity of financial liabilities

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2015

£000 £000 

In one year or less 108,211             100,938             

In more than one year but not more than two years 9,601                 11,073               

In more than two years but not more than five years 79,358               27,440               

In more than five years 106,119             112,765             

Total 303,289             252,216             
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21.4 Fair values of non-current financial liabilities as 31 March 2016

Book value Fair value 

£000 £000 

Provisions under contract 3,842                 3,842                 

Loans from Department of Health 140,059             140,059             

PFI 51,177               51,177               

195,078             195,078             

22. Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments (approved cases only)

2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2014/15

Total number of 

cases

Total value of 

cases

Total number of 

cases

Total value of 

cases

Number £000's Number £000's

Losses of cash due to

Overpayment of salaries etc. 7                        12                      1                        20                      

Bad debts and claims abandoned in relation to

Private patients 2                        18                      -                     -                     

Overseas visitors 18                      599                    13                      247                    

Other 2                        3                        1                        13                      

Total losses 29                      632                    15                      280                    

Special Payments, Ex gratia payments in respect of

Loss of personal effects 167                    46                      172                    45                      

Personal injury with advice 12                      227                    25                      132                    

179                    273                    197                    177                    
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